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DREEHR

AUDITOR
Moore CPA Limited
PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Nanyang Commercial Bank, Ltd.

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

The Bank of East Asia Limited

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS

Suntera (Cayman) Limited

Suite 3204, Unit 2A, Block 3, Building D
P.0. Box 1586, Gardenia Court

Camana Bay

Grand Cayman, KY1-1100

Cayman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
IN HONG KONG

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.0. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Rooms 2501-2509, 25/F
Shui On Centre

6—8 Harbour Road, Wanchai
Hong Kong

WEBSITE

www.acesogrouphk.com

% BB
REFHERHMEHRERAF
EERERRT

LBBRBTAERRAA]
FE LBELRITARRAA]
MABRBITARAA
FERTT (BE) BRAA]
RERITAR AR

FEdFSEERHBFRELE

Suntera (Cayman) Limited

Suite 3204, Unit 2A, Block 3, Building D
P.0. Box 1586, Gardenia Court

Camana Bay

Grand Cayman, KY1-1100

Cayman Islands

FEREMBFERSE

EBPRELELBERAT
&5

BT 218 KB 18355

/El\ ﬂ?l] EFI II:,\177F§

1712-17165%5 48

&E i == R

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.0. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

EREEETXMME
B8 2 386-85%

I 22 D
25122501-2509%

H

www.acesogrouphk.com

TTONFE/_RFFR FHREGHEEEARLAA



DIRECTOR’S STATEMENT
EFHEE

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the Director's Statement of Aceso
Life Science Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year”).

Throughout the Year, the global and local economic conditions remained
highly uncertain. While the Group’s core business—construction machinery
rental—primarily serves the Hong Kong market, the city’s outward-facing
financial structure has rendered it susceptible to broader economic challenges.
Additionally, demand for construction equipment is closely linked to the
scale and timeline of infrastructure projects. A slowdown in new large-scale
developments, coupled with the completion of several major projects, has
inevitably impacted revenue generation.

During the Year, revenue from rental and sales of machinery declined by 18.5%,
mainly due to the completion of several significant infrastructure undertakings
in prior years, including the Hong Kong International Airport’s third runway
and the Tseung Kwan O—Lam Tin Tunnel. Additionally, the government’s fiscal
deficit in recent years—expected to persist—has led to more prudent infrastructure
investments, further reducing the utilization rate of the Group’s machinery and
subsequently affecting rental income.

The competitive landscape also presents ongoing challenges, with alternative
suppliers offering lower-cost machinery with comparable functionality. In an
increasingly cautious economic environment, customers continue to prioritize
cost-effectiveness when selecting equipment, with price considerations often
outweighing traditional supplier preferences. Despite these industry headwinds,
the Group remains committed to operational resilience, strategic adaptability, and
long-term sustainable growth.

On 16 April 2025, the Group received a letter of reservation of rights and a
demand letter (both dated 15 April 2025) from the agents of lenders with an
aggregate outstanding principal amount of approximately GBP79 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$800 million) (the “UK Loan”) as a result of
default in repayment in full on the maturity date of 14 April 2025. The UK Loan
is secured by the Group’s investment properties located in London, the United
Kingdom, with a fair value of approximately HK$1,059 million as at 31 March
2025. The Group has explored with different potential sizeable and reputable
international lenders to replace the UK Loan. Certain preliminary term sheets
have been obtained by the Company as at the date of this report.
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DIRECTOR’S STATEMENT
EERES

On 12 May 2025, the subsidiary of the Company, Hao Tian International
Construction Investment Group Limited (“HTICI"), has completed the placing of
125,000,000 shares. As a result of the placing of shares, the shareholding of the
Company in HTICI has been diluted from 29.05% to 28.58% and the dilution of
shareholding interest in HTICI of the Company constituted a deemed disposal
transaction of the Company (the “Deemed Disposal”) under Rule 14.29 of the
Listing Rules. Immediately upon completion of the Deemed Disposal, taking
into account, inter alia, the Group’s absolute size of shareholdings in HTICI, the
relative size, dispersion and intention of attending upcoming general meetings
of other shareholders of HTICI, HTICI has ceased to be a subsidiary of the
Company.

The property leasing business will remain as the major business of the Company
in the coming year.

Despite ongoing uncertainties in the global economy, the Group’s property
leasing segment has remained relatively resilient to economic fluctuations. Most
existing tenants of the Group’s commercial property in the United Kingdom have
entered into long-term lease agreements in prior years, with the majority set to
expire in 2027 and 2028. As a result, rental income of the Group for the Year
remained stable as compared to the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Previous
Year”).

Looking ahead, our management team will closely monitor the market trends
and remain agile in exploring potential investments in industries beyond our
current scope. Diversification remains a key strategy to mitigate risk and enhance
business resilience.

| would like to express my sincere gratitude to our directors and employees for
their unwavering dedication and invaluable contributions. Looking ahead, we will
continue to drive sustainable growth, and deliver lasting value to our clients and
shareholders.

Dr. Zhiliang Ou
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TSR R

BUSINESS REVIEW
Market and Business Overview

During the Year, fluctuations in both the global and local economies continued to
impact the Group'’s financial performance.

Globally, the monetary policies of the United States (“US”) have sustained
elevated capital costs, contributing to substantial economic uncertainty.
Furthermore, the recent US political policies has intensified geopolitical tensions
and driven a resurgence in deglobalization trends. The proposed tariff policies
of current US government have heightened market uncertainties, particularly in
areas such as inflation, capital costs, and investment risks. As a result, many
investors and corporations have adopted a more cautious approach, scaling back
development and expansion plans, which in turn has contributed to a slowdown
in global economic growth, including that of the Group’s business operations.

Despite ongoing uncertainties in the global economy, the Group’s property
leasing segment has remained relatively resilient to economic fluctuations.
Most of the existing tenants of the Group’s commercial property in the UK have
previously entered into long-term lease agreement, with the majority set to expire
in 2027 and 2028. As a result, rental income for the Year remained stable as
compared to the Previous Year.

The Group’s business in rental and sales of machinery and spare parts continued
to be significantly impacted by Hong Kong’s financial climate. The Hong Kong
government’s forecast consolidated deficit for the fiscal years 2024/25 and
2025/26 was projected to be $87.2 billion and $67.0 billion respectively. This
deficit is expected to persist for at least the next few years, posing ongoing fiscal
challenges for the Hong Kong government. As a result, financial constraints
may limit large-scale infrastructure investments, leading to a decline in project
development. This deceleration directly affects the demand for the Group’s
machinery rental services, thereby impacting a key revenue stream.

Nevertheless, the Group remains committed to navigating these economic
challenges by implementing strategic measures to enhance operational efficiency
and maintain financial resilience.

During the Year, the Group’s principal activities included:

Rental and sales of construction machinery and spare parts

Provision of repair and maintenance and transportation services

Money lending services

Provision of asset management, securities brokerage and other financial
Services

Property leasing

o Property development
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

Rental and sales of construction machinery and spare parts

The Group offers a diverse range of construction machinery through its rental
fleet, including crawler cranes of various capacities, mobile cranes, aerial
platforms, and foundation equipment. Construction machinery is sourced mainly
from Japan, with some being sourced from Europe and China.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group operated a rental fleet of approximately 178
units of construction machinery. To ensure a diverse and up-to-date inventory,
the Group periodically reviews and refreshes its equipment portfolio. The
Board remains committed to overseeing daily operations and conducts regular
assessments of fleet strategy and funding requirements. Adjustments to the fleet
enhancement strategy may be made as necessary, taking into account operational
demands, customer preferences, and prevailing market conditions. Additionally,
the Group provides spare parts to support customers’ maintenance needs or
upon specific request.

Revenue from rental and sales of construction machinery and spare parts for
the Year declined by approximately 18.5% compared to the Previous Year. The
decrease was primarily due to reduction in the number of new infrastructure
projects initiated during the Year relative to the prior years, following the
completion of a number of major infrastructure developments in recent years
without supplemented with new and substantial projects.

Provision of asset management, securities brokerage and other
financial services

The Group provides a comprehensive range of financial services and holds
licenses for conducting Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on
securities) and Type 9 (asset management) requlated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SF0”).

During the Year, the Group’s financial services business includes provision of
asset management, securities brokerage, and other financial services, which
generated revenue of approximately HK$10 million (2024: approximately HK$7
million), accounting for approximately 5.1% (2024: approximately 3.1%) of the
Group’s total revenue. Segment profit recognised for the Year was approximately
HK$9 million (2024: approximately HK$5 million). The increase in revenue
was primarily driven by the growth in transaction volume and the value with
the securities brokerage segment resulting from the Hong Kong's stock market
becoming more active in the Year comparing to the Previous Year.

As part of the preparation of financial statements for the Year, the Company
reviewed the recoverable amounts of the trading right associated with its Type
1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities as defined under the SFO. Following this
assessment, no impairment loss was recognised (2024: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENMROMN

Money lending services

The Group holds money lender licenses under the Money Lenders Ordinance
in Hong Kong and the money lending business is conducted through its
subsidiaries, which grant loans to individuals and enterprises in Hong Kong.
The Group strived to adhere to a set of comprehensive policies and procedural
manuals in respect of loan approval, loan renewal, loan recovery, loan
compliance, monitoring and anti-money laundering.

(a) The size and diversity and sources of its clients, and source of
funding of the money lending business

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had loans receivable with carrying
amount of approximately HK$41 million (2024: approximately HK$47
million), of which, approximately HK$28 million (2024: approximately
HK$47 million) was derived from money lending business. A total of
approximately HK$9 million of the loan receivables and interest income
receivables was received from borrowers during the Year (2024: HK$5
million). During the Year, the Group granted one loan to an independent
third party with carrying amounts of approximately HK$13 million (2024:
nil).

As at 31 March 2025, there were a total of 13 borrowers (comprising
11 individuals and 2 corporations) under the Company’s loan portfolio.
The Company provides its mortgage financing service to individual and
corporate clients of different backgrounds, including home owners and
investment holding company, who are referred to it by sales executives.
The money lending business was funded by the internal resources of the
Group.

As at 31 March 2025, 11 loans with aggregate amount of approximately
HK$28 million were overdue, 9 loans were supported by personal
guarantee and/or secured by collaterals, with interest rate ranging from
8% to 16% per annum. A total of 10 cases with aggregate amount of
approximately HK$28 million were under legal proceedings (including
assets under public auctions).

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount outstanding from the five
largest borrowers of the Group was approximately HK$38 million
(representing approximately 93% of the total loans receivable of the
Group) while the carrying amount outstanding from the largest borrower
amounted to approximately HK$20 million (representing approximately
49% of the total loans receivable of the Group).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEBENRR DN
(b) Credit risk assessment policy

The Group has performed background and credit risk assessment on the
potential borrowers before granting the loans by (a) conducting search on
their identity and background; (b) reviewing and assessing their financial
information; and (c) performing an assessment on their creditability.

The Group has adopted a credit policy to manage its money lending
business which includes compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations, credit assessment on potential borrower and his/its assets,
the credibility of the potential borrower, the necessity in obtaining
collaterals and determination of suitable interest rate to reflect the risk
level of the provision of loan.

The Company’s money lending business offers both secured and
unsecured loans to borrowers comprising individuals and corporations.
The Company has adopted a credit risk policy and put in place loan
approval procedures to manage its money lending business which
includes compliance with all applicable laws and regulations, credit
assessment on potential borrower and his/its assets, the credibility of the
potential borrower, the necessity in obtaining collaterals, assessment of
the use of proceeds and the source of repayment. Details of such policy
and procedures are all consolidated in an Internal Control Manual which
governs the operations of our money lending business and relevant staff
are required to abide by in conducting their behaviours and delivering
their target performance. In granting loans to clients, documents such as
loan application, proof of identity, employer/income verification, proof
of address and any relevant credit reports of potential borrowers. The
scope of money lending services provided by the money lending business
generally includes personal loans and business loans for general working
capital. The Company tries to diversify the loan portfolio by providing to
different borrowers to lower the concentration risk. The Company does not
have preference for specific types of borrowers for loan acceptance (e.g.
job/business nature of borrower). The credit risk assessment was made
on a case-by-case basis and the Company generally looks at the "5 Cs" in
the assessment of credit risk of the borrowers, i.e. credit history, capacity
to repay, capital, the loan's condition and associated collaterals. These
include but are not limited to reviewing the financials of the borrowers,
considering the borrower’s repayment history and evaluating whether the
borrowers are in bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation. Within a loan
category, the interest rates, the duration of the loan and repayment terms
of the loan vary and is determined by various factors such as background
and credibility of borrowers, their business plans and present and
projected operation performance, the collaterals or security to be made
available by these borrowers, and their repayment track records (if the loan
is sought by existing borrowers or former borrowers). The determination
of the loan terms reflects the risk level of the provision of loan and ensure
the risk is at a controllable level.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENwR DN
(c) Key internal controls

10

The Group also assesses and decides the necessity and the value of
security/collaterals for granting of each loan, whether to an individual or
enterprise, on a case by case basis taking into account various factors,
including but are not limited to, the repayment history, results of public
search towards the borrower, the value and location of the assets owned
by the borrower and the financial condition of the borrower.

For credit approval before granting loans to potential borrowers, the
Company performs credit assessment to assess the potential borrowers’
credit quality individually, such as their identity and background,
assessment on their creditability and financial background of (factors
such as background and credibility of borrowers, their business plans and
present and projected operation performance, the collateral security to be
made available by these borrowers, and their repayment track records (if
the loan is sought by existing clients) are considered), as well as the value
and characteristics of the collaterals to be pledged. The loan proposals
will be prepared by the designated loan officer and reviewed by the risk
management department of the money lending business on case specific
issues in relation to the factors described above to determine if they have
been thoroughly considered. Risk management department of money
lending business will discuss each case in details with loan officer to fine
tune its loan proposal and risk management department will make official
comments on the submission draft. The loan proposal together with the
comments from risk management department will then be sent to the
approver(s), who are Director(s) designated with such role and function
for approval through physical mestings or emails. Approver(s) may also
comment, add pre-conditions and improve the terms and conditions
during this process. The relevant department head(s) and approver(s) will
sign off the proposals once approval is obtained for proper record.
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(d)

The Company has designated loan officer to closely monitor its loan
portfolio, including regular communication with the borrowers on
their financial position together with other measures such as monthly
assessment of valuation of collaterals (if any), repayment track record
of borrower(s), change of profile of borrower(s) (such as change of
employment and if there is additional liabilities on the part of the
borrower(s)), through which the Company will be able to keep updated
with the latest credit profile and risk associated with each individual
borrower and could take appropriate actions for recovery of a loan at the
earliest time. Further, risk management department of the money lending
business, which comprised of officers with background in finance,
auditing and experience in money lending business, will review the
risk level of each of the loans on a daily basis and report to the senior
management, including, chief executive officer, the financial controller
and the Board and in some cases, regularly on their recommendation.
From time to time, the risk management department of the money lending
business will alert the senior management on certain events (e.g. defaulted
repayment) and advise the Company to take appropriate actions. The
accounts department of the money lending business will also keep track of
the repayment schedule constantly and make alerts to senior management,
the financial controller and chief executive officer in case of failed or late
repayment.

Recoverability and collection

At the end of each month, the designated loan officer will check if there is
any overdue balances or late payment and risk management department
as described above and will perform an independent review on the
loans portfolio and closely monitor the status and report to the senior
management. Usually there would be internal discussions on a case-by-
case basis on what recovery actions are to be taken so that the Company
could recover as soon as and as much as possible in a timely manner.
Various potential means like phones calls, seizure of collaterals, statutory
demand letter and further legal actions would be discussed. Reminder
letter and statutory demand will be issued to the borrower when considered
appropriate if there is an overdue repayment. Where appropriate, legal
action will be initiated against the borrower for the recovery of the amount
due and taking possession of the collaterals pledged. Actions in seizure
of collaterals and realization of underlying collaterals would also be taken
if necessary. Where appropriate, the Company will also petition to the
court for bankruptcy/winding-up of the borrower and/or guarantor. Again,
the recovery and collection decisions and processes are included in the
monthly risk management report to the senior management.

(d)
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(e)

12

The director who operates and oversees the money lending business
has extensive experiences and knowledge in the industry. The risk
management department of the money lending business has a senior
financial manager who holds a bachelor’s degree in business and an
associated degree in psychology, and has more than 15 years’ experiences
in the money lending industry. Each of the Company’s management team,
which includes the chief executive officer, the chief financial officer and
the financial controller and the company secretary, possesses over 10
years of experiences in the corporate and banking industry and the field
of accounting and auditing. Further, most of the Board members also
POSSEss extensive experiences in corporate financing, investments and
banking and financial advisory services.

Compliance with Chapter 14 and/or 14A of Rules Governing
the Listing of securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and Money Lenders Ordinance

Our Group is required to, and has at all times, strictly comply with all
relevant laws and regulations. The Company has complied with those
requirements as set out in Chapter 14 and/or 14A of the Listing Rules
when it granted or extended the loans to each of the respective borrower
whose loan was still outstanding as at 31 March 2025.

In addition to the Listing Rules, the Money Lenders Ordinance is the
major governance on our Group’s money lending business in Hong
Kong. During the Year, we did not receive any objection from and was not
investigated by the Registrar of Money Lenders (currently performed by
the Registrar of Companies) nor the Commissioner of Police regarding the
renewal of the money lenders license.

Aceso Life Science Group Limited  Annual Report 2024/25

(e)

RENEENERBNETEZTERE
EENKHRMAE - HEXHHRAR
EENMRA -2 AN BEE R/
BRAXELEMNORER 2+ 84
ERETERABEBTAENKR - X
RAMEREK  BREFHNTE &
FMEE R BEEEAR R WE
fIpk B AR bR RIRITE R 7 RBEF
BEBERE T FONER M KEH
EFeRBELERE KRE RIK
TREARBETECLEFSENLR -

BTFEENSXHMARLF EHF LT
MAI(TEHHRA ) BUER HUAER
BEAEHBRE

S BZA R I 2 AR By P R A & =T PR
BREBZERIER - ARBIAE 2 AR
ERANHEFR T _AF=A=+—
BIEAER) RESAERERE B8
ST EMRANFUER,HAZPIEIRE -

B R RIS - R S 2
RIS EBIHEAGHIBE - NAEE -
1100 5 58 40 48 AR 1B A B PR 8 L A
EAEMEER (B2 A EERHR
£) REBRERRE 2 EARHHER
B -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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(f)  Amount of loan receivables secured by pledge of collaterals (f) LHEHRNEREEENEREREHE
and guarantees, and nature of the collaterals DRERZHER
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
k- el §- 3 —ZTZOF
=R=+—H =A=+—H
HK$’million HK$'million
BEET BEETT
Hong Kong money lending business BEBNEED
— Secured only by corporate notes, sharesand ~ —{ELAERE - REMEEE
properties R 28 30
— Secured only by corporate notes, receivable ~ — (AR ZE - BUGKIEFE
and properties and personal guarantees EREAERERER = 17
28 47
() Maturity profile of loan receivables () MEMERBOIIRER
31 IVIarch 2025 31 I\/Iarch 2024
k- el §- 3 —ZTF
=A=+—H =A=+—H
HK$’million HK$'million
BEET BEBTT
Hong Kong money lending business BEBNEEB
Overdue 2 2 H 28 47
28 47
(h) Mortgage loan and personal loan interest rate (h)y PEERERPERNE

The mortgage loan interest rate ranges from 8% to 15% per annum (2024:
8% to 15% per annum). The personal loan interest rate ranges from 10%
to 16% per annum (2024: 11% to 16% per annum).

MEBEFOE RN E ZBRE1%(=F
— M4 8%E15%) © EAERFEM KK
10%ZE16% (= Z 04 : 11%=16%) °
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(i)

14

Reasons for the movements in impairment provisions in the year

The provision of impairment recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit and loss for the Year was approximately HK$10 million (2024:
provision of approximately HK$88 million). The provision of impairment
was due to the loans of approximately HK$229 million being overdue.

The Company adopted the requirements in respect of ECL assessment set
forth in the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRS") issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA")
in determining the impairment loss allowance for its loan receivables.
The details of the accounting policies in respect of the impairment
assessment of financial assets are set out in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in the annual report. The Company has taken
into account the following factors on the impairment assessment for the
outstanding loans and unlisted debt securities due from the connected
parties and independent third parties in accordance with the HKFRS 9:
(i) the probability of default and the likelihood that the borrowers may
fail to repay the loans. The Company will perform due diligence on the
financial statements and consider the macro-environment and the latest
announcements of the borrowers. The repayment history of the borrowers
will also be taken into account; (ii) the loss given default and the expected
cash shortfall between the cash flows due to the Company in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive.
The Gompany will consider the value of the collaterals pledged for the
loans, if any; and (iii) forward-looking market data such as gross domestic
product will also impact on the recoverability of the loans. The Company
regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

As at 31 March 2025, the management had engaged an independent
qualified valuer to determine the expected credit losses of the Group’s
loans receivable (the “Loans Receivable ECL”). In assessing the Loans
Receivable ECL of the Group, a credit rating analysis of the underlying
debtors was adopted by reviewing the historical accounting information
to estimate the default risk. The Group applied different expected loss
rates to different classes of receivables according to their respective
risk characteristics. In determining the default risk, factors including
but not limited to, the ageing analysis of the receivables, the Group’s
internal assessment of the debtors’ creditworthiness, historical and
forecast occurrence of event of default, existence and valuation of the
collaterals, the relevant regulatory framework and government policies
in Hong Kong and global economic outlook in general and the specific
economic condition of Hong Kong would be considered. The rate of Loans
Receivable ECL ranged from 39% to 100% depending on the nature (2024:
34% to 100%), probability of default and loss of the loans receivable.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

Securities investment business

The Group had various securities in its investment portfolio such as listed equity
securities, unlisted equity securities, unlisted funds, unlisted debts, etc. A fair
value loss of approximately HK$29 million was recorded during the Year (2024
approximately HK$242 million).

Property leasing business

During the Year, the rental income derived from the self-owned commercial
property at 55 Mark Lane, London, the United Kingdom contributed revenue of
approximately HK$50 million (2024: approximately HK$54 million) and the fair
value loss on investment property was approximately HK$419 million (2024: fair
value loss of approximately HK$89 million) resulting from the decline in market
value of the property during the Year.

Property development business

The Group has property development projects in Cambodia and Malaysia. In
Cambodia, the Council of Ministers approved the project company to establish a
special economic zone with a site area of 17,252,519 square meters at Koh Kong
Province, Cambodia. The project company shall have the sole and exclusive
right to develop the special economic zone with all the necessary land use rights,
including those for residential, industrial and commercial development purposes.
The project was still in its preliminary stage during the Year.

The Group has another property development project in Malaysia. The project is
a residential and commercial mixed property development project located at Port
Dickson, Negeri Sembilan, Malaysia with a site area of 267,500 square meters (or
2,879,343 square feet). The property is held for a lease term of 99 years expiring
on 8 February 2097 for residential and commercial building uses. The project
was still in its preliminary stage during the Year.

BEFRERYE
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group had incurred a loss of approximately HK$1,017 million for the Year
(2024: approximately HK$809 million). Such loss was mainly attributable to
the fair value loss on investment properties of approximately HK$419 million
(2024: approximately HK$89 million), the net fair value losses in financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$29 million (2024:
approximately HK$242 million), provision for impairment loss on financial assets
(expected credit losses) of approximately HK$142 million (2024: approximately
HK$74 million), share of losses of associates at approximately HK$94 million
(2024: approximately HK$325 million), provision for impairment loss on
intangible assets of approximately HK$167 million (2024 nil) and finance cost of
approximately HK$125 million (2024: approximately HK$141 million).

Revenue

During the Year, the total revenue was approximately HK$195 million (2024:
approximately HK$228 million), representing a decrease by approximately HK$33
million, or approximately 14.5%. Such decrease was mainly attributable to the
decrease in revenue generated from rental and sales of construction machinery
and spare parts.

Sales of construction machinery and spare parts, rental income
from construction machinery and repair and maintenance and
transportation service income

During the Year, the sales of construction machinery and spare parts, rental
income generated from construction machinery and income from provision of
repair and maintenance and transportation services were approximately HK$22
million (2024: approximately HK$21 million), approximately HK$106 million
(2024: approximately HK$136 million) and approximately HK$6 million (2024:
approximately HK$6 million), respectively. The decrease in rental income was
mainly attributable to the declined in machinery occupancy rate to 70% (2024:
85%) as some major construction sites (e.g. Hong Kong International Airport 3rd
runway and Tseung Kwan O — Lam Tin Tunnel) have been completed in recent
years without supplemented with new and substantial infrastructure project.

Money lending services, asset management, securities brokerage
and other financial services

During the Year, the revenue from money lending services, asset management,
securities brokerage, and other financial services were approximately HK$11
million (2024: approximately HK$ 11 million).

16  Aceso Life Science Group Limited  Annual Report 2024/25

B4 %501 BR

RAFE - AEBEELEBEBRMNTEEET (=
T_M4F - AB9EEET) - BHEETIER
J‘Eé&iéf%%ZQBFTEJ%%E%’WQE%%fE(:;ﬁ
—HER8IEEETT) UAFEFERH
“kﬁ)\%@ﬁﬁZimﬁlﬁFZ N PEERFER
MOBEEBT (T _F Q2B &BTT)
TRMEEZRERR (%Eﬁﬁﬁfﬂ%%@)ﬁéﬁi’]
128 8B TT (20245 - WT4ABAE L) 21

EBRBRBENUBEET (T _MF: %’9325
BEETL)  BREEZREBBRBENE
BRET(CT_MOF 8 RBEKKNIZDAE

BET(CZ M OHNBEET) A -
L O N
RAFE - BRALDB/IBEEET(ZZT M

FARBEEAETT)  RAPHNBAEEBTHL
145% - BRABM D EEZRN KB REEMEE
REHHESEWAR D FTE

BERMRMASHNE BRBWNES
ZHESWA - SR &=L R E®HRBEY
A

BA$¢V EEBBMERTHZHER &
ERMELZZHSBA BERREANE
BIREWADRIK2AEET (ZFT - MF -
WABEET)  AEET(ZT_NF
#6EEETL) RKGBEEEITL(Z T _MF :

wea&EETT) - HE WAL ‘IKJ?IQE%%
WERAEXTH®REI%(ZZEZMF - 85%) * &

RERTRER (PINEE R
MEER-ERBBETIRE) Eﬁﬁi*ﬁﬁ%ml
MARGHIERAREEEHB MR

* E/r/v—

aEE]

HERY HETH BESFELCRHAM R
BR %5

RAFE WE EEEE BFE&LMEM
TRRBEBRAONBERBT (T _OF 4
ME&BT)
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Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or DAFEELREILHARE(TRAE
loss (“FVTPL”), net ExfEARE{HARB I cEMEEZ
LFERRBEH
The details of the Group’s securities investments and the net fair value losses RAFE  AEBE 2 EFHFRERCHERAF
recognised for the Year are set out as follows: BEEBEFEFBHINET -
Percentage of
Numberof -~ Percentage of Number o~ Percentage of Fairvalue ~total assets of

sharesheld  shargholdings ~ sharesheld  sharghldings Fair valug Fairvalug  (losses)gains for ~ the Group at 31
at 31 March 2024 at 31 March 2024 at 31 March 2025 at 31 March 2025 at 31 March 2024 at 31 March 2025 the Year w_Mgcﬂ%lg
R-ERE KSESHE KBRS WCBCEE RCECME MSBCEE MAEEZ ZRI1-R
ZR=t-B ZRA=t-A ZR=+-B =R=t-B ZR=t-A ZA=+-H ATE  hEREEE
FRROKE <REERY GREAHE CBREAM CAFE ZATE (BR)/ME BECEMM

(Notes) (noted)  HKSmilion  HKSmillon  HKSmillion
(&) (Wiz1)  EE¥T  EEET 0 BEER
NameStock Code) 25/ (RORE)
Standong Hi-Spesd Holdngs by LIS EREEERAA 3000 000% 3,00 000% - - - -
i 4) )
Inperl Pafic Wimationd Hokgs— BEAFRERARER 25100000 191% - - 13 - (1) -
Limied (1076) 2s[10rg)
Vil Mind Holding CompanyLimited.~—~~ REBHERRE R 2 711520) ! 263,994,000 1311% 7099500 105%% 3 3 (3] 0.96%
(1420)
Weatink Al movefon Capia Limied.~~ EREERRARAA 3 29,880,000 0.28% 29,080,000 0.28% 4 l {2 0.06%
(114) (1140)
inenv Group Holding Limited (397) ﬁ%@?“ﬁxﬁﬁﬁx ( ) 8,000,000 0.32% 8,000,000 0.32% 1 1 - 0.03%
HGSem\con it \mned[ﬁ ) TEHEER D60 1500000 = - - i - 2 -
Aia gy Logistes Goup Lmed (351) W& R umlﬁ o 30650000 1530 30,650,000 153% § 3 (3] 0.09%
(5)
T Group Hodng Limed (2187) B REEERERAT 15,186,000 205% - - 15 - ] -
(2
TG Secres Compny Lined 6030) - P EAERBABER R - - - - - - { -
(6030)
Fufure DataGroup Limfed (8229) FREEEEARD 5 - - 1230000 2% = 5 i) 0.15%
)
SennHorgunGop CoLOR0S) BB REEROARA - = s - - s @ -
ﬂ(ﬁﬁﬂ)
Phamaron Bejng Co, Lt 375) REILH kR 2RI - - - - - - 0 =
H%/ BRAE (3750)
INET Group Inc (NASDAC VNET) T Group I (NASDAQ: 330,000 022% - - 4 - l -
INET)
Al il E e E E - . (2) :
Finane Lease estment SP Finence Lease vestment SP NTER NATER NATER N &R 3 3 - 100%
Conerblnoe recehatl ERTAREE NWRER  NMREE NMREE NWRBR 4 5 - 015%
1y ) 0 8%
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Notes:

18

The percentage of shareholdings is calculated with reference to the monthly
return of equity issuer on movements in securities for the month ended 31
March 2025 of the issuers publicly available on the website of the Stock
Exchange.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited (“Virtual Mind”) and its subsidiaries
(“Virtual Mind Group”) were principally engaged in the design, manufacturing
and trading of apparels, provision of money lending services and sale of
trendy and cultural products.

Pursuant to Virtual Mind Group’s annual report for the year ended 31
December 2024, Virtual Mind Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$130 million and total comprehensive expense of approximately HK$79
million.

The Group held approximately 284 million and 71 million shares of Virtual
Mind as at 31 March 2024 and 2025 respectively.

Wealthink Al-Innovation Capital Limited (“Wealthink”) and its subsidiaries
(“Wealthink Group”) has a principal investment objective to achieve earnings
in the form of medium to long term capital appreciation through investing in a
diversified portfolio of global investments in listed and unlisted enterprises.

Pursuant to the interim report of Wealthink Group for the six months ended 30
September 2024, Wealthink Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$250
million and total comprehensive income of approximately HK$97 million.

The Group held approximately 30 million shares of Wealthink as at 31 March
2024 and 2025.

Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited (“Asia Energy”) and its subsidiaries (“Asia
Energy Group”) were principally engaged in the (i) shipping and logistics
business and (ii) telecommunications related business.

Pursuant to Asia Energy Group’s annual report for the year ended 31
December 2024, Asia Energy Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$48
million and total comprehensive expense of approximately HK$31 million.

The Group held approximately 31 million shares of Asia Energy as at 31
March 2024 and 2025.
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B Future Data Group Limited (“Future Data”) and its subsidiaries (“Future Data
Group”) were principally engaged in the provision of integration of systems
with network connectivity, cloud computing and security elements and
maintenance services.

Pursuant to Future Data’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2024,
Future Data Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$438 million and
total comprehensive expense of approximately HK$36 million.

The Group held nil and approximately 12 million shares of Future Data as at
31 March 2024 and 2025 respectively.

The Group had various securities in its investment portfolio such as listed equity
securities, unlisted equity securities, unlisted funds, unlisted debts, etc. A fair
value loss of approximately HK$29 million was recorded during the Year (2024:
approximately HK$242 million).

Fair value loss on investment properties

During the Year, fair value loss of approximately HK$419 million (2024:
approximately HK$89 million) was recognised for investment properties of the
Group resulting from the decline in market value of self-owned commercial
property at 55 Mark Lane, London, the United Kingdom.

Administrative expenses

During the Year, the administrative expenses were approximately HK$114 million
(2024: approximately HK$124 million), representing a decrease of approximately
8.1% as compared with the Previous Year. Among the administrative expenses
incurred during the Year, approximately HK$16 million (2024: approximately
HK$18 million) was related to depreciation and non-cash in nature; approximately
HK$48 million (2024: approximately HK$49 million) were related to staff costs.

Provision for impairment losses on intangible assets

Based on the impairment testing on intangible assets, provision for impairment
loss on intangible assets of approximately HK$167 million (2024: nil) has been
recognised in profit or loss for the Year, resulting in a decline in the forecast
revenue and profit for the business of rental and sales of construction machinery
and spare parts.

Provision for expected credit losses on financial assets

During the Year, the Group recognised provision for expected credit losses on
financial assets of approximately HK$142 million (2024: approximately HK$74
million). The Group has engaged an independent professional valuer for assessing
the allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets.

5  RARBEEBARAR(REBIE]) REM
BARI(AXBEEE]) TZRERARAR
ek EmBERBRLEENRLR
HEGEE R ERY

REARBEEBEBREZ_FT_NE+_A
St RALEREZFERSE  ARBEEKHE
BASUAKI438E B A TN 2 X B ER K36
BEET -

R-E-—_NER-_T-_RAF=-A=+—8"
AEBDRIFAETRHE R R REIER

1/\ ®

AEBNKREMAETEZEES  MEMRAE
FoFLETERAZBS -FLHES  FLEHEH
ZE-AFEBHESATEBENIBERET(ZF
TV K428 8T °

REMRZLOFEER

RAFE - AL F 5B fm 255 Mark Lanefy B
EEEVENTE IR AESEREEDE
BERATFEBEBONIAEST(Z T M4 :
HIE BHEIT) °

1T BAST

RAFE  THERAXO/N4BEET (ZF
“F: ABERTT) REFRDHAI81%
EAFEEEZITRAXES  NIEEET
(ZF_F : NIAEET) BIFERIERE
MERHE  W8EEFE T (ZTZMF : 449
BEBIL)BEINAEH -

BT W S 1R R

REBEEVEERENS AEFEMTEELE
THETVEEZREERBEFEERNIBEEPE
R(ZT_mEF &) EYRERMEERT
8 M HE R R TR U AR A E T B

EMBEEZRAMERGIREG

RAEE AEERSREECHBEES
BHERBEHORAEEET (ZT_MF : 174
BEETL) - ARBECZRBEBLEXGEMT
MeMBEELRBESBRRE -

—ToME/-EFER EHEGNEEEERAT 19



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

Share of results of associates

During the Year, the share of losses of associates of approximately HK$94
million (2024: approximately HK$325 million) was mainly attributable to the
sharing of loss of the Group's investment in Cambodia, reflecting the change in
fair value of land held by the project company of the Group in Cambodia.

Finance costs

During the Year, the finance costs were approximately HK$125 million (2024:
approximately HK$141 million), representing a decrease of approximately HK$16
million as compared with the Previous Year because of the decrease in bank and
other borrowings during the Year.

Taxation

During the Year, the net income tax credit was approximately HK$10 million
(2024 approximately HK$14 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through other DAFEHAEAHRE(AARM2EKE
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”), net (TUAFEHAEARSFARM2EK
RIIZEeMEEZLTFESGIRTEE

The details of the listed and unlisted securities investments and the net fairvalue R AFE - LRI LI TEHFERERDER
losses recognised during the Year are set out below: NEEBEFEFBHINET -

Percentage of
Percentage of Percentage of total assets
shareholdings  shareholdings Fair value Fair value Fairvalue  of the Group
at31March  at31March  at31March  at31March (losses)/gains  at 31 March

2024 2025 2024 2025 forthe Year 2025

R

—E21%

R R R R =R
“BTMmE ZBIIEF ZB-WE ZBIiE =t-B
=A = =R =R REFEz FRERE

=t-BZz =t-Bz Z=t+-Bz Z=t+-Bz NFE #EZ
RREANL BRESM NFE AFE (ER)/ k& Balt

Notes HK§'million ~ HK§'million  HK$'million
Wi OEET HEET HEET
Name 1]
Unlisted equity securities FLETRAES
Goodwill International (Holdings) Goodwill International 1 7.54% 7.54% 3 3 = 0.09%
Limited (Holdings) Limited
Co-Lead Holdings Limited Co-Lead Holdings Limited 2 1.04% 1.04% 13 6 (N 0.19%
Quan Yu Tai Investment Company PRRREFRARA 3 15.00% 15.00% 70 60 (10) 183%
Limited
China Pearl Global Limited RAPHERERLA 4 10.00% 10.00% 301 25 (46) 7.86%
Tonsin Petrochemical Investment Ltd ~— RFA(EERE 16.67% 16.67% 3% - (36) -
BRAR
Empire Victory Hong Kong Limited 0SB B BB LA 411% 41% 9 - 9) -
Imagi Jue Ming Limited EERABRAR 5 - 18.00% - 1 2 037%
Listed equity securities LHRRES 6 12% 1.25% 15 38 2 1.14%
47 313 (84) 11.48%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

Notes:

22

Goodwill International (Holdings) Limited (“Goodwill Int'l") invested in a
number of property investment projects in Hong Kong and the PRC. The
properties would be sold to market upon completion of each projects, and
investors (including Goodwill Int'l) would receive dividend.

Co-lead Holdings Limited is principally engaged in trading of securities,
provision of finance and holding of investments in financial services industry.

Quan Yu Tai Investment Company Limited holds 90% equity interest in He
Ying Tung Investments Company Limited (“He Ying Tung”). He Ying Tung,
through its various indirect wholly-owned or non-wholly owned subsidiaries,
is principally engaged in property development in the PRC. He Ying Tung
principally has 3 property projects under development located in the
municipalities of Changsha, Chenzhou and Hengyang of Hunan Province,
the PRC, mainly consisting of large-scale residential complex projects and
integrated commercial complex projects, as well as apartments, offices,
shopping arcades, cinemas and other supporting facilities.

China Pearl Global Limited (“CPG"), through its wholly owned subsidiary,
holds a shopping mall in Quanzhou, Fujian Province, the People’s Republic of
China with gross floor area of approximately 97,000 square meters (available
lease out area over 65,000 square meters) and 1,089 car parks, and it leases
out the complex to lessees and provides property management services to the
shopping mall.

Imagi Jue Ming Limited principally engages in the provision of business
information advice, corporate management advice, investment advice (other
than legal and compliance, and which required a license as specified under
legal regulation), supply chain management and social economic advice (not
including financial industry related advisory).

The investment represents equity securities of Oshidori International Holdings
Limited (“Oshidori”). The Group held 77,500,000 shares of Oshidori as at 31
March 2024 and 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

Liquidity, financial resources and capital structure

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s current assets and current liabilities were
approximately HK$530 million (31 March 2024: approximately HK$1,265
million) and HK$1,906 million (31 March 2024: approximately HK$2,214
million) respectively.

The Group has established a treasury policy with the objective of lowering cost of
funds. Therefore, funding for all its operations have been centrally reviewed and
monitored at the Group level. To manage the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in
interest rates on project, appropriate funding policies will be applied, including
the use of bank and other borrowings, corporate note payables, convertible note
payables and issue of placement shares. The management will continue its efforts
in obtaining the most privileged rates and favourable terms to the Group for its
financing.

RDER  HBEREFERBFRHR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

Gearing ratio and indebtedness HEAREEFERES

]]

The Group monitors its capital structure based on the gearing ratio. This ratic ~ ANEBEAEE B ELh R B EEE I B F K4
is calculated as net debts divided by total capital. Total capital is calculated as ~ #& o A RIRBEEFHEBAE RN QFETE - &
“equity” as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus net ~ RNAEFEIL AR A EM‘%HK/R?E YRz [#Em ] N
debts. The capital structure (including its gearing ratio) as at 31 March 2025 and B FHAE -R T -_RAF=A=+—H
31 March 2024 was as follows: RZZEZNFEF=RA=+—HWEREE (B
HEERBRER)WT :

/

31 March 2025 31 March 2024

—E"hE —ZE - puFE

=A=+—H =A=+—H

HK$’million HK$'million

BEE#ET BEBT

(audited) (audited)

(BFx) (B&EZ)

Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 1,219 1,660

Corporate note payables ERTEREE
—at amortised cost — R EE SH A AN 505 520
_J//{ i@u‘l‘iﬂﬁ;k'ﬂiu‘l‘]\?g

—at FVTPL = 551 539
Total borrowings BERE 2,275 2,719
Less: cash and cash equivalents B BEeEMREEED (132) (350)
pledged bank deposits EHEMIRITFR (7 (15)

Net debts B FHE 2,136 2,354
Total equity g ] 744 1813
Total capital BARMEER 2,880 4,167
Gearing ratio BEBERLE 74.2% 56.5%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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As at 31 March 2025, the maturity and currency profile for the Group’s bankand MR- -_RF=A=+—H KAEBHRTR

other borrowings and corporate note payables are set out as follows: HwEERENCEZBE 2 IBARERA
BHIMAT -
Within 1 year 2nd year 3-5 years Total
—FR E_F =ERF Mt
HK$’million  HK$’million  HK$’million  HK$’million
BEET BHE#ET BEET BEET
GBP g 800 = = 800
HK$ BT 914 6 4 924
1,714 6 4 1,724

As at 31 March 2025, approximately 99% of the Group’s borrowings are secured
by (1) investment properties; (2) property, plant and equipment; (3) financial
assets; and (4) bank deposits.

The borrowings with aggregate amounts of approximately HK$841 million were
carried at fixed interest rates and approximately HK$378 million were carried at
floating interest rates.

As at 31 March 2025, cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits were
denominated in the following currencies:

R-Z-_RAF=A=1+—B AEEL9%Z
fEETIANREDE : QW% - BEKEE: ()
TREBE  RABITHEREER -
BB BB ETMERREEMEETE
KABIBEEBTHEERZFBMNEGTE -

RZZE_RAF=A=1t—RH REeEkELTF
EYREERRITEFATIEEHE

HK$’million

BEEET

HK$ BT 46
GBP g 77
RMB AR 10
US$ ETT 4
JPY Hit 1
EUR BT 1
139
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

Interest rate risk

The Group’s pledged bank deposits and finance lease receivables bear fixed
interest rates. The Group’s cash at bank balances bear floating interest rates. The
Group also has borrowings, and obligation under finance leases. Exposure to
interest rate risk exists on those balances subject to floating interest rate when
there are unexpected adverse interest rate movements. The Group’s policy is to
manage its interest rate risk, working within an agreed framework, to ensure that
there are no undue exposures to significant interest rate movements and rates are
appropriately fixed when necessary.

Currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong with most of the transactions
denominated and settled in HK$, US$ and GBP. The Group’s exposure to foreign
currency risk primarily arises from certain financial instruments including trade
receivables, bank balances and cash, trade payables, borrowings and obligation
under finance leases which are denominated in US$ and EUR. The Group does
not adopt any hedging strategy in the long run but the management continuously
monitors the foreign exchange risk exposure and might enter into foreign
exchange forward contracts on a case-by-case basis. The Group has not used
any hedging contracts to engage in speculative activities.

Credit risk and liquidity risk

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach towards its
treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity position throughout the
Year. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing
credit assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To
manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position
to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements.

Risk management

The Group has established and maintained sufficient risk management
procedures to identify and control various types of risk within the organisation
and the external environment with active management participation and effective
internal control procedures in the best interest of the Group and its shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

Major post-balance sheet date events

Save as disclosed in note 43 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements of this annual report, there was no other significant or important
subsequent event that affects the business of the Group.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had no contingent liabilities.

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 123 staffs (31 March 2024: 151). The
Group generally recruits its employees from the open market or by referral and
enters into employment contracts with its employees. The Group offers attractive
remuneration packages to the employees. In addition to salaries, the employees
would be entitled to bonuses, subject to the Company’s and employees’
performance. The Group provides a defined contribution to the Mandatory
Provident Fund as required under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for the eligible employees.
The Group has also adopted a share option scheme and share award scheme.

The operation staff consists of experienced machinery operators and mechanics.
While such employees are highly demanded in the market, the Group manages to
maintain a relatively stable workforce by continuous recruitment from the market
or through referrals. New employees are required to attend induction courses to
ensure that they are equipped with the necessary skills and knowledge to perform
their duties. In order to promote the overall efficiency, the Group also offers
technical trainings to existing employees on the operation of more advanced
construction machinery from time to time. Selected operation staff are required
to attend external trainings which are conducted by the manufacturers of the
construction machines to acquire up-to-date technical skills and knowledge on
the products of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Placing of Shares under specific mandate

On 3 October 2024, HTICI and Hao Tian International Securities Limited entered
into a placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”), pursuant to which HTICI
has conditionally agreed to place an aggregate of up to 1,524,224,000 placing
shares (the “Placing Shares”) at the placing price of HK$0.4 per Placing Share (the
“Placing Price”) to not less than six placees who and whose ultimate beneficial
owners are third parties independent of the Company and its connected persons
(the “Placing”). The Placing Agreement was approved by the shareholders of
HTICI and the Company during the extraordinary general meetings of HTICI and
the Company held on 18 March 2025.

Completion has taken place on 12 May 2025, and 125,000,000 Placing Shares
in aggregate have been allotted and issued by the Company to the placees at the
Placing Price. The total nominal value of the Placing Shares allotted and issued
was HK$1,250,000. The gross proceeds raised from the Placing was HK$50
million and the net proceeds raised from the Placing (after deduction of expenses
of the Placing) was approximately HK$49.25 million. The net Placing Price, after
deducting the expenses, was approximately HK$0.39 per Placing Share.

The gross proceeds from the Placing are HK$50 million, and the net proceeds
from the Placing (after deduction of other expenses of the Placing) are
approximately HK$49.25 million. It was expected that such net proceeds from
the Placing will be utilised as to 72.66% for the development of an internet
data centre on the land owned by the Group in Malaysia, 15.68% as general
working capital and 11.66% for repayment of loans. Up to the date of this report,
approximately HK$13.5 million has been used for general working capital and
repayment of loan. The remaining of approximately HK$35.75 million remains
unused.

For details of the Placing, please refer to the announcements of HTICI dated 3

October 2024 and 12 May 2025 and the joint circular of HTICI and the Company
dated 25 February 2025.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend to the
shareholders of the Company for the Year (2024: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS DURING
THE YEAR

Deemed Disposal

On 18 March 2025, the shareholders of the Company have approved a placing
agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder (the “Placing”).
Pursuant to the placing agreement dated 3 October 2024, HTICI, an indirect non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and the placing agent entered into
the Placing Agreement, pursuant to which HTICI has conditionally agreed to
place, through the placing agent on a best efforts basis, an aggregate of up to
1,524,224,000 placing shares in HTICI at the placing price of HK$0.4 per placing
share to not less than six placees who and whose ultimate beneficial owners are
third parties independent of the Company and its connected persons.

As at 31 March 2025, the Company is a controlling shareholder (as defined under
the Listing Rules of HTICI, holding 2,213,613,259 HTICI Shares, representing
approximately 29.05% of the total issued share capital of HTICI. Assuming the
maximum number of the placing shares are fully placed (“Full Placing”) under
the Placing, the shareholding interest of the Company in HTICI will be diluted
from approximately 29.05% to approximately 24.20%, representing a decrease
of approximately 4.85%. Accordingly, such dilution of shareholding interest in
HTICI of the Company immediately after the completion of the Placing constitutes
a deemed disposal transaction of the Company (the “Deemed Disposal”) under
Rule 14.29 of the Listing Rules. Assuming Full Placing, HTICI would no longer
be a subsidiary of the Company and its financial results and financial positions
would not be consolidated in the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
The Deemed Disposal constituted a very substantial disposal of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

The Placing was completed on 12 May 2025, 125,000,000 placing shares in
HTICI have been allotted and issued to placees. The shareholding interest of the
Company in HTICI was diluted from approximately 29.05% to approximately
28.58% and thereafter HTICI is no longer a subsidiary of the Company since
then.
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Formation of Joint Venture

On 29 March 2025, HTICI entered into a joint venture agreement (the “JV
Agreement”) with Jiangsu Lettall Electronic Co., Ltd. (“Jiansu Lettall”) for the
gstablishment, operation and management of a joint venture company (the “JV
Company”), which will be owned by HTICI and Jiangsu Lettall as to 75% and
25% respectively. Pursuant to the JV Agreement, each of HTICI and Jiangsu
Lettall agreed to provide a capital commitment in the sum of RMB300,000,000
and RMB100,000,000 respectively. The JV Company will become a subsidiary of
HTICI and if HTICI remained a subsidiary of the Company, the operating results,
assets and liabilities will be consolidated in the financial statements of the Group.
Nevertheless, HTICI has ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company with effect
from 12 May 2025. The JV Agreement constituted a major transaction of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

The scope of business of the JV Company includes Al computing power leasing,
Al data empowerment service, research and development and commercial
cooperation on Al algorithm optimization and computing power technology
upgrades, trading equipments and facilities relating to Al computer power.

For further details, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 30 March
2025 and 13 May 2025.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had not made any other material acquisition
or disposal of subsidiaries and associates during the Year.

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

The year 2024/25 was marked by significant global uncertainty, driven by
ongoing political instability. These challenges adversely impacted the global
economy, affecting trade dynamics, financial markets, and interest rates,
necessitating a period of adjustment and recovery. As a result, economic
uncertainty, market volatility, and geopolitical tensions are expected to continue
affecting the global economic conditions throughout the year 2025/26.

Given Hong Kong’s outward-facing economy, both global and local factors
will shape its financial landscape. The government deficit is anticipated to
persist in the short to mid-term, impacting infrastructure investment priorities.
Consequently, infrastructure development is expected to proceed at a moderate
pace, reflecting fiscal constraints and prioritization of essential projects.

In view of these conditions, the Group’s core revenue from machinery rental is
expected to face continued pressure. Nonetheless, the Company’s management
remains proactive, closely monitoring infrastructure opportunities announced
by the Hong Kong government to identify potential business opportunities. In
addition, the Group is actively pursuing new investment opportunities, including
artificial intelligence initiatives and strategic collaborations with potential
investors, as part of its broader strategy to diversify operations and expand into
emerging markets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRDN

Following the Deemed Disposal, the machinery rental business was no longer
consolidated into the Group’s financial statements from May 2025 onwards. As a
result, the Group’s primary business focus in the coming years will be property
leasing in the United Kingdom, ensuring a stable revenue stream and long-term
sustainability. With a portfolio of long-term lease agreements, the Group remains
well-positioned to maintain operational stability and explore potential growth
opportunities within the property sector. The Group also continues endeavour
to identify mergers and acquisitions and other business opportunities and are
determined to capture the same whenever available.

Despite the challenges ahead, the Group remains committed to resilience
and sustainable growth. Through strategic adaptation, disciplined financial
management, and the pursuit of new business opportunities, the Group will
continue to strive for excellence, delivering long-term value and success to its
shareholders.

Looking forward, the Group will remain cautious and sensibly uphold its risk
management policies, strengthen its capital management and implement
stringent cost control measures to protect shareholders' interest during economic
downturn.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEREEMR

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group
are as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Zhiliang Ou, J.P. (Australia), aged 56, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 11 June 2012 and was re-designated as an
Executive Director of the Company in August 2012. Dr. Qu is a member of the
executive committee, nomination committee and remuneration committee of
the Company. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of the Company.
Dr. Qu holds a Doctor of Philosophy degree in Civil & Resource Engineering
from The University of Western Australia, Australia. He also holds two Bachelor
of Engineering degrees in Engineering Management & Structural Engineering
respectively from Tongji University ([ & A £2). Dr. Ou has over 30 years
of professional engineering and management experience in oil & gas, mining
and infrastructure industries both in Australia and China. He has been a senior
staff member in the world’s leading energy & resource firms including Kellogg
Brown & Root (formerly known as KBR Halliburton), Worley Parsons Pty Ltd.,
as well as Sedgman Ltd., which is specializing in coal processing and handling
plants. Dr. Ou was an independent non-executive director of Rey Resources
Limited (a company listed on ASX focusing on exploration and developing
energy resources in Australia). Dr. Ou participated in a number of key energy
and resource projects around the world such as acting as the Lead Civil and
Structural Engineer for BHP Billiton RGP6 Jimblebar project, Rio Tinto iron ore
Dove Siding expansion project; Chevron Wheatstone Domgas LNG Pipeline
project, Yemen LNG Project (in the Republic of Yemen) and Western Australia
Dampier to Bunbury Natural Gas Pipeline (Stage 5B) project, etc. Dr. Qu also has
extensive experience and network in China. He was the general manager of Fujian
Liming Construction Company* (& 344 228 32 2& T #2 2 7)) from 1993 to
1997. He was a Guest Professor for Inner Mongolia University (A9 5% &5 K £2)
and Inner Mongolia University of Science & Technology (A 52 & £H K £2)
in China. Currently, Dr. Qu is also an executive director of Hao Tian International
Construction Investment Group Limited (stock code: 1341), a company listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Fok Chi Tak, aged 49, was appointed as an Executive Director and a
member of the executive committee of the Company in September 2013. Mr.
Fok is also a director of various subsidiaries of the Company and has been the
Chief Financial Officer of the Company since December 2010. In addition to the
responsibility to oversee the Group’s finance unit and functions, Mr. Fok also
involves in the formulation of strategic plans for the business development of
the Group, fund raising activities and potential merger and acquisition activities
of the Group. Mr. Fok holds a master degree in business administration from
The University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Fok is also a fellow member of The Chartered Governance
Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
known as The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries). Mr. Fok currently
serves as an executive director and the chief executive officer of Hao Tian
International Construction Investment Group Limited (stock code: 1341), which is
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

* For identification purposes only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEBEEFE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Jiang Yang, aged 53, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 3
December 2024. Ms. Jiang graduated from Shenzhen University majoring in
accounting, and obtained the qualification certificates as the practitioner in
securities industry, the fund sales, and the insurance sales. She also obtained
a postgraduate diploma in Integrated and Practicing Management from the
Institute of China Business of the University of Hong Kong in 2020. She has
over 23 years of experience in the banking industry and has extensive business
and management experience in bank credit management, risk management,
operations management, and international settlement. Ms. Jiang previously
held leadership positions in Hong Kong Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited
and Nanyang Commercial Bank (China) Limited, Shenzhen Branch from
1992 to 2015. Ms. Jiang currently serves as the general manager of Haotian
Hengye (Shenzhen) Trading Development Co., Ltd.*, a subsidiary of the Group
in Mainland China, and a non-executive director of Hao Tian International
Construction Investment Group Limited (stock code: 1341), a company listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange. Prior to her current position, Ms. Jiang
also served as the person-in-charge of the subsidiaries of China Shandong Hi-
Speed Financial Group Limited (stock code: 412) from September 2016 to March
2018, and successively served as the general manager of Shangao International
Business Factoring (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* (formerly known as China Innovative
Finance Zhonghong (Shenzhen) Business Factoring Company Limited (4
Fe sl CRYI) mERIEAR R A) and the chairman of Shangao
International Finance Leasing (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* (L& R g &l &€
OFYI) BBR 22 7)) (formerly known as Xianglong Finance Leasing (Shenzhen)
Company Limited* (¥ 3 & & & ORI BR A 7).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan, aged 52, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company in March 2012. Mr. Chan is the
chairman of each of the audit committee and remuneration committee and a
member of nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Chan graduated from the
University of New South Wales, Australia with a Bachelor of Commerce degree
in Accounting and Gomputer Information Systems. He is a fellow member of
each of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Certified Practising
Accountants, Australia and The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. Chan has
over 20 years of experience in auditing, accounting, investment and financial
management. Mr. Chan is currently an investment manager of Sprint Asset
Management Limited. Mr. Chan is also an independent non-executive director of
each of China Dredging Environment Protection Holdings Limited (stock code:
871), Changhong Jiahua Holdings Limited (stock code: 3991), KFM Kingdom
Holdings Limited (stock code: 3816) and Hao Tian International Construction
Investment Group Limited (stock code: 1341), whose shares are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan was an independent non-executive
director of Up Energy Development Group Limited (stock code: 307, whose
shares were delisted from the main board of the Stock Exchange with effect from
5 January 2022) from April 2017 to January 2022.

* For identification purposes only

FRITES

gkt B RN -_ZE-_WME+=-A=H
BEZITAIRTESRE -ZLLEENFIIK
BoRiemy WHSEFENEABERE
Z HOHENRXEERESRRBESNRE
ABERBE -BENR_ZE-_ZFREEKX
BhEmESRENESEAENERMREX
B-BRBITERBEB _+T=ZFNER &
ELENROTREEE BRARERE - BEE
B BEREESEBERERER T H
—AN-EEZE-_ZT-HFHM TREBE
FEERTAR AR REFEmERT (FR)
ERABARVNDITEEEERMN - =1+ R
RAEBETHREANWHTEARZXEE OF
I EBESBEREABR A ETRKSEBREREA
ZRERREZREEEBR AT (RHOHARR :
134 (— KRBT ER ETWRR R ZIEH
TEZT -RNEEBEBA ZXETHER=F
—RNENAE_ZE-NF=Z AR ETHE
WREEReHmEEBR QA (BRMHRIR : 412)
ETFRARAMNEBEA  BEELUSBRBEER
BORINDABRAR (iR HEPLORID A
E¥REERAR) ALEMISHBERERE
ORI BRAR (FIEHERERE CRIDEAE
RARDEER -

BWIAFRITTES

PREGEEESE 525 M- ——F=-AEZ{T
RARNBBILIFATEE -REER/LTRATA
EREEGNFNEE SR RIRREES
KB - RAEEBENRMFTEBBITAE £
EeHREMEMEZARERZAWMELTEAM ]
REBEHMAE BRMNSHMAERES
EEHEEARGE - REEAREZ 85t K
BRMBER HERB0FLH - REER
IRr ASprint Asset Management Limited 2 1% & 4% 32 -
ToRlRFEEZRRIEREGRAE (KK
5% 871) - RULEFEZEBRBR QA (BHK
5% - 3991) ~ KEME IR AR 2 7 (AR KD R5%
3816) R ERBERERKREEEBR LA (K
MR 1301) 2 BIUERTES  ZFRF
ZROMREBRZMER LT REEBR_-Z
—tFNMAE—T-_—F—AEERERE
BREBERAR (ROMARIE 307 BT =
F— AR BRRBER T ERR ) BEBIE
WITES -

Y EREGZH

“ToME/-EFER EHEGNEEEERAT 33



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. Lam Kwan Sing, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company in August 2012. Mr. Lam is a member of each
of the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee of
the Company. Mr. Lam has obtained a Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy degree
from the City University of Hong Kong. He has more than 25 years of working
experience in the commercial and corporate finance field. Mr. Lam is a director
of China Natural Resources, Inc. (a company listed on NASDAQ) since 2003.
Mr. Lam was an executive director of SFund International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1367, whose shares were delisted from the main board of the Stock
Exchange with effect from 20 September 2022) from 2016 to 2022. He was also
an independent non- executive director of Summit Ascent Holdings Limited (stock
code: 102, which is listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange) from June
2019 to January 2024.

Mr. Mak Yiu Tong, aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 12 July 2021. Mr. Mak is the chairman of the nomination committee
and a member of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Mak graduated
from the China University of Political Science and Law with a Bachelor of Law
degree in 1998. Mr. Mak is a legal executive of Chiu, Szeto & Cheng, a firm of
solicitors in Hong Kong. Mr. Mak has been working in the legal industry for over
30 years. Mr. Mak currently serves as an independent non-executive director
of Talent Property Group Limited (stock code: 760) and Hao Tian International
Construction Investment Group Limited (stock code: 1341), whose shares
are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Mak served as an
independent non-executive director of Up Energy Development Group Limited
(stock code: 307, whose shares were delisted from the main board of the Stock
Exchange with effect from 5 January 2022) from April 2017 to January 2022.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Siu Chun Pong Raymond was appointed as the company secretary on 26
August 2022. Mr. Siu has been a practising solicitor of the High Court of Hong
Kong since 2005. Mr. Siu has over 19 years of experience in corporate finance
and regulatory compliance. He is the founder and the senior partner of Raymond
Siu & Lawyers. Prior to setting up and running his own solicitors’ firm, he has
been a partner of F. Zimmemn & Co., Solicitors & Notaries from July 2012 to
August 2017. Mr. Siu obtained his Bachelor of Laws degree and Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws from The University of Hong Kong. He obtained his Master of
Laws degree from University College London.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELIHE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining sound and well- established corporate
governance practices and procedures that are consistent with the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.
The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasise on a quality
board of directors, sound internal control, transparency and accountability to all
shareholders of the Company.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with all relevant code
provisions of the CG Code throughout the Year, save and except Code Provision
C.2.1.

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The Company has neither appointed a board member as the chairman
of the Board nor appointed a chief executive officer. Having considered the
business operation of the Group at the material time, it is believed that the Board,
which consists of experienced professionals, can function effectively as a whole,
and the executive Directors along with other members of senior management of
the Company are effective in overseeing the day-to-day operation of the Company
under the strong corporate governance structure in place.

ERELIEN

ARBBADHER R L5 B SRCIr 8 2 &
el ([EEERTA —BURE KT
ELRUGEERTRANMERF - ARF 2
XERRAZERERZEEE AMZA
HREE  BAERAARFREEIRAESR

)

}

RAEE RXARCEAZSERANIESTD
¥XERTA 2B MBS RNMES ST AN
X EC21ERR SN o

RIBEEE AT RIS AR EC21ME - E/FH
TREHRABREMRD - TRHE— AR
HRE - ARARAYEZFEFTSXNEETE
IR TEZETRER - ERILAEE

%EEM%Z%WW“ ZAN/N _*%%$A
HEBREECEEATANR  BEBAAYE

@'ﬁﬂﬁ%%@ﬂﬁ AEMEREEA
BRIBEEEARAEAREREARARET
ZBEFHEETE-

“ZoME/-EFER FEHEGNEEEERAT 35



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

The Board is collectively responsible for the long-term success of the Group and
for its leadership, strategic planning, risk management, corporate governance,
financial performance and culture. The Board has established audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”), remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committeg”),
Nomination Committee and executive committee (the “Executive Committee”)
to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, each with specific terms
of reference setting out their authority and duties. The terms of reference are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board
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Collectively responsible for promoting long-term success of the Company by providing leadership, strategic planning and
managing risk and supervising corporate governance, financial performance and culture
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Remuneration Committee
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Audit Committee
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Nomination Committee
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Executive Committee
BiTEEY

Reviews risk management and
internal control systems
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independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the
audit process
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Ensures effectiveness of
internal audit programme and
internal audit function
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Oversees financial reporting
process
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Reviews and approves matters
relating to share schemes of
the Company
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Acts as a general management
committee under the direct
authority of the Board to
enhance the efficiency for
business decisions
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Each committee has authority to obtain external professional advice and to seek
information from employees, and the Company will provide sufficient resources
to the committees for performance of its duties and responsibilities. Minutes of
the committees meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and all decisions
of the committees are reported to the Board. To further reinforce independence
and effectiveness, all Audit Committee members are independent non-gxecutive
Directors, and the Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee
comprise a majority of independent non-executive Directors as members. Details
and reports of the committees are set out below.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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BOARD COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES
Role and function

The Board has the responsibility of promoting the success of the Company by
formulating its strategic direction and supervising its operations and affairs in an
effective manner. Each Director has a fiduciary duty and statutory responsibilities
towards the Company.

Each Director is aware of his collective and individual responsibilities to all
Shareholders and that he should give sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Company.

With the objective of enhancing shareholder value, the Board is responsible for
the formulation and approval of overall business strategies and policies of the
Group, management of the business and affairs of the Group, and monitoring of
the performance of the management of the Group and is charged with presenting
a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of the Group’s performance,
position and prospects in its annual and interim results, other announcements
containing inside information and financial disclosures of the Company required
under the Listing Rules and other applicable rules.

Some of the key responsibilities of the Board include:

o gstablishing and maintaining the strategic direction and objectives of the
Group

e evaluating significant investment proposals, major acquisitions or
disposals

° appointment or re-appointment of Directors and members of the
committees

° ensuring the financial statements are prepared to give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group

o ensuring that a framework of prudent and effective controls is in place to
enable risks to be assessed and managed

° monitoring major capital transactions or other significant operational or
financial matters

° monitoring the performance of management

Daily operations and management of the Group’s business are delegated to the
management.
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Composition #H Bk

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises two executive Directors, one  RABREHH  EZREMELHITESE ~ —

non-executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors. HIERITEER =R BIUIFFEPITES -
Membership of Board Committee(s)
EFEEAGZREA

Executive Directors:

BITESE:

Dr. Zhiliang Qu, J.P. (Australia) Member of the Nomination Committee

BREIE L - A FA L CEM) RELZBEgGKE
Member of the Remuneration Committee
Member of the Executive Committee
WMITZEgKE

Mr. Fok Chi Tak Member of the Executive Committee

EXEEE WITZEgKE

Non-executive Director:

EMITESE:

Ms. Jiang Yang

EFRTL

Independent non-executive Directors:

BIFEPITESE:

Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan Chairman of the Audit Committee

PR 88 4% S ERLZEEER
Member of the Nomination Committee
REEBEGKE
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
FMEEEFR

Mr. Lam Kwan Sing Member of the Audit Committee

B k& BEREEEGKE
Member of the Nomination Committee
RELZBEKE
Member of the Remuneration Committee

Mr. Mak Yiu Tong Member of the Audit Committee

BRELE BEREBEGKE
Chairman of the Nomination Committee
REEEEER

Their biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 32 to 34 of this EEZ BEFIBERAREFRNEME -
report.
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The three independent non-executive Directors, which represented more than
one-third of the entire Board, bring a wide range of business and financial
experience to the Board, which contributes to the effective direction of the Group
and the development of the Group’s strategies and policies and promotes checks
and balances of the management process to safeguard Shareholders’ interest.
The Board reviews regularly the Board’s composition and considers that the
composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director having sound
knowledge, experience and expertise relevant to the business operations and
development of the Group. The Board is also satisfied that all independent non-
executive Directors meet the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and are independent pursuant to the requirements of the guidelines and the
Company complied with the requirements under Rule 3.10(1) and Rule 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules throughout the Year.

A list of Directors and their respective role and function has been published on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, and is also disclosed
in relevant corporate communications issued by the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

Formal procedures were adopted by the Board for governing the appointment, re-
election and removal of Directors in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company (the “Articles”).

Except for Mr. Fok Chi Tak, each Director has entered into a service contract or
a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years. All Directors
are subject to the retirement by rotation at least once every three years under the
Articles. Pursuant to the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire by rotation and the retiring Directors are
eligible for re- election in accordance with the Articles.

The Company may by ordinary resolution elect any person to be a Director either
to fill a casual vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board. The
Board may from time to time appoint a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as
an addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting and shall then be eligible for
re- election.

If a Shareholder wishes to propose a person for election as a Director at a general
meeting of the Company, a Shareholder may serve the Company a written
notice and follow the designated procedures for nomination of Directors under
the Articles, which are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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Director’s commitment

The Board meets at least four times a year at quarterly intervals and holds
additional meetings as and when the Board thinks appropriate to discuss matters
relating to the Group’s strategies, business operations, performance, governance

and material investments.

Attendance records of the Directors and committee members for the Year are set

out below:

EEZRE

EXEEFELRFERTOREGE LN
EZER/EERBEIBTERE  UWEA
BRAANKERE XBEE KB BARE
ARETHZEE -

EEREBGHENKFEEZ HERERT
mF -

Attendance/Number of meetings

HEGRRY BTERRY
Executive Audit  Nomination Remuneration General
Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee meeting
EX® RTZAT FNEAT REZAT FMZEREE® BEXE
Total number of meetings BTEHERE 9 7 3 2 3 2
Executive Directors: BiTER:
Dr. Zhiliang Ou BEmEL 9/9 - NATNER 2/2 33 22
Mr. Fok Chi Tak EXELE 9/9 M NANER  NADER  NATER 212
Non-executive Director: FRITESE:
Ms. Jiang Yang (Note 1) ZHZ L (B 22 NANER NADER NATER NATER NATER
Independent non-executive BUFRTESE:
Directors:
Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan PReA4E A 89 NATER 33 22 33 112
Mr. Lam Kwan Sing HEBLE 99 NATER 33 22 33 212
Mr. Mak Yiu Tong FRERE 99  NATER 33 22 NATER 212
Note: BIeE -
1. Ms. Jiang Yang was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 3 1. ZFLTAZT_MEFT_A-HRBERE

December 2024.

The Board reviews the performance of the Directors regularly to ensure the
Directors have adequately and effectively performed their roles and devoted
sufficient time to the Company’s affairs. The Board was satisfied that the Directors
had a strong commitment to the Company and positively contributed to the Board
through their participation in the Company’s affairs and the Board’s discussions
and decisions, as reflected in their high attendance record on the Board and its
committee meetings during the Year.
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Board process

All Directors have full access to relevant information both at the meetings and at
regular intervals. Notice of not less than 14 days was given to Directors for the
reqular Board meetings. The Company Secretary assists the Board in preparing
the meeting agenda and, during which, the Directors are consulted for matters
to be included in the agenda for all regular meetings of the Board. It has been
the practice of the Board and accepted by all members of the Board that relevant
information of regular Board meetings will be sent to all Directors at least three
days (or other reasonable period) prior to the meetings.

Board meetings involve active participation, either in person or through other
electronic means of communication, by all of the Directors present. Board
minutes are prepared and kept by the Company Secretary recording in sufficient
details the matters considered and decisions reached by the Board or Board
committees, including any concerns raised or dissenting views mentioned by
any Director. All draft and final minutes of Board meetings and meetings of
committees are sent to Directors or Board committees members as appropriate
for comments, approval and records. Board records are available for inspection
by any Director upon request.

Matters on transactions where Directors are considered having a conflict of
interest or material interests would not be dealt with by way of written resolutions
and a separate Board meeting shall be held where independent non- executive
Directors who have no material interests should be present at such meeting.
Directors having a conflict of interest or material interests in a transaction shall,
before the meeting of the Board, declare his interest(s) therein in accordance
with the Articles, and shall abstain from voting on the resolution(s) and shall not
be counted in the quorum present at such Board meeting. Such declaration of
interests will be duly noted in the minutes of the relevant Board meeting.

The Company Secretary shall provide professional advice on governance matters
to the Directors. Members of the management have been reminded that they
have an obligation to provide the Board and the Board committees with adequate
information on a timely basis to enable each of them to make informed decisions.
All Directors are entitled to have access to Board papers, minutes and related
materials. The Board and each Director have separate and independent access
to the Group’s senior management. In addition, the Directors are able, upon
reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice under appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense. The Board may resolve to provide
appropriate independent professional advice to the Directors to assist the relevant
Directors to discharge their duties.

With the support of the Company Secretary, the executive Directors seek to
ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings
and receive adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.
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Induction, information and ongoing professional development

Each newly-appointed Director is provided with a package of orientation materials
setting out the required duties and responsibilities of directors under the Listing
Rules and other relevant statutory requirements of Hong Kong and received an
induction training with external legal adviser on director’s duties and obligations
and meeting with management for an overview of the Group. The Directors are
kept informed from time to time on the latest development of any changes to the
regulatory requirements and the status of compliance of applicable rules and
regulations by the Company as well as business development and operation
plans of the Company.

In compliance with code provision C.1.4, the Company has arranged for, and
provided subsidies for, the Directors and the Company Secretary of the Company
to participate in continuous professional development organized in the form of
in- house training, seminars or other appropriate courses to keep them refreshed
of their knowledge, skill and understanding on the Group and its business or to
update their skills and knowledge on the latest development or changes in the
relevant laws, the Listing Rules and corporate governance practices.

All Directors are required to provide the Company with their training records on
an annual basis. For the Year, all Directors have participated in various training
and continuous professional development activities and/or were given training
materials at external seminars/training sessions.

Liability insurance for the Directors

Appropriate insurance cover on directors’ and officers’ liabilities has been
arranged and is in place to protect the Directors and officers of the Group from
their risk exposure arising from the businesses of the Group and potential
personal liabilities.

42 Aceso Life Science Group Limited  Annual Report 2024/25

BRREE FARSESERE

BEHREEZHRGS EXBRBNER
ZEBERENEBELTRAEEEEMER
EPIRET2EZRE AL BXIIEE
RER BB ERI) (AATREEEHE
REME) YHEERESE THEAKE RN
EERITRERKEBEEREEMNES
R ERARARABETERRRN LR Z
ERBNEARARNPERERNEETE -

REST TR ECIME  ARAFERHES
KA RR 2 RAMEZINAREBE - 55
EREMBEZRENAZHETERERE
hZZBEA SR ARG - (B IRF R AN - B
ARHANEERERBZIER  JIRERE
EAERESR LWRAREXERER 2 &
kR E) 5 2 BRE A

EREFASFAARAREAEIEIZ
FCEE - RAEE 2REFHCDLHBZEE
EFHBERERED R RERNITTE,
H o)l R AR L EOR B IF I A

EFEREFRE

AEBELZHAREENSRABREEZE
BEEMRRE  AREEERAEESRAE
RAAEBEBREEBAAEREEMELEZ
[\ o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EERERE

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy. A summary of such board
diversity policy, the measurable objectives set for implementing such board
diversity policy, and the progress made towards achieving those objectives are
dlsclosed below.

Summary of the board diversity policy

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In
designing the Board’s composition, the Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
All Board member's appointments will be based on merit, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversified perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of services. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board. The Board’s composition will be disclosed in the corporate
governance report annually in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Monitoring

The Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring implementation of the
board diversity policy.

Diversity of the Board

The existing Board members are of different backgrounds, qualifications and
experiences, including extensive experiences in resources, auditing, accounting,
investment, corporate finance, project development and management. In view of
the present size and complexities of the operations and the nature of the risks and
challenges the Group faces, the Nomination Committee considers the Company
has achieved a right balance of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity
among the present Board members.

All Board members are male. The Company has appointed at least a director of
different gender during the Year.

Among the 123 staffs of the Group, 95 are male and 28 are female.
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WORKFORCE DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a workforce diversity policy. The Company considers
workforce diversity as an important element in maintaining sustainable growth
and operational success and driving high performance across the Group.

The Company is committed to fostering an inclusive, diverse, and supportive
workplace where all employees, regardless of gender, age, family status
race ethnicity, religion, sexual orientation, disability or other characteristics
protected by applicable laws, are valued, respected, and treated fairly with equal
opportunities. The Company does not tolerate any form of bias, discrimination,
harassment and violence in the workplace and in any work-related circumstances.

As at 31 March 2025, (i) 12.2% of the senior management are male and 0.8%
are female; and (ii) 65.0% of the workforce (excluding senior management) are
male and 22.0% are female.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee was set up in June 2010. The Executive Committee
operates as a general management committee under the direct authority of the
Board to enhance the efficiency for business decisions. In accordance with
its terms of reference, the Executive Committee monitors the execution of the
Company’s strategic plans and operations of all business units of the Group and
discusses and makes decisions on matters relating to the management and day-
to-day operations of the Group.

As at the date of this report, the Executive Committee comprised of all existing
executive Directors, namely Dr. Zhiliang Ou and Mr. Fok Chi Tak.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee in May 2006. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are (a) making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and removal of the external auditor; (b) reviewing the
financial statements and material advice in respect of financial reporting; and (c)
overseeing the internal control procedures of the Company. Meetings shall be
held at least twice a year.

This report has been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprised of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan (chairman of the
committee), Mr. Lam Kwan Sing and Mr. Mak Yiu Tong.

The work performed by the Audit Committee during the Year is summarised as
follows:

(@)  reviewed the audited financial statements of the Group for the Previous
Year and unaudited interim financial statements of the Group for the six
months ended 30 September 2024 and the related results announcements;
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(b)  reviewed the independence of the external auditor and engagement of
external auditor for annual audit;

(c)  reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and the compliance with relevant accounting standards, the Listing Rules
and other statutory requirements;

(d)  reviewed the effectiveness of internal control and risk management
systems; and

(e)  recommended on the re-appointment, remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor.

During the Year, no issue brought to the attention of the management and/or the
Board were of significant importance to require disclosure in this annual report.

The Company has adopted a set of internal guidelines on whistle-blowing in
2013. Arrangement has been put in place by which employees can report any
concerns, including misconduct, impropriety or fraud in financial reporting
matters and accounting practices, in confidence and without fear of recrimination
for fair and independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-
up action.

In addition, the Company has also adopted a policy that subject to prior approval
by Audit Committee, no employees or former employees of external auditor can
be appointed as director or senior executive of internal audit or finance function
of the Group, within 12 months preceding their employment by the external
auditor to enhance independent reporting by external auditor.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company set up the Nomination Committee in August 2009. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee are (a) reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board and making recommendations to the Board on any
proposed change to the Board; (b) identifying suitably qualified candidates to
become members of the Board:; (c) assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; and (d) making recommendations on appointment, re-
election and removal of Directors and ensuring a succession plan is in place.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee is comprised of one
executive Director, namely Dr. Zhiliang Ou and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan, Mr. Lam Kwan Sing and Mr.
Mak Yiu Tong (chairman of the committee).
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The work performed by the Nomination Committee during the Year is
summarised as follows:

(@) reviewed and recommended on the structure, size and composition of
the Board including the diversity as well as the competence, experience,
academic background and qualification of its members;

(b)  reviewed and assessed the independence of each independent non-
executive Director; and

(c)  recommended the nomination of Directors for re-election at the annual
general meeting.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company set up the Remuneration Committee in May 2006. The primary
duties of the Remuneration Committee are (a) evaluating the performance
and making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policies and
structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the
Company; (b) establishing a formal and transparent procedure for developing
a policy on remuneration; (c) determining specific remuneration packages
for all executive Directors and senior management in the manner specified
in its terms of reference; (d) making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of independent non-executive Directors; (e) reviewing the
appropriateness and relevance of the remuneration policy; and (f) reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board as to the fairness and reasonableness of
the terms of any Director’s service agreement, which are subject to the approval
of the Shareholders in general meeting pursuant to the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprised of one
executive Director, namely Dr. Zhiliang Ou and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan (chairman of the committee) and
Mr. Lam Kwan Sing.

The work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the Year is
summarised as follows:

(@) reviewed and recommended on the remuneration packages of existing
Directors;

(b)  reviewed the appropriateness of the remuneration policy of the Company;
and

(c)  reviewed the share schemes of the Company.

During the process of consideration, no individual Director was involved in
decisions relating to his own remuneration.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties of the
Company including (a) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance; (b) reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior management; (c)
reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; (d) developing, reviewing and monitoring
the code of conduct applicable to employees and Directors; and (e) reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group on a going concern basis and in presenting the interim and annual
financial statements, announcements and other financial disclosures required
under the Listing Rules. Members of the management have provided the Board
with monthly updates and sufficient information for the Board to develop
and maintain a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s
performance, position and prospects.

The Directors ensure the preparation of the financial statements of the Group
is in accordance with the statutory requirements and the applicable accounting
standards. The Directors also ensure that the publication of the financial
statements of the Group is in a timely manner.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the Year, the total fee paid/payable in respect of audit and non-audit
services provided by the external auditors is set out below:

EREQMEE

EZgRAERTARAZEREARE
EPeFE@QbFI ke A R EREEXER
ZBRERER ORIREREELRSAE
BEZBIRFEERER ORI EREERN
RAEETERMEERETMZBRRNS
B (dBIR] - e MEREANEERES
Bl e A rBrhEE R TR
ZIEM

BRREX

EERRNSANERREREEEREEE
Ko S 3l e R 7K 5 B S5 5 AR O 2 7 ok B B 7S
BRARZIFHRFERBHRR 2ER
FHRABECEMHBHREAEEE-E
EEXEEEAMETSRHEENEN LT
RER  WHEBFEHARRRT KR RF
RHEREFTE RS NERZFHE -

EERRAEBZMBRRIDBRBEEER
FOER G EARE - BEITREGRE R T 3
AEBEZ B |MEK

B EH i &

RAEE - BN A BRI A B R IR 4%
ERBEN, BN ZEREERINNAT

Fee paid/payable
for the year ended
31 March 2025

BE_ESE_"_HF

=A=+-—H

ILEEEMF

EdzEBHR

HK$’million

BEEET

Audit services Z 2R 4
Non-audit services FEAZ BRAR TS -
Total Mt 4

The statement of the auditor of the Company regarding its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements for the Year is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on page 72 of this report.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Nomination Committee may invite nominations of candidates from Board
members for its consideration. The Nomination Committee may also propose
candidates who are not nominated by Board members. The factors in assessing
the suitability of a proposed candidate for director include:

° business experience relevant and beneficial to the Company, diversity
in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, knowledge, professional experience and skills;

o character and integrity;

o accomplishments in personal careers;

° independence;

o willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board
member;

and such other perspectives relevant to the Company’s business. The Nomination
Committee shall make recommendations of candidates for the Board’s
consideration and approval.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. Declaration and payment of
dividends are subject to the discretion of the Board. The Board would consider,
inter alia, the following factors before declaring or recommending dividend to the
Shareholders:

(@)  the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(b)  retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company;

(c)  the level of the Company’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and the
relevant financial covenants;

(d) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
Company's contracting parties;

(e)  the Company’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

() general economic conditions, business cycle of the Company’s business
and other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Company; and

(@) any other factors that the Board may deem appropriate.
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Any payment of dividend is also subject to compliance with applicable laws and
regulations including the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Articles.

The Board will continually review the dividend policy from time to time and there
can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any
given period.

INTERNAL CONTROL, RISK MANAGEMENT AND THEIR
EFFECTIVENESS

The Board has the overall responsibility for overseeing sound and effective
internal controls and risk management for the Group to safeguard the interests
of its shareholders and the assets of the Group at all times. In this connection,
an internal control and risk management system has been established to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or 10ss
and to manage or mitigate, rather than eliminate, risks of failure to achieve the
Group’s business objectives.

The Company has in place an integrated framework of internal control which
is consistent with the principles outlined in the “Internal Control and Risk
Management — A Basic Framework” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants as illustrated below:

ERR SR MABTEMERLER B
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Monitoring ° Ongoing assessment of control systems’ performance
ExR B LEEERIE 2 KRB

o Internal audits performed by internal audit department

AR E X B FTE T AR E X

Information and Communication
EMEE

Information in sufficient details is provided to the right person timely
EEmAESEATRERSFRZIER

o Channels of communication across the Group and with customers, suppliers and external parties
BRIUAEEARNIBARERTS  HEFREIIALTZBEBRE

o Channels of communication for people to report any suspected improprieties
RUABBRREMAIRIETRIBBRE

Control Activities °
BE iR iEE)

Policies and procedures for ensuring management directives are carried out
FIE A BRATEERES CHERER

o Control activities include performance review, segregation of duties, authorization, physical count,
access control, documentation and records, etc.
EEEERERRRS BESTI ik BEYEE TS FERR

e

Risk Assessment o
BB RF
E IR - FFE R A E

|dentification, evaluation and assessment of the key risk factors affecting the achievement of the
Company’s objectives are performed regularly
EFARRIBRZEERRBER

o Undertake proper actions to manage the risks so identified
KB ETEA TR A 2 Bk
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Control Environment °

ERRE staff are established

Channels to communicate the Company’s commitment to integrity and high ethical standards to the

RURERE IFEERRAHNERHENSEREE
° Organizational chart and limits of authority are set and communicated to staff concerned

I EIAAERE B TEER

RiEE NER

° Reporting Imes in accordance W|th organizational chart and line of authority are set

-T}R EZ' /\

The internal audit department is responsible for conducting independent
reviews of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and
risk management system, reporting regularly the results to the Board through
the Audit Committee and making recommendations to the relevant department
management for necessary actions.

During the Year, the internal audit department had conducted reviews on
the effectiveness of the internal control system covering all material factors
related to financial, operational, compliance controls, various functions for risk
management and physical and information security. Internal control reports
containing its findings and results were reported to the Audit Committee during
the Audit Committee meetings and had been delivered to all Directors for review.

The internal audit department had reported during the Audit Committee meetings
the key findings identified by the Company’s external auditors in respect of
the Group’s internal controls and discussed findings and actions or measures
taken in addressing those findings. The Company considers the internal control
systems and risk management were effective during the Year. No material issues
on the Group’s internal control system have been identified by the Group’s
internal audit department and the Company’s external auditors during the Year
which required significant rectification measures.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of the Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct for Directors” securities transactions.
The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors and all Directors
confirmed that they have fully complied with the Model Code for the Year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Siu Chun Pong Raymond was appointed as the company secretary on 26
August 2022. Mr. Siu has been a practising solicitor of the High Court of Hong
Kong since 2005. Mr. Siu has over 19 years of experience in corporate finance
and regulatory compliance. He is the founder and the senior partner of Raymond
Siu & Lawyers. Prior to setting up and running his own solicitors’ firm, he has
been a partner of F. Zimmemn & Co., Solicitors & Notaries from July 2012 to
August 2017. Mr. Siu obtained his Bachelor of Laws degree and Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws from The University of Hong Kong. He obtained his Master of
Laws degree from University College London.
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During the Year, Mr. Siu has received no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional trainings.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board is committed to maintaining high degree of transparency to ensure that
the investors and the Shareholders receive accurate, comprehensive and timely
information of the Group by publication of announcements, circulars, interim
and annual reports and other corporate communications. All shareholders’
communications are also available on the Company’s website.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides a useful forum for
Shareholders to exchange views with the Board. All Directors will endeavour to
attend and the external auditor is also available at the annual general meeting
to address Shareholders’ queries. In case of any extraordinary general meeting
to approve a connected transaction or any other transaction that is subject
to independent Shareholders’ approval, members of the independent Board
committee will also endeavour to attend to address Shareholders’ queries.

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, all votes of the Shargholders at
general meetings would be taken by poll.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Shareholders’ right to convene extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles, an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company (the “EGM”) shall be convened on the requisition of any one or more
Shareholder(s) (the “Requisitionist(s)”) holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

The Requisitionist(s) shall have the right, by written requisition to the Board or
the Company Secretary of the Company, to require an EGM to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition, and the
EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such mesting, the Requisitionist(s) may do so in the same manner, and shall
be entitled to reimbursement of all reasonable expenses incurred by the
Requisitionist(s).
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Putting enquiries to the Board

To ensure effective communication between the Board and the Shareholders,
the Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication policy (the “Policy”),
which is available on the website of the Company. Under the Policy, information
of the Group shall be communicated to the Shareholders mainly through annual
general meetings, extraordinary general meetings, financial reports, corporate
communications and other corporate publications on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. Shareholders may at any time make a request
for the Company’s information to the extent that such information is publicly
available. Any such requests shall first be directed to the Company Secretary:

By post

Rooms 2501-2509, 25/F

Shui On Centre

6—8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Shareholders may also directly raise questions during the Shareholders’
meetings.

The Board conducted a review of the implementation and effectiveness of the
Policy during the Year and is satisfied with the results thereof given the above
measures.

Putting forward proposals at Shareholders’ meeting

Shareholders shall follow Article 58 of the Articles for including a resolution
at any general meeting. The requirements and procedures are set out above in
the paragraph headed “Shareholders’ right to convene extraordinary general
meeting”.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is a key
to enhance investor relations. It is committed to a policy of open and timely
disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and public investors.
The Company updates the Shareholders on its latest business developments
and financial performance through its annual reports, interim reports, circulars
and announcements. The website of the Company (http://www.acesogrouphk.
com) has provided an effective communication platform to the public and the
Shareholders.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes in the constitutional documents of the Company during
the Year. An up-to-date version of the Articles is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal activities of
the Group include: (i) rental and sales of construction machinery and spare parts;
(i) provision of repair and maintenance and transportation services; (iii) money
lending services; (iv) provision of asset management, securities brokerage and
other financial services; (v) property leasing and (vi) property development. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements for the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW
A review of the Group’s financial and business performance

A review of the Group’s business and the analysis using the financial key
performance indicators are set out on pages 6 to 31 of this annual report under
the paragraphs headed “Business Review” and “Financial Review” in the section
headed “Management, Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. For the
Year, the Group had incurred a loss attributable to the owners of the Company
of approximately HK$896 million (2024: approximately HK$462 million). The
gearing ratio as at 31 March 2025 was approximately 74.2% (31 March 2024:
56.5%).

Environmental, Social and Governance

The Group is committed to operating in compliance with the applicable
environmental laws as well as protecting the environment by minimising the
negative impact of the Group’s existing business activities on the environment.
During the Year, the Group strived to build an environmentally friendly enterprise
with enhancement of energy usage efficiency, implementation of various emission
reduction measures and improvement in resource usage efficiency. Details of the
environmental policies and performance are set out in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report of the Company which is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

Relationship with Employees, Customers and Suppliers

The Group recognises the importance of having good working relationship with
its employees. During the Year, the Group has not experienced any significant
problems with its staff or any significant labour disputes. As at 31 March 2025,
the Group had a total of approximately 123 employees in Hong Kong and the
PRC. The Group’s remuneration policies are formulated according to market
practices, experiences, skills and performance of individual employees and are
reviewed every year. The Group has also adopted a share option scheme and a
share award scheme.
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The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship with
its customers and suppliers to its immediate and long-term business goals.
During the Year, the aggregate revenue and purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers and suppliers were approximately 34.6% and 53.7% of
the Group’s total revenue and purchases respectively. As at 31 March 2025, the
majority of the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers have a length of
relationship with the Group for more than 10 years.

Compliance with laws and regulations with significant impact

Based on the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group has complied in all
material respect with laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group.

Principal risks and Uncertainties

The Group identified and determined the major risks which may affect
the operations results and financial conditions of the Group through risk
management process, which including the following:

Risk in delay or default of payment in the Group’s money lending
business

As at 31 March 2025, the outstanding loan receivables of the money lending
business of the Group (net of impairment) was approximately HK$28 million,
representing approximately 0.9% of the total assets of the Group. Any delay or
default in payment of the loans will not have an adverse impact on the Group’s
working capital, cash flow and subsequently the profits of the Group.

To manage such risk, the Group requires borrowers to provide appropriate
security and closely monitors the loan receivable collection cycle from time to
time to ensure full and timely collection of the outstanding amounts due from the
borrowers. The Group will assess and decide to enforce the security provided by
the borrowers or take legal actions as appropriate. All exposures are subject to
regular review and assessment for possible impairment.

Compliance risk

The Group operates financial services business through subsidiaries with
appropriate licenses to conduct regulated activities, insurance agency and money
lending. During the course of providing such financial services, the Group would
be exposed to compliance risk, including the risk of legal liability, being subject
to regulatory proceedings, disciplinary action, or loss of property or business
reputation arising from violation of laws, regulations and rules due to the
operation and management or practices of the Group or its personnel. In order
to effectively control compliance risk, the Group has put in place a practicable
compliance management system and provided resources and support to develop
lawful and compliance operations of the Group.
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Financial risk
The Group’s diversified business is exposed to a variety of risks, such as
market risks, credit risk and liquidity risk. Further details of the financial risk

management objectives and policies are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the Year on pages 76 to 77 of

this annual report respectively.

No final dividend was recommended by the Directors for the Year (2024: nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available for distribution amounted
to approximately HK$597 million (2024: HK$782 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are
set out in note 14a to the consolidated financial statements for the Year.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement of share capital of the Company are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements for the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles and the

Companies Act of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on page 228 of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

No share was cancelled during the Year.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report were:
Executive Directors

Dr. Zhiliang Qu, J. P. (Australia)
Mr. Fok Chi Tak

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Jiang Yang (appointed on 3 December 2024)
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan
Mr. Lam Kwan Sing
Mr. Mak Yiu Tong

According to the Articles, (i) Dr. Zhiliang Ou, Mr. Chan Ming Sun Jonathan and
Mr. Lam Kwan Sing shall retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting; and (i) Ms. Jiang
Yang shall retire and being eligible, offer herself for re-glection at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

Ms. Jiang Yang has obtained the legal advice required under Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules on 2 December 2024 and Ms. Jiang confirmed that she understood
her obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

DIRECTORS SERVICE CONTRACTS

Except Mr. Fok Chi Tak, the executive Director, all Directors have entered into a
service contract or a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three
years, which can be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other. No Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with any company
in the Group which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers all
of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as provided in the paragraph headed “Related Party Transactions” below, no
other transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company, its
ultimate holding company, any of its fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

56 Aceso Life Science Group Limited  Annual Report 2024/25

E¥
RAFEEEAFHAME EE5
MITESE

BERIBL - X FHL M)

JERMITEE
EFRT (R _ZET-_NMF+_A=BEZT)
BIERTESE

BRERLE ST L
MBI E
ERREE

RFAR - (BEREL  RELELERME
HELEEAREREBRRBFAG LHERE
WEERREEEREME  Mi)ZFLLAR
FEERRBFAG LRE YAEBLREER
HiEEE-

EFRIR _ZE_WE+_A_HEF LD
RAFEIODERENZREER - BEX L
RETHRESLMHRITAEZNEE -

EERBESH

FRATESFESRLLEI 2REZFEHENRN
RAF YRR =FZRBFEOXRER - A
HEF—THR TS A TIR=BEAEEB
HMARIERD ZENEERRBFARE L
EREZESHMERAKRETMA ARG EAE
BT 4e T REE CRERBERIN BIAATR —
FRRIEZBRBEL -

BWIAFRITES

RIZEMARRNFEIBR  SBIUIFATESRS
HMAEBUE EZSR/EBBIUIFENT
ESY/BIAL -

EEREXXH R aHPZ
Ha

BRI BRI R 5 | — B ESN - ARF] -
HREERRAR  EERRRNEB QR M
BRAAMEITURNAFEARKAANFER
ETAERFEARAARNEFERLAHAENE
THEEARBE CEMEARS « THHEH



REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEERE

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as provided in the paragraph headed “Related Party Transactions” below,
at no time during the Year was the Company, its controlling shareholders,
holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate, and neither the Directors nor the chief executive, nor any of their
spouses or children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for the
securities of the Company, or had exercised any such right.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executives of the Company in shares of the Company (the “Shares”), underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SF0), as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long positions in ordinary shares and underlying shares of the
Company
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Number of total issued

Name of Director/ Number of underlying Total  share capital

chief executive Capacity Nature of interest Shares held Shares held interests (Note 1)
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Fok Chi Tak Beneficial owner Personal interest 60,871,152 = 60,871,152 0.82%
ESE BERAA & AR

Zhiliang Ou Beneficial owner Personal interest 733,752 - 733,752 0.01%
B BaAA & AR

Chan Ming Sun Jonathan Beneficial owner Personal interest 733,752 - 733,752 0.01%
PR 8 22 EaEEA & AR

Lam Kwan Sing Beneficial owner Personal interest 733,752 - 733,752 0.01%
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Note:

1. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of 7,381,776,805
Shares in issue as at 31 March 2025.

Other than as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors or
chief executives of the Company had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFQ) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE AWARD SCHEME
a. Share Option Scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) which was adopted by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 25 September 2015 and remains valid for
a period of 10 years commencing on 25 September 2015 and will expire
on 24 September 2025. The major terms of the Share Option Scheme are
set out below:

() The purpose is to provide incentives to the participants.

(i) Subject to the restrictions under the Listing Rules, the participants
include any full-time or part-time employees, executives and
officers of the Company and any of its subsidiaries (including
executive directors, non-executive directors and independent non-
executive directors of the Company and any of its subsidiaries) and
business consultants and legal and other professional advisors of
the Company or its subsidiaries which, in the opinion of the Board,
has or had made contribution to the Group.

(i) Subject to the restrictions under the Listing Rules, the number of
Shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options granted
and may be granted to any individual in any 12-month period is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the Shares in issue at any point of time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options
granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital
must be approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.
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(iv)  In relation to each grantee of the options granted under the Share
Option Scheme, the right of the grantee to exercise the option shall
be in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and
the Listing Rules (which shall not be less than 12 months) and the
period to be notified by the Board to each grantee which shall not
exceed 10 years from the date upon which the options is deemed to
be granted and accepted.

(v)  The exercise price of an option will be determined by the Board
and will not be less than the highest of: (1) the closing price of
the Share on the date of grant; (2) the average closing price of the
Share for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (3) the nominal value of the Share.

(vi) A consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the offer of
grant of options.

The total number of shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme was 328,430,310 Shares and the total number of options
available for grant issue under the Share Option Scheme as at 1 April
2024 and 31 March 2025 was 328,430,310 Shares and 328,430,310
Shares respectively. As at the date of this annual report, the total number
of shares available for issue and the total number of options available for
grant represents 4.45% of the issued shares of the Company (excluding
treasury shares).

As at 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025, there was no outstanding options.
During the Year, there was no share options granted, exercised, lapsed,
forfeited or cancelled. The percentage to issued shares of the Company at
the date of this annual report was nil.

Share Award Scheme

The Company has adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) on 27 September 2013 and the scheme shall be valid and
effective for a term of ten years commencing from 27 September 2013 and
has expired on 26 September 2023. Therefore, during the Year, there was
no share award available.

Share Schemes adopted by HTICI

HTICI, the non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1341), has adopted a
share option scheme and a share award scheme on 23 October 2015 and
24 April 2020 respectively.
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c.(i) Share Option Scheme of HTICI

The purpose of the share option scheme of HTICI is to provide
incentives or rewards to eligible persons who the board of directors
of HTICI (the “HTICI Board") considers, in its sole discretion, have
contributed or will contribute to the group of companies held by
HTICI (the “HTICI Group”).

Subject to the restrictions under the Listing Rules, the HTICI
Board may grant options (the “HTICI Options”) to eligible persons,
including directors of HTICI and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for
the shares of HTICI. Eligible persons of the share option scheme
of HTICI include, amongst others, any executives, any employee
(including proposed, full-time or part-time employee), a director
or proposed director (including an independent non-executive
director), a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of HTICI
and its subsidiaries and an associate of any of the aforementioned
persons.

Subject to the restrictions under the Listing Rules, options may be
exercised at any time from the date which options is deemed to be
granted and accepted and expired on the date as the HTICI Board
in its absolute discretion determine and which shall not exceeding
a period of 10 years from the date on which the HTICI Options are
accepted but subject to the previous for early termination thereof
contained in the share option scheme of HTICI.

The total number of shares of HTICI available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme of HTICI was 100,000,000 Shares. The
total number of HTICI Options available for grant under the share
option scheme of HTICI was 100,000,000 shares of HTICI and
100,000,000 of HTICI Shares as at 1 April 2024 and 31 March
2025, respectively. At 31 March 2025, the total number of of HTICI
shares and HTICI Options available for grant represents 1.31% of
the issued shares of HTICI.

The share option scheme of HTICI shall be valid and effective for
a term of ten years commencing from 23 October 2015 and will
expire on 22 October 2025.
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Any grant of HTICI Options to any director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder (as such term as defined in the Listing
Rules) of HTICI, or any of their respective associates under the
share option scheme of HTICI is subject to the prior approval
of the independent non-executive directors of HTICI (excluding
independent non-executive directors who or whose associates is
the grantee of an option).

The maximum number of shares in HTICI issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the HTICI Options granted to each eligible person
(including both exercised and outstanding HTICI Options) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in HTICI in
issue for the time. Any further grant of HTICI Options in excess of
this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting
of HTICI. Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of HTICI, or any of their
respective associates, would result in the shares of HTICI issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all HTICI Options already granted
and to be granted (including HTICI Options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant representing in aggregate over
0.1% of the shares of HTICI in issue on the date of such grant, such
further grant of the HTICI Options shall be subject to prior approval
of the shareholders of HTICI with such person and its associates
abstaining from voting in favour of general meeting of HTICI.

The subscription price is determined by the HTICI Board, and shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares
of HTICI as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
on the date of offer; (ii) the average closing price of the shares of
HTICI as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for
the five business days immediately preceding the offer date or (iii)
the nominal value of the shares of HTICI.

HTICI Options granted shall be taken up upon payment of HK$1 as
consideration for the grant of HTICI Options.

During the Year, there was no share options granted, exercised,
lapsed, forfeited or cancelled.
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c.(ii) Share Award Scheme of HTICI

HTICI has adopted the share award scheme on 24 April 2020.
Unless early terminated by the board of directors of HTICI, the
share award scheme of HTICI shall be valid and effective for a term
of 10 years commencing on the adoption date (i.e. 24 April 2020)
and will expire on 23 April 2030. The remaining life of the share
award scheme is 5 years.

The share award scheme of HTICI serves as an incentive measure to
recognise the contributions by selected participants and to provide
them with incentives in order to retain them; and to attract the right
talents for promoting the future development and expansion of the
HTICI Group, with a view to achieving the objective of increasing
the value of the HTICI Group by motivating the participants to strive
for the continual operation and future development and expansion
of the HTICI Group and aligning the interests of the participants and
the shareholders of HTICI.

Subject to the restrictions under the Listing Rules, participants
include any director (including executive director, non-executive
director and independent non-executive director), employee
(whether full time or part time), officer, agent or consultant of HTICI
or any of its subsidiaries or any of its affiliates or any other person
as determined by the board of directors of HTICI, whom the board
of directors of HTICI considers, in its absolute discretion, has
contributed or will contribute to the HTICI Group.

There was no maximum entitlement of each participant under the
share award scheme of HTICI.

No price shall be payable on acceptance of the awards.

The board of directors of HTICI resolved to grant (i) a total of
196,274,929 award shares of HTICI to selected grantees who
are not connected with HTICI on 24 April 2020; and (ii) a total of
65,475,610 award shares of HTICI to selected grantees who are
connected with HTICI on 29 June 2020. The award shares of HTICI
granted under the scheme are subject to a vesting scale in three
equal tranches.
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Further details of the Share Award Scheme are set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the Year, no award shares of HTICI were granted, vested, issued, lapsed
or cancelled.

During the Year, there was no outstanding award shares of HTICI.

There was no purchase price of the unvested award Shares as at 1 April 2024 and
31 March 2025.

The total number of awards of HTICI available for grant (which is subject to the
listing approval) under the share award scheme as at 1 April 2024 and 31 March
2025 were 500,364,744 shares (which represents 6.56% of the issued shares of
HTICI) and 500,364,744 shares (which represents 6.56% of the issued shares of
HTICI) respectively.

At the date of this annual report, the total number of shares available for issue
of the share award scheme of HTICI ((i) the total number of awards available
for grant under the share award scheme of HTICI and (ii) the outstanding and
unvested award shares of HTICI) was 500,364,744 shares, which represents
6.56% of the issued shares of HTICI.

The number of shares of HTICI that may be issued in respect of HTICI Options
and awards of HTICI granted under the share option scheme and the share award
scheme of HTICI during the Year divided by the weighted average number of
shares of HTICI in issue (excluding treasury shares) for the Year was nil.

Save for the Share Option Scheme, Share Award Scheme and share schemes of
HTICI, the Company has not adopted any other share scheme.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Details of the equity-linked agreements entered into during the Year or subsisted
at the end of the Year are set out below:

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
Year set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements. Those related
party transactions do not constitute connected transactions under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND FEBRRRELTRGN RAHRBK G
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING hREACEGRRE

SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, so far as is known to the Directors or chief executivesof MR- ZT-_RAF=ZA=+—H MEZFHARQ
the Company, the following persons (other than a Director or chief executives ~ BIEBITHAEBATA M TA L (EEHAR
of the Company) had interests or short positions of 5% or more in the shares &= BT A BN R &) B9 K 48 B8 A%
and underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in the register of 2 P #E B5% e A F 2 HEFE AR - BREER
substantial shareholders maintained under Section 336 of the SFO: Ok B B RN IRIEE F & B E (&6 533615
REFBEETERREZZMA :

Approximate
percentage of
Number of Number of total issued
ordinary Shares underlying Total share capital
Name of Shareholder held Shares held  Capacity interests (Note 1)
HERT
BEaHE
s &8 B Fri5 1R #rasl
BEREE 28 #E BHBE 6 b E=3 ) (PR &E1)
Li Shao Yu (“Ms. Li") (Note 2) 3,572,972,173 - Interest of controlled corporations 4454325115 60.34%
FLF(Fat]) (HE2) XA AR
861,352,342 —  Beneficial owner
EaAA
Asia Link Capital Investment Holdings 3,068,940,773 - Beneficial owner 3,295,740,773 44.65%
Limited(“Asia Link") (Note 2) ExBAA
TEAIZERAR DR EE) 226,800,000 — Interest of controlled corporations
(FfF5E2) p Rt UNGIE: 3
Huang Shiying (Note 3) 800,000,000 — Interest of controlled corporations 800,000,000 10.83%
5 (P aT3) XA AR
Huang Tao (Note 3) 800,000,000 - Interest of controlled corporations 800,000,000 10.83%
EIGED) XA AR
Century Golden Resources Investment Co., 800,000,000 —  Beneficial owner 800,000,000 10.83%
Ltd. (“Century Golden”) (Note 3) ExBAA
Century Golden Resources Investment Co.,
Ltd. (I Century Golden |) (Bff 5£3)
Haitong Securities Co., Limited (*HSCL") - 1,948,333,333  Security interest 1,948,333,338 26.39%
(Note 4) EiRER
BRESRNEBRAA
(BmES]) ()
(uotai Junan Securities Co., Ltd. (“GTJA") - 1,948,333,333  Interest of controlled corporations 1,948,333,338 26.39%
(Note 4) SR UNGI)
BHRELAIHFRNERRA
(EIZRAR]) (M)
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Notes:

1. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of 7,381,776,805
Shares in issue as at 31 March 2025.

2. Ms. Li was beneficially interested in a total of 4,454,325,115 Shares, among
which, 881,352,342 Shares were held by Ms. Li as beneficial owner, and
3,5672,972,773 Shares were held by (i) Asia Link as to 3,068,940,773 Shares,
(ii) Team Success Venture Holdings Limited as to 230,900,000 Shares, (iii)
TRXY Development (HK) Limited as to 46,332,000 Shares, and (iv) Glory
Century Limited as to 226,800,000 Shares, all of which were beneficially
owned by Ms. Li.

%, Each of Mr. Huang Shiying and Mr. Huang Tao was deemed to be interested in
800,000,000 Shares held by Century Golden pursuant to the SFO by virtue of
their controlling interest in Century Golden.

4, HSCL, through Haitong International Holdings Limited, which is its directly
wholly-owned subsidiary, held 64.4% of the issued shares in Haitong
International Securities Group Limited, which in turn held 100% of the issued
shares in Haitong International Financial Products (Singapore) Pte. Ltd (“HIFP
Singapore”). HIFP Singapore held the security interest in those 1,948,333,333
Shares. GTJA holds 100% interest in HIFP Singapore.

Other than disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Company has not been
notified by any persons (other than Directors or chief executives of the Company)
who have interests or short positions in any shares or underlying shares of the
Company, which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

B &E -

1. FRASEDRER -ZT-_AF=A=1+—
H B #17.27,381,776,8050 IR < EEFHH

2. T ERE 4454325511 HERE
AR H 881,352 3420 ThmE 2 £
ERE=HEAARHE  M3,572,972, 7738 i 17
Bl /B (i) a0 Bt 45 53,068,940, 7738 A% 19 + (ii) Team
Success Venture Holdings Limited# 4 230,900,0004%
i (INFEREXEER (BB ERARRE
546,332,000 f% 15« R(WEHBERQAREFAE
226,800,0000% f& 17+ ZE R RIHHBFT LT E
wmEEER o

3. AR ES LA REIF AR Century Golden
HHERED  BEEFRBEGRD KBS
& B8 118 A& K Century Goldenffr #5800,000,0004%
BPERER -

4, HBEFEREERZANEBRTTBEBEE
TREBRATFEFRERESEEEGRA
RIEHITRM 2644%  MEBEBESE
& A& BR A 7 Bl # B Haitong International Financial
Products (Singapore) Pte. Ltd([HIFP Singapore|) &
8B 217 A% {5 ° HIFP Singapore1,948,333,333
BB PERERERS - BIRE LIFAHFP
Singapore 100%#E #5 ©

BREXFBBEEN R-T_RF=A=+—
B AARYEEETAAL(BESHARAE
RITHRABRIN MERERARQ MR
5 A BE A (D P B B IR RE 75 M B B R 5] B XV
EBEE2 N30 B 2 AR XA TR AN A R B 2 HE 2 =k
R REBERARRRIEEZ KRG GH
EIBFREAFEZELMAZEEIORE
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and determined by the Board on the basis of their
merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee and determined by the Board having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market standards.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme and the Share Award
Scheme as incentives to the Directors and eligible employees.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate revenue and purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers and suppliers were approximately 34.6% and 53.7% of the
Group’s total revenue and purchases respectively and the revenue and purchase
attributable to the Group’s largest customer and supplier were approximately
10.9% and 30.5% of the Group’s total revenue and purchases respectively.

At no time during the Year did a Director, an associate of a Director or a
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital) have an interest in any of the Group’s
five largest customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITY

According to the Articles, the Directors for the time being of the Company
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of
any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty in
their respective offices.

The Company has taken out appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal action
against the Directors during the Year.
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DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group did not make any donation to charitable and non-
profit-making organisations.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the
best knowledge of the Directors, during the Year, at least 25% of the Company’s
issued Shares were held by the public as required under Rule 8.08 of the Listing
Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year were audited by
Moore CPA Limited (“MOORE”), whose term of office will retire at the close of
the forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment
of MOORE as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the years ended 31 March
2024 and 31 March 2023 were audited by MOORE and ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
LIMITED (“ZHONGHUI") respectively. ZHONGHUI resigned and MOORE has
been appointed as auditor of the Company on 27 March 2024.

Save for the aforesaid, there was no other change of auditor during the past three
years.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS WITH AUDITOR’S MODIFIED
OPINIONS

(1)

68

Details of modifications and their actual or potential impact
on the Company’s financial position

The auditor of the Company does not express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

For the details of the modification and their actual or potential impact on
the Company’s financial position, please refer to page 72 of this annual
report under the Section “Independent Auditor's Report”.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 16 and 23 April
2025, the Group was in default on the following loans:

1. Loans in an aggregate principal amount of approximately GBP79
million (the “UK Loans”) were in default as of mid-April 2025.
These loans are secured by the Group’s investment properties
located in London, United Kingdom (the “UK Property”).

2. Loans in an aggregate principal amount of approximately HK$345
million (the “HK Loans”) were also in default during the same
period.

Upon default, lenders are contractually entitled to demand repayment and
proceed with enforcement actions under the respective loan agreements.
Nevertheless, the lenders were aware that the Group has been actively
engaged in refinancing efforts and, up to the date of this report, none of
the lenders have initiated any enforcement actions.

However, should the refinancing efforts fail or lenders proceed with legal
or other enforcement actions, the following potential impacts may arise:

° UK Property risk: If the UK Loans remain unpaid and the lender
enforces its security rights over the UK Property, the Group may
lose ownership of a significant asset. This would materially reduce
the Group’s total asset base and eliminate rental income generated
from the UK Property.
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(2)

° HK Loans risk: The HK Loans are not secured by any assets of
the Group but secured by a property beneficially owned by the
substantial shareholder of the Company, Ms. Li Shao Yu (“Ms.
Li"). In the event the lender enforces its security, and Ms. Li
refrains from demanding repayment from the Group as indicated in
the executed letter of support given to the Company, the Group’s
financial position is expected to remain unaffected, provided that
the property's current market value exceeds the outstanding loan
balance, thereby ensuring adequate collateral coverage. Ms. Li
has committed not to pursue repayment by the Company until the
Company’s liquidity position has improved.

o Corporate note payables

In addition to the UK Loans and HK Loans, there is a corporate
note in the principal amount of HK$370 million which is scheduled
to mature in September 2025. Should the noteholder decline to
extend the maturity date, the Group may face a shortfall in available
cash for repayment. Nevertheless, the Group is proactively engaged
in negotiations with the noteholder to secure an 18-month or more
extension and remains confident, based on ongoing discussions,
that the extension will be granted.

Accordingly, other than the potential financial impacts as stated above,
there is no material and immediate impact on the Group’s financial
position as at the date of this report.

Management’s position and basis on major judgmental
areas (i.e. the going concern assumption) and the
Company’s proposed plan to address the modification

The management maintains the view that the Company can continue as a
going concern based on the following considerations:

() UKLoans

The Company was in active negotiations on a term sheet (the “Term
Sheet”) with an international and sizeable financial institution
(the “FI”) and the same is expected to be finalised and signed in
around July 2025. Once secured, the FI will start to carry out due
diligence procedures for the re-financing process. The proceeds
from the refinancing arrangement will be used to fully repay the UK
Loans, thereby resolving the concerns or the UK Loans. As at the
date of this annual report, no definitive refinancing arrangement
had been concluded. Nevertheless, if the Term Sheet is signed and
refinancing procedures are kicked off, the management is confident
that the refinancing will be completed in around September 2025,
which would remove the primary uncertainty surrounding the going
concern assessment.

(2)
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(i) HKLoans

The management was considering various possible ways of
realizing some of its investment securities in around July or August
2025. The proceeds from the realization of securities can be used
to fully settle the HK Loans.

(i)~ Corporate note payables

Referring to paragraph (1) above, the Group is actively engaged
in discussions with the noteholder regarding the HK$370 million
corporate note which will mature in September 2025, with a view
to securing an 18-month or move extension. The noteholder,
Shandong Hi-Speed Holdings Group Limited, which is a company
listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock
code: 0412), is understood to have strong liquidity. Based on the
noteholder’s financial position, the management considers that it
is highly likely that an extension will be granted upon maturity in
around August 2025.

Conclusion

Taking into account the expected successful refinancing of the UK Loans,
the possible realization of some of the Company's investment securities
to repay the HK Loans and the probable extension to be granted by
the corporate noteholder, the management believes that the Company
remains capable of meeting its obligations and continuing its operations.
Therefore, from the management’s view, it is reasonable to prepare the
financial statements on a going concern basis.

Audit committee’s view towards the Disclaimer, and
whether the audit committee agrees with the management’s
position and basis, especially on matters involving
management’s substantial judgments

The Audit Committee (the “Committee”) has reviewed the management’s
assessment and concurs with the position that the Company remains
capable of operating on a going concern basis.

The Committee acknowledges the loan defaults disclosed and has
evaluated the likelihood of successful refinancing, particularly in relation
to the UK Loans. Based on the management’s active engagement
with reputable financial institutions and the anticipated conclusion of
refinancing arrangements in the near future, the Committee considers the
risk on going concern can be significantly mitigated.
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Regarding the HK Loans, the Committee notes that the management was
considering various possible ways of realizing some of its investment
securities to repay the HK Loans. This provides further assurance of the
Company’s ability to meet its financial obligations and reinforces the
validity of the going concern assumption.

Considering that the Company has been actively working on various
financing arrangement and in view of the above-mentioned arrangements,
the Committee agrees with the management’s judgment and believes the
financial statements can be appropriately prepared on a going concern
basis.

Zhiliang Ou
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B XBENR S

K| MOORE

To the shareholders of Aceso Life Science Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Aceso Life
Science Group Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 76 to 227, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. Because of the significance of the matters described in the “Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on
these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Scope Limitation Relating to the Going Concern Basis of
Preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Group recorded net current liabilities of HK$1,376 million as at 31 March
2025 and also reported a loss after tax of approximately HK$1,017 million.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s total bank and other borrowings and corporate
note payables amounted to HK$1,219 million and HK$505 million, respectively.
Of which, other borrowings amounting to HK$800 million have breached loan
covenants and HK$120 million of the corporate note payables have been overdue
for repayment as at 31 March 2025. As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s cash and
cash equivalent only amounted to HK$132 million.
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BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

Scope Limitation Relating to the Going Concern Basis of
Preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

On 16 April 2025, the Group received a letter of reservation of rights and a
demand letter (both dated 15 April 2025) from the agents of the lender of a
mortgage loan of the Group’s investment properties in the United Kingdom with
an aggregate outstanding principal amount of approximately GBP79 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$800 million) (the “UK Loan”) as a result of
default in repayment in full on the maturity date of 14 April 2025. The UK Loan
is secured by the Group’s investment properties located in London, the United
Kingdom, with a fair value of approximately HK$1,059 million as at 31 March
2025.

On 17 April 2025, the Group received a letter of demand from a bank claiming
for a sum of approximately HK$352 million due to failure to make punctual
repayment of a loan. The said letter of demand includes: a loan with principal
amount of HK$75 million with maturity date of 3 April 2025, and another loan
with principal amount of HK$270 million (together with the defaulted HK$75
million loan, the “HK Loans”).

The conditions described above indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, and therefore, it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.

The directors of the Company have carried out a detailed review of the cash
flow forecast of the Group for the next twelve months from the date of this report
and have undertaken plans and measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and
financial position, details of which are set out in note 1(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYRBEMRE

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION (Continued)

Scope Limitation Relating to the Going Concern Basis of
Preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis on the bases and assumptions that the plans and measures would be
successfully implemented, including the Group is able to obtain new source of
financing to replace the UK Loan, financial support from the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Group, to the extent of the residual realisation amount of a
personal property (“Charged Property”), will be obtained by the Group to settle
the HK Loans, and a corporate note holder with outstanding balance of HK$370
million (“Corporate Note Holder”) will grant an extension of repayment of the
corporate note upon maturity on 17 September 2025. The validity of the adoption
of the going concern basis depends on the successful outcome of the plans
and measures referred to above, which are subject to material uncertainties,
including: (i) negotiating with the potential lender to enter into a new loan to
repay the UK Loan; (ii) realising the Charged Property to settle the HK Loans;
(iii) negotiating with the Corporate Note Holder not to take action to demand for
immediate repayment of the corporate note on maturity and grant an extension
of repayment of the corporate note of eighteen months; and (iv) pledging or
realising the Group’s unsecured assets, to increase the working capital as and
when needed, to increase the Group’s internally generated funds.

Up to the date of this report, the Group has obtained draft term sheet from
potential lender to replace the UK Loan and letter of support from the Group’s
ultimate controlling shareholder, confirming that she will provide financial
support, up to the residual realisation amount of the Charged Property, to the
Group and will not demand for repayment of such amount until the Group has the
ability to do so.

However, no written contractual agreement from the potential lender or
confirmation from the corporate note holder that grants extension of repayment,
are available to the Group. The realisation plans of the Charged Property and the
Group’s unsecured assets are also not sufficiently detailed for us to assess their
feasibility. In these circumstances, we are unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to satisfy ourselves that the use of the going concern basis for
preparing the consolidated financial statements is appropriate.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans and measures, it
might not be able to continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise,
and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities to current assets
and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BYZRBEMRE

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) as
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and to issue an auditor’s report. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. However, because of
the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report,
we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis
for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Moore CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors
Kong Shao Fung

Practicing Certificate Number: P07996

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HERRREMERRE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—E_Rf —ENF
Notes HK$’million HK$'million
Bt 5T BEET BEBT
Revenue A 5 195 228
Cost of revenue S ONT N (105) (111)
Gross profit FE A 90 117
QOther income HEag A 6 24 49
Fair value (losses)/gains: NEE(ER), M (460) (292)
— investment properties —REME (419) (89)
— financial assets at fair value through —ARFEFEEHE A
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) ABH (AR FEHE
BESEFABR] 2
SREE (29) (24)
— financial liabilities at FVTPL —ARFEFEEHEE A
ABmzemBaE (12) 39
Other losses H b E518 7 (39) (33)
Administrative expenses THAX (114) (124)
Provision for impairment losses on financial TREEZRERE (BH
assets (expected credit losses), net EEEB) BE  FE (142) (74)
Provision for impairment losses on intangible 4 2 & B i (E B 18 B 1
assets 17 (167) -
Share of results of associates DAEEE N R EE (94) (325)
Finance costs BhE R A 8 (125) (141)
Loss hefore taxation FrRBIEE 9 (1,027) (823)
Income tax credit FriSfitf e 11 10 14
Loss for the year FRER (1,017) (809)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HREeBEmRkHMEEKER

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
—T_hEF —TF
Notes HK$’million HK$'million
Bt 5T BEET BEBT
Other comprehensive (expenses)/income ¥ fth 2 & (BAsZ) W& - &R
after tax: #®:
ltems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: T & EF P 2B o EH -
Fair value loss on investments in equity AT EFEAEHEEETA
instruments at fair value through other Em 2wl ([ARFE
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") FFE A HE st AHAM
ZHEHNE]) 2 #ERTAEEK
B2 NFEEE (84) (354)
ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss: ~ AJfEEFT D AR 187 2 HH -
Share of associates’ exchange differences on DA E N RIRE G INETE
translating foreign operation EXCZIERELE (4) ()
Exchange differences on translating foreign MEFINEREE L
operations MEH ZERR 49 (15)
Other comprehensive expenses for the year, FAEMEEMAY  RRE
net of tax (39) (373)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year SE A2 E A 2§ (1,056) (1,182)
Loss for the year attributable to: EIEFERBIR -
Owners of the Company RAmE=REAA (895) (462)
Non-controlling interests FEIE PE 2 (122) (347)
(1,017) (809)
Total comprehensive expenses BEERN2EBATEE
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company RAaE=REAA (896) (724)
Non-controlling interests FEIE PE 2 (160) (458)
(1,056) (1,182)
Loss per share BEREBIA 12
Basic (HK cents per share) AR (BB (12.44) (6.35)
Diluted (HK cents per share) BE (B (12.44) (6.35)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RaMERRERE

Asat31March2025 R-_E-—RHFE=A=+—H

2025 2024
—E_Rf —ENF
Notes HK$’million HK$'million
B 5 BEEET BEBT
Non-current assets ERBDEE
Property, plant and equipment e N 14a 172 216
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 - 18
Artworks 2907 5 14b 19 19
Investment properties KEME 16 1,065 1,458
Intangible assets EmREE 17 4 171
Interests in associates REERNa &R 18 720 798
Financial assets at FVTOCI AT EFEAHEE A
HthzEksscemEE 19 373 447
Properties for development BRERPYE 22 346 326
Finance lease receivables B E A E EUGRIE 1 -
Deferred tax assets EETIEE E 32 7 58
Other receivables and deposits HEMEBRIERET € 24 5 9
Other financial assets HEthemEE 1 1
Total non-current assets R EERE 2,713 3,521
Current assets mENEE
Inventories FE 2 2
Trade receivables B 5 WA 23 161 208
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments Ha U RIAE - 7T RTER
RIE 24 54 18
Financial assets at FVTPL IWAFEFEREEZE A
BRsemEE 25 80 119
Loan receivables FEUE K 20 M 47
Finance lease receivables B E A E R WGRIE 2 1
Corporate note receivables FEW b E 21 43 501
Pledged bank deposits BEMRITER 26 7 15
Trusted and segregated bank accounts ERERBIRITERR 26 8 4
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeEED 26 132 350
Total current assets mBEE#EE 530 1,265
Total assets HSE#RE 3,243 4,786
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HRERMBRRBR
Asat31March2025 R-ZE-—RHFE=A=+—H
2025 2024
“E-hf —E-E
Notes HK$’million HK$'million
Nz HEET BEET
Current liabilities mEBAaRE
Lease liabilities HEaE 27 11 10
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 28 1,209 1,633
Corporate note payables FERT B ERE 29 505 420
Trade payables B S EMNRIA 30 4 6
Other payables, deposits received and accruals = {th & {<F 5% 18
BUET & MIEFTRIA 31 158 129
Income tax payables FERT RIS EL 19 16
Total current liabilities mBAEER 1,906 2,214
Net current liabilities bd h=Rig: ] (1,376) (949)
Total assets less current liabilities BERERRDAR 1,337 2,572
Non-current liabilities EREBAERE
Lease liabilities HEAE 27 15 9
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFHIEEE 32 17 84
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 28 10 27
Corporate note payables ERNTERE 29 - 100
Financial liabilities at FVTPL AAFEEFEREEZ LA
Baozemafl 33 551 539
Total non-current liabilities ERBABEEE 593 759
NET ASSETS EERE 744 1,813
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
REMBRRER

Asat31March2025 R-_E-—RHFE=A=+—H

2025 2024
—E_Rf —ENF
Notes HK$’million HK$'million
B 5 BEER BEAT

(DEFICIT)/EQUITY (E#) a2
Share capital A& A< 34 73 73
(Deficit)/reserves (B34, (61) 848
12 921
Non-controlling interests AR R 2 732 892
TOTAL EQUITY gEawe 744 1,813

The consolidated financial statements on pages 76 to 227 were approved and ~ FE76ENTE v S A KR HEEZT @R —
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2025 and are signed E-RAFENA-FTEEESAETIZE S H

on its behalf by: THEEREREE -
Zhiliang Ou Fok Chi Tak
Director Director
EE -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

oagF=1 b

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE-—ZT-_HAF=-A=+—HILFE

ittt omers o e Compeny

FOTREARL
Sarebesd
Shar Sae Tewwy  opmet  Ohe PIOC T Acoumied Noroontollng Tt
wid - pemim shares R REE R S s Tod sl ey
WATES
ERARY
iTALh2
WA v
Br RORE EERG  WREE EbEE  BR AERE  ZhEE & FRER  BauE
g HiSmllon — HKSmilon  HeSmilin  BWSmilin  HAOmiln  HKSmlon  HKSmillon  HKSmiln  BKSmilin HSmilon  HSmilon
Wi FB%T FEAT BERT  BERT AEAn ABEn BEET  BEET REAT BB BB
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZBZZEZA=1-RR
ZECZERB-R 1 41t ) B! %) ) ] (2%) 15 10 250
Lossfor te et Enf = = ] &) () (009
e compehesie e o ey EREHEARR
Fervle ss o imesners nequiynsumensdl AT BB AR\ E
O 2R BRIERE,
LTEEE = ] ] ) ()
Shae of st excnge s o sy SRS R TRE RN ERE
forin opein EIENER I - i} ¢l i
Fuare dfeees oo tensiing oo B E 00 ERE 2B Y 28 (i) - (1) ) (1)
Tl cmpetersie s e EMAERREE - - ] M w m W
Transactons with equity hldes HESREARA:
Dpsddasisifayibothssimool -~ SE-EHBAARTERE
HAHEHE 0 = = 0 1 Bl |

431 Mch 204 R-BZME=A=1-H
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERBEEDR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE —

EChFE=A=+—HILFE

Atibutabl to owners of the Company

FLTRE ARG
Share-based
Sharg Share  Treasiy  payment Other ~— FVTOCI  Translation ~ Accumulated Non-contollng ~—~~ Total
opll  premim o shares  rsene reseneresewe  reseme  osses Tol ety equity
HAFEH
BARg(
HARE2
WRAER 11674
Bt RRERE EERG ARER RREE 0 BR ARGRE RHER &t FRRER  RE4E
Nogs  HKSmilion  HKSmillon  HKS'millon  HKSmillion  HKS'millon  HKSmilion  HKS'millon  HKSmilion  HKS'millon  HKSmilion RS millon
i EEET EEET EEET EEMT EEET EAET  ERMT EEET  EEET  DEET  EEMET
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZBZREZAZt-RR
ZE-mEmB-A 1 441 (13 3 ft (i) 1 I o 492 1413
Los or ey Emf - - - - - L N 7/ V1)
e comernse erss eomeloen. AR (BR)/
Fir v s o ivesners nequiyinsumensl DI AT B3 BB ARG\ E
IO t2EhE, BRTEREY
LTESE (%) - - (%) (1) (84)
Shee ol s ecnge s on sy AERE R TREENERE
o opegin FUENER i - if t] 1]
Euctange s o sy o opeons. EE S SREE 2 ERER % - % 1 [
ot competersivegerss o e ERRERLEE (%) 3 (08 (0% (60 (105
Transactons with equity holders HEgRE RS
Repuctesof s Lo fl (1) (f) (1)
31 Metch 2005 BZoREAT-A 1 44t (25) ) ft (607) () (3% 1 T L]
Note: Vo=

(@)  Certain subsidiaries of the Group purchased 119,250,000 shares of the (a)
Company from the market during the year. The total amount paid to acquire
the shares was HK$13 million and has been deducted from the shareholders’
equity. The related weighted average price at the time of buy-back was
HK$0.106 per share. No share was cancelled during the year ended 31 March

2025.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
ﬁ = iﬂﬁl)"’;

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE-—ZT-_HAF=-A=+—HILFE

2025 2024
k- Jo; - —THF
HK$’million HK$'million
BEET BEBTT
Cash flows from operating activities RBEXEMEAERE
Loss before taxation BRE I8 (1,027) (823)
Adjustments for; MUTZEELAE -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M - BB REREITE 30 37
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ﬁﬁﬁ BEETNE 13 13
Fair value losses/(gains): NEEEE () :
— investment properties —& éf IS 419 89
—financial assets at FVTPL -UNRAFEFEBEZLEA
?E s B REE 29 242
—financial liabilities at FVTPL -UNRAFEFEBEZ(LETA
BaczemAaRE 12 (39)
Finance costs A& A AR 125 141
Interest earned on corporate note receivables JE UK 1 3 S IR R ER P B, (6) (27)
Interest earned on bank deposits IRITTF R AT B (4) (8)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEWE Jﬂ%& S BB 8 -
Provision for (reversal of) impairment losses: BE BB (BE)
— intangible assets -EBEE 167 -
— financial assets (expected credit loss) -PREE (BHEEER) 142 74
— Right-of-use assets -FRAREE 26 =
Provision for liabilities arising from financial assets at AR EEBER LT AR
FVTPL B EMEEEEMNBER
8 - 27
Share of results of associates PAKILE: AN 94 325
Operating profit before working capital and other changes ‘&8 & & K H b B B i 48 &% | 28 51
Working capital and other changes %‘@é‘f&ﬁﬁﬂ“%ﬁ
Finance lease receivables @Eﬁ%ﬂ & ek (2) 1
Financial assets at FVTPL ifé?r;ﬁﬁmﬂ:?)\
TE s EREE 10 29
Inventories 7E3 1 5 2
Additions of assets held for rental and FIEHEW R ERFIEHEN
subsequently held for sale BENE (7) (25)
Loans receivables EWE R (4) 14
Other payables, deposits received, accruals and HiEf5IE EWET €
contract liabilities EEHEBRREHNEE (2) (14)
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments H b EUIR « 5T RFER
FIE (13) 13
Trade receivables 2 5 WA 9 (93)
Trade payables B 5 R 5IR (2) (7)
Cash from/(used in) operations SRS,/ (FTR) B¢ 22 27)
Income tax paid B FIEH (5) (10)
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities WEXBRE (MA)R&PHE 17 (37)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HBERERER
Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE
2025 2024
ol ey - 3 —ETMEF
HK$’million HK$'million
BHE#ET BEBT
Cash flows from investing activities BRETHRERQREE
Consideration paid for investment in an associate "E—HEERRZENKRE (20) =
Consideration paid for acquisition of a corporate note WEERKCEZE 2 ENRE
receivable - (370)
Acquisition of financial assets at FVTOCI WEAAFEFEEAEZ(EEA
H2HEKE s eREE (40) -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE - WELEH (2) (2)
Deposit refunded/(paid) for purchase of property, WEME BELEEZ
plant and equipment BR/ (ke 7 (9)
Repayment of corporate note receivables EBERERSEZEBRMENIA 351 403
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment & ¥ % - B M RE TS 08 10 =
Proceeds from disposal of associates HE# e AR TS KIA - 3
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at FVTPL HEUNAFEAZEHAEE (LA
BHZeMEEMBHRIE - 25
Proceeds from disposal of joint ventures HEEEREFGENRIEA - 2
Interest received 2 B 23 8
Withdrawal of pledged deposits BB HBER 8 15
Net cash from investing activities BRETHMERERHE 337 75
Cash flows from financing activities METHREREEE
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EERITREMEE (457) (787)
Interest paid EATHE (93) (142)
Repayment of corporate note payables EEEMNDEER (15) (52)
Advance from a director of a subsidiary RE—BHBARES ZEN - 1
Lease liabilities paid ENEEAE (14) (16)
Payment of repurchase of shares EARNPEHENE-N (13) -
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings RITREMEBEERBHRIE - 693
Proceeds from partial disposal of interests in subsidiaries 385> €5 Fif B A &4 5 1 3F 482 5k
without loss of control KPR FT 1S IR 5 420
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities BEEE(FRA) MER&RHE (587) 117
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash ReRBASEEH(RY) 1B
equivalents B8 (233) 155
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year RENZEERREEEY 350 187
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net HNEE[E R E) TR o B 15 8
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year REXRZBEQRASER/D 132 350
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents BeRB&SBHZRR
Bank and cash balances RITRRSEH 132 350
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R e M B E RN

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

General information

Aceso Life Science Group Limited (the “Company” together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) is an exempted limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, the immediate and ultimate holding company of
the Company is Asia Link Capital Investment Holdings Limited,
which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), and the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company is Ms. Li Shao Yu
(“Ms. Li"). The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY-1111, Cayman
Islands. The principal place of business in Hong Kong is Rooms
2501-2509, 25/F, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong. The ordinary shares of the Company are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of the Group include: (i) rental and sales of
construction machinery and spare parts; (i) provision of repair
and maintenance and transportation services; (iii) money lending
services; (iv) provision of asset management, securities brokerage
and other financial services; (v) property leasing and (vi) property
development.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong Dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company and rounded to the nearest million (“million”), unless
otherwise stated.

1.

—HRKEARRRE

(a)

—RRH

EHETHEEBEAR AR (X
AE EREMNBRARSEIAS
B EHREHSEMRLAER
RERRA - ARBEFERA K
NAIEEREEER AR AEEA
EERBEBRAR  ZAFREBRE
ZHE ((RBREXES]) MK
SRR REERBRR AT LF
zZt([Fxt]) - A sEi
3t A Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.0.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY-1111, Cayman
Islands - EE X B E XM RE B
V& {7 & 786-855% Xy % P /0025182501
2509Z ° RAA R 2 E AR E B
ERXRGABRAR (B £
ke

ARAH/—EREZBRAF > MA
SETZXBEE - (|ZERW
LERZHHEENEE : (MR
& RREAREH RS : ()RS R
B(EREEER BBHFELEN
Hib & @R WV EBEERV)D
RER-

ZEEeBHRERIAET (TEBT))
2 - BTTASARRNINEEE
% BREAHEAEN  HEOERA
ExEbzaBEL(TEE]D -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

1.

86

GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Aceso Life Science Group Limited

Basis of preparation

The Group incurred a net loss of HK$1,017 million during the year
ended 31 March 2025. As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$1,376 million, of
which the Group’s pledged bank deposits, trusted and segregated
bank accounts and cash and cash equivalent only amounted to
HK$7 million, HK$8 million and HK$132 million respectively
as compared to the Group’s borrowings of HK$1,209 million,
repayable within the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period. These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, the Group
may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities
in the normal course of business. The Group has developed and
implemented the following liquidity plans to address the going
concern issue:

(i) As details set out in note 28, on 16 April 2025, the Group
received a letter of reservation of rights and a demand letter
(both dated 15 April 2025) from the agents of the lender of
a mortgage loan of the Group’s investment properties in the
United Kingdom (“Agents”) with an aggregate outstanding
principal of approximately GBP79 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$800 million) (the “UK Loan”) as a result
of default in repayment in full on the maturity date of 14
April 2025 pursuant to the loan facility agreement entered
in 2018. The UK Loan carried at HK$770 million as at
year end date and is secured by the Group’s investment
properties in London, with a fair value of approximately
HK$1,059 million as at 31 March 2025. The Group is
actively negotiating with potential lenders to seek for new
financing with a loan principal amount not less than or
equivalent to approximately GBP99 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$1 billion), in order to replace the UK Loan
and maintain the working capital of the Group. Up to the date
of this report, the Group has obtained draft term sheet from
an international and sizeable financial institution for further
review and negotiation;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(if)

(iif)

As details set out in note 28, on 17 April 2025, the Group
received a letter of demand from a Hong Kong bank
claiming for two outstanding loans with an aggregated
carrying amounts of HK$352 million (the “Loans”). Based
on the letter of demand, the Group failed to make punctual
repayment of Loans. The Loans are secured by a property
located in Hong Kong with second legal charge (the
“Charged Property”) owned by Ms. Li. The Group is actively
negotiating with the bank to extend the Loans. Up to the date
of issuance of these consolidated financial statements, the
Group has obtained confirmation from Ms. Li that she will
provide financial support to the Company to repay the Loans
if the Loans are unable to be extended, limited to the sales
proceed from realising the Charged Property after settling
the first legal charge;

As details set out in note 29, a corporate note payable of
HK$370 million is due and repayable on 17 September
2025. The Group is actively negotiating with the holder of
this corporate note to grant an extension of 18 months; and

The directors of the Company is exploring any additional
financial resources available to the Group to enhance the
liquidity of the Group, including but not limited to, pledging
or realising unsecured listed or unlisted equity investments
held by the Group.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, after the
abovementioned plans and measures progressively take effect, the
financial condition of the Group will be restored and the material
uncertainties relating to going concern will be properly addressed.
The directors of the Company therefore hold the view that the Group
will have sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations
as and when they fall due for the next twelve months from 31 March
2025. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.

However, should the Group fail to implement the abovementioned
mitigation measures, the Group may not have sufficient funds to
operate as a going concern, in which case adjustments might have
to be made to the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to reclassify the non-current assets and non-
current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively,
and to provide for any further liabilities which might arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

2.

88

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 April
2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16
BRI SRS ERFE165E (IEFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 1

EH S EBIFE15R (BT A)

Amendments to HKAS 1

BB EREIR (BFIAN)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

ER G EANETRE REBMEREENBETIR (BFTE)

Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEe

B RS AR MR

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)” (the “2020 Amendments )and Amendments
to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with Covenants” (the “2022
Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
year. The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months
from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-
current, which:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the end
of the reporting period. Specifically, the classification should not
be affected by management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within twelve months.

° clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a transfer of cash,
goods or services, or the entity’s own equity instruments to the
counterparty. If a liability has terms that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s
own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 “Financial
Instruments: Presentation”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

2.

90

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)” (the “2020 Amendments”) and Amendments
to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with Covenants” (the “2022
Amendments”) (Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date which are conditional on the compliance with covenants, the 2022
Amendments specifically clarify that only covenants that an entity is
required to comply with on or before the end of the reporting period affect
the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting date, even if compliance with the covenant is assessed
only after the reporting date. The 2022 Amendments also specify that
covenants with which an entity must comply after the reporting date (i.e.
future covenants) do not affect the classification of a liability as current
or non-current at the reporting date. However, if the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying with covenants
within twelve months after the reporting period, an entity discloses
information that enables users of financial statements to understand the
risk of the liabilities becoming repayable within twelve months after the
reporting period. This would include information about the covenants,
the carrying amount of related liabilities and facts and circumstances, if
any, that indicate that the entity may have difficulties complying with the
covenants.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2.

HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

BBV BMELERNFISE BBV BREERFET (BFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
BBV BMEERNFISE KRB BT BREERIFET (BFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BBV BEHRE LA E09 REB G ERFE285 (BETR)
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards

BBV BHRE LA G LA (BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 21

BRI ERNE1R (BFTA)
HKFRS 18

BB E R 185

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
J Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
¢ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new HKFRS Accounting Standard mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO

HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements”, which
sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures in financial
statements, will replace HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”.
This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the
requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements to present specified
categories and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide
disclosures on management-defined performance measures in the notes
to the financial statements and improve aggregation and disaggregation
of information to be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition,
some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7.
Minor amendments to HKAS 7 “Statement of Cash Flows” and HKAS 33

“Earnings per Share” are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with early application
permitted. The application of the new standard is expected to affect the
presentation of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of assessing the detailed

impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

92 Aceso Life Science Group Limited  Annual Report 2024/25

2.

T P9 AT JR 4B 48 47 5 36 B W5 30
& 48 B @ & 2 B (40)

FEMBBEEABIRIMBERRD
2 R#E]

BB EER B8R (M BHRERO2
JIREEIBEEMBERRO2 R KE
BE - BRREB G ERE15R T H
R - LT BB B HREER S
At EREAT B EAFIRP SR
o WSIAFRE  BEBGERP 27
EEBRLEEN /NG EMBRERMN
APHREEEERENERIER UK
BOEM SRR PARBEENNEAR D
Beotbsh BAGHEAFIRMNE TR
EEBER BT ERESR B EMB
BELEQFER - BB ERIFETRR
EREBRNREB G EEBRERE
MIREE R EIERT

BB B % i 2E B FE185% I A XE B A
BN T _tF—A—BX2KHA
M FEEHEAER Y AFFRFEM -
EHIE R # AT E RIS & 8RR S K
RIEERH 25 R FE - AEEREF
& 7B W 7% ¥R & 4 R 35185 5 R S B 43
EUBRROABTE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial

3. REGSMBRRZEERE
KEtRERREH

31 RAGSMBERRZESE

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose
of preparation of the consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is reasonably expected
to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Listing Rules and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at the end
of each reporting period, as explained in the material accounting
policy information set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest
and best use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGSHEERCEERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL AEETRRZHE (48)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 EXEHBREH
Basis of consolidation FeaRE

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

e has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the unit
may be impaired. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBEHRRHE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGSHEERCEERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL KEETRREIHE (48)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EXEBREHE (M)

Interests in subsidiaries PHELRZESR

Interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment loss.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity method
of accounting. The financial statements of associates used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

3.

96

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an associate.
On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in

the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any objective
evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying
amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the

recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

3. MEGSHMERRCEERE
KEHBREH ()

3.2 EXEMBREH (W)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e., when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3.

98

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value
of the goods or services transferred to the customer to date relative
to the remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration in
an amount that corresponds directly with the value of the Group’s
performance completed to date, the Group recognises revenue in
the amount to which the Group has the right to invoice.

Leases
The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-valug assets
(such as tablets and personal computers, small items of office
furniture and telephones). Lease payments on short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ﬁ

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of
the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—_ZT_-_HAF=A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. RMEGAMBBRCEERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL XEtBEEH ()

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EXEBKEE (M)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and
such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties measured
under fair value model.

Interest and rental income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z= — %

3.

B RS SR R M R
CHF=AST-ALEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional currency
of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit

or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) il
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-

controlling interests as appropriate).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

3.

102 Aceso Life Science Group Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax credit represents the sum of current and deferred
income tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from (loss)/profit before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

3. MEGSHMERRCEERE
KEHBREH ()

3.2 EXEMBREH (W)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements
to the lease liabilities and the related assets separately. The Group
recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a
deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

3.

104 Aceso Life Science Group Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Borrowing costs

All'borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the allocation
of the relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold
land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated
statement of financial position except for those that are classified
and accounted for as investment properties under the fair value
model. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3. MEGSHMERRCEERE
KEHBREH ()

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

If a property becomes an investment property because its use has
changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item
(including the relevant leasehold land classified as right-of-use
assets) at the date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in revaluation reserve. On the subsequent
sale or retirement of the property, the relevant revaluation reserve
will be transferred directly to retained profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.

Artworks
Artworks are stated at cost less accumulated impairment 10ss.
Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE —

3.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (including brand
name, customer list and securities brokerage licenses) acquired in
a business combination are recognised separately from goodwill
and are initially recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost) and are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and, intangible assets other than goodwill,
and properties for development

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and properties for development to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determing the extent of the impairment loss
(if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication
that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and properties for development are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE-—ZT-_HAF=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, intangible assets other than goodwill, and
properties for development (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount.

Properties for development

Properties for development which are intended to be sold upon
completion of development are classified as non-current assets
until when development of the properties has commenced and
carried at cost less impairment. Cost is determined on a specific
identification basis including allocation of the related development
expenditure incurred and where appropriate, borrowing costs
capitalised.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a

group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE —

3.

EChFE=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course
of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured as at FVTOC:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE-—ZT-_HAF=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #ﬁ

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of
an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

3.

110 Aceso Life Science Group Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(if)

(i)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the FVTOCI
reserve; and are not subject to impairment assessment. The
cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit or
loss on disposal of the equity investments, and will continue
to be held in the FVTOCI reserve.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the “other
gains and losses” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. ﬁ

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade receivables,
loan receivables, corporate note receivables, other receivables
and deposits, and bank balances) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—_ZT_-_HAF=A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. RMEGAMBBRCEERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL XEtBEEH ()

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EXEBKEE (M)
&M T A (i)
THEE (&)

AEE-—BEREZRUERERE
HEHREERR -

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

HRFAAEMTIE  AEEFEH
BREHSZN2EAFRREREE -

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12-month EGL, unless there has been a significant

increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the BRIFBVIREREEERMABEEIT
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime m-RyEERT  AEEERAEH

BHEEERE ~OERERZEE
HHGTE%E B RHE JO AR B i i

w0 A PR A B 4 2 R BE ME SRR EY
%E%i‘bﬂ >

ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk iy EERREZEM
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased R G BVIREREEERR

significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE-—ZT-_HAF=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #ﬁ

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

e existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk
of default, (ii) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of
“investment grade” as per globally understood definitions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

3.

114 Aceso Life Science Group Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(1)

(if)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBEHRRHE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HRGSHMERRCEERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL KSR REIE (1)

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
gvent;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE —

3.

EChFE=A=+—HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or 10ss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on
trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience and forward
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are denominated
in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign currency and
translated at the spot rate at the end of each reporting period.
Specifically:

° For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are
not part of a designated hedging relationship, exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other
gains and losses’ line item as part of the net foreign
exchange gains/(losses);

e  For financial assets measured at FVTPL that are not part of
a designated hedging relationship, exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the ‘Other gains and losses'
line item as part of the gain/(loss) from changes in fair value
of financial assets;

e For equity instruments measured at FVTOCI, exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive income
in the fair value through other comprehensive income/
revaluation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGSHEERCEERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL AEETRRZHE (48)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EXEBREE (M)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRLT A ()
Financial liabilities THEE

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies, (ii) held for trading or (i)
it is designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including bank and other borrowings, corporate
note payables, trade payables and, other payables and deposits
received are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

In the application of the Group’s material accounting policy information,
which are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.

Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both

current and future periods.
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

Control over HTICI Group

HTICI is a subsidiary of the Group although the Group has less than
majority of the ownership interest and voting rights in HTICI. HTICI is
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in (i) securities investment; (ii) provision of securities
brokerage and financial services; (iii) asset management; (iv) rental and
sales of trading of construction machinery and spare parts; (v) provision
of repair and maintenance and transportation services; (vi) property

development; and (vii) money lending.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s shareholding
in HTICI decreased from 47.4% to 29.02% after the disposal of shares
of HTICI which was completed on 17 QOctober 2023, details of which are
set out in Note 40. The directors of the Company reassessed whether
the Group continues to have control over HTICI as the decrease in the
shareholding interests of the Group in HTICI indicates that there are
changes to the elements of control over HTICI. The reassessment of
control was based on whether the Group has the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of HTICI and its subsidiaries (“HTICI Group”)
unilaterally. In making the judgment, the directors of the Company
considered various factors, including the Group’s absolute size of
holdings, the relative size and dispersion of other shareholders’ holdings,
attendances and voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings, and
relevant voting arrangements with certain shareholders of HTICI. After
reassessment, the directors of the Company concluded that the Group
continues to have sufficiently dominant voting interest in HTICI to direct
the relevant activities of HTICI Group and therefore the Group continues to

have control over HTICI Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE —

4.

EChFE=A=+—HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION (CONTINUED)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Control over HTICI Group(Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s shareholding in HTICI was 29.05%.
The directors of the Company consider there is no material change in the
shareholding of HTICI as well as their control power over HTICI Group.

Going concern and liquidity

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, apart from
those involving estimations, management has prepared the consolidated
financial statements on the assumption that the Group will be able to
operate as a going concern basis, which is a critical judgment that has
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements. The assessment of the going concern assumption involves
making a judgment by the directors of the Company, at a particular point
of time, about the future outcome of events or conditions which are
inherently uncertain. The directors of the Company consider that the Group
has the capability to continue as a going concern and the major events
or conditions, which may give rise to business risks, that individually or
collectively may cast significant doubt upon the going concern assumption
are set out in note 1(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Fair value measurement of financial instruments

As at 31 March 2025, certain of the Group’s financial assets classified
at FVTOCI and FVTPL are unlisted and measured at fair values with fair
values being determined based on significant unobservable inputs using
valuation techniques. Judgment and estimation are required in establishing
the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof.
Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could result in material
adjustments to the fair values of these instruments. See note 37 for further
disclosures.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables
which are not assessed individually using a provision matrix. The
provision rates are based on aging of debtors as groupings of various
debtors taking into consideration the Group’s historical default rates and
forward-looking information that is reasonable, supportable and available
without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking

information are considered.

The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are

disclosed in notes 23 and 36, respectively.

Provision of ECL for loan and interest receivables and
corporate note receivables

Management regularly reviews the impairment assessment and
gvaluates the ECL of the loan and interest receivables and corporate note

receivables.

Appropriate impairment allowance is recognised in profit or loss. In
assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the reporting date with the risk perceived at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the loan and interest
receivables from borrowers and corporate note receivables are assessed
individually by the management of the Group, based on the financial
background, financial condition and historical settlement records,
including past due dates and probability of default, of each borrower
and reasonable and supportable forward-looking information (such as
macroeconomic factors including Gross Domestic Product (“GDP”)
growth and unemployment rate with adjustment on different scenarios of
gconomic environment prospect) that is available without undue cost or

effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision of ECL for loan and interest receivables and
corporate note receivables (Continued)

Each borrower is assigned a risk grading under internal credit ratings,
with reference to its individual external credit rating where available, to
calculate the ECL, taking into consideration of the estimates of expected
cash shortfalls which are driven by the estimates of probability of
default and the amount and timing of cash flows that are expected from
foreclosure on the collateral (if any) less the costs of selling the collateral.
At every reporting date, the financial background, financial condition and
historical settlement records of each borrower are reassessed and changes
in the forward—looking information are considered. The management
further assesses the amount of exposure of default by assessing the
potential loss in view of the credit risk on credit-impaired loan and interest
receivables to which the Group is exposed and enables the Group to
take appropriate corrective actions promptly. In assessing the amount of
exposure of default, the Group takes into account the timing of cash flows
that are expected from foreclosure on the collateral less the costs of selling
the collateral. The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.

The information about the ECL and the Group’s loan receivables
and corporate note receivables are disclosed in notes 20, 21 and 36
respectively.

Estimated impairment of an associate

As at 31 March 2025, one of the associates, CESIZ (Cambodia) Co.,
Ltd (“CESIZ”), owns a land in a special economic zone approved by
the Council of Ministers (the “Special Economic Zone”) with a size of
17,252,519 square meters at Koh Kong Province, Cambodia (the “Project
Land”). In view the Project Land is located in a developing country which
may be affected by the global economic challenges, the Group performed
impairment assessment on the Project Land and the Group’s interest in
this associate. Determining whether impairment loss should be recognised
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the relevant associate
which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Estimated impairment of an associate (Continued)

In assessing the recoverable amount of the Group’s interest in this
associate, the management considered the net realizable value on the
Project Land as the source of proceeds from the ultimate disposal of the
investment.

The information about the impairment assessment of the associate is
disclosed in note 18.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, properties for development and intangible
assets

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation/amortisation and
impairment, if any; Properties for development are stated at costs less
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group
has to exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the
asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported
by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net present
value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued
use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow projections
and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use assets),
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the assets belongs, including allocation of corporate assets
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be established,
otherwise recoverable amount is determined at the smallest group of
cash-generating units, for which the relevant corporate assets have
been allocated. Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the discount rates, future selling prices and future construction costs or
the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amounts.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and properties for development
subject to impairment assessment were HK$172 million, nil and
HK$346 million, respectively (2024: HK$216 million, HK$18 million
and HK$326 million, respectively). Impairment losses of nil, HK$26
million and nil, respectively, have been recognised (2024: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, properties for development and intangible
assets (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of intangible assets (with
indefinite useful lives) was HK$4 million (2024: HK$171 million) and
impairment of HK$167 million was provided during the year ended 31
March 2025 (2024 nil).

Details of the impairment assessment of intangible assets are disclosed in
note 17.

Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair values based on the valuation
performed by independent professional valuers (the “Valuers”) not
connected with the Group. The determination of the fair values involve
certain assumptions of market conditions. In determining the fair values,
the Valuers have based on method of valuations which involve certain
unobservable inputs including, among other factors, capitalisation rate,
discount rate and comparable transaction price used in the valuations as
set out in note 16.

In relying on the valuation reports, the directors of the Company have
exercised their judgments and are satisfied that the assumptions used in
the valuations are reflective of the current market conditions. Changes
to these assumptions would result in changes in the fair values of the
Group’s investment properties and the corresponding adjustments to the
amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of the Group’s investment
properties is HK$1,065 million (2024: HK$1,458 million).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ga—"_A

9.

B RS AR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z= — %

“HF=ZA=T—RLFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a)

Description of segments and principal activities

Information reported to the board of directors, being the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM”), for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on
types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8 Operating
Segments are as follows:

(i)

Rental and sales of construction machinery and spare parts
business: The Group offers crawler cranes of different
sizes, other mobile cranes, aerial platforms and foundation
equipment in its construction machinery rental fleet in Hong
Kong. The Group also sells construction machinery and
spare parts in Hong Kong and Macau.

Provision of repair and maintenance and transportation
service business: The Group provides repair and
maintenance services for construction machinery, in
particular the crawler cranes, in Hong Kong. The Group
also provides transportation services which include local
container delivery, construction site delivery and heavy
machinery transport in Hong Kong.

Money lending business: The Group holds money lending
licenses and offers mortgaged loan and personal loan
businesses in Hong Kong.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

126 Aceso Life Science Group Limited

Description of segments and principal activities
(Continued)

(iv)  Provision of asset management, securities brokerage and
other financial service business: The Group holds Securities
and Future Commission licenses for conducting type 1
(dealing in securities), type 4 (advising on securities) and
type 9 (asset management) regulated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance and provides a wide range
of financial services in Hong Kong.

(v)  Property leasing business: The Group holds a commercial
property in London, the United Kingdom (the “UK"), for
leasing.

(vi)  Property development business: The Group holds properties
for development in Malaysia through a subsidiary.

Segment profit or loss

There were no intersegment sales during the years. No operating
segments have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

The CODM makes decisions according to operating results of each
segment. No analysis of segment asset and segment liability is
presented as the CODM does not regularly review such information
for the purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment. Therefore, only segment revenue and segment results
are presented.

The segment profit or loss for the reportable segments provided to

the CODM and reconciliation to loss before taxation for the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 are as set out below:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARSEBEE (48)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment profit or loss (Continued) (b) #WBIRE (M)
2025
k. k-
Provision
of asset
Rental and  Provision of management,
salesof  repair and securities
construction  maintenance brokerage
machinery and Money  and other
and spare transportation lending  financial ~ Property  Property
pats  semices  services  services  leasing development Total
RitgE
BEBRR RUKER EE.
FRSHER  REUR EHELR
R¥E  EWRE  HEEE ZNLBEE 0 WEEE  WEIR #t
EHET EHET EHET EHET EHET ERET  BRET
KRS million ~ KKS million KRS million ~ HKS million  HKS million  HKS million  HKS million
Segment revenue FHEA
External revenue HRIA 128 § 1 10 50 - 195
Seqment resuls before the following tems;  FER M TR BRI 2 D HELE - 32 3 3 5 i - 90
- Depreciaton il (29) (1) - - - = (30)
~ Fair value losses of investment -RENEZATEER
properties - - - = (#19) - (#19)
~Reversalof (mpairment osses) of -~ 4 REEHEDE/(H8)
financial assets (expected credit (BHBEEFR)
lossts) 8 = (56) - - - (4)
- Impaiment loss on -HEEE:
- infangible asset ~BYEE (167) - - - : 8 (167)
- right-of-use assls -RREEE (26) - - - - - (26)
~Interest income ~FEHA - - 2 4 - - 6
- Finance costs ~BERK 3) = (1) - (29) - (29)
Segment results GRS (185) 2 (52) 9 (397) - (623)
Unallocated: R
~ Other income —EflA 18
- Fair valug losses of financial assis and  — AT EFEEEZ {3 A
financial lsilites of FVTPL EE/eBEERSRB
EzATEER (")
- Other losses -EBR (13)
- Adminisratve expenses ~IBAX (M)
- Depreciaton il (13)
- Impairment losses of financial assets ~ —SREEFEFE
(eupected oredt losses) (BHEEER) (%)
~ Share ofresuls of associaes -AEBERTER (%4)
- Finance costs ~BERA (%)
Loss befoe taxaion RHAER (1,027)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REM BRI T
Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE T -—RAF=—A=+—HBILFE
5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. IMARZEBEE ()
(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment profit or loss (Continued) (b) SEBIES ()
204
“TIRE
Provision
of asset
Provision of management,
Rental and sales ~ repair and securities
of construction maintenance and brokerage and
machineryand  transportation  Money lending  other financial Property
Spare parts SeIvices Services ] servioes Property leasing  development Total
RREE
\ _ BB
2EBRRE REGER EREER
BRSEE RENE  EbdEE ) |
Ehee EGES MEEB 8§ 030E yEEE 4
BEET  BEET BEET BEET BEET BEET  BEEL
MSmilion— HKSmillon - HkSmillion— HKSmillion— AKSmillon - MKSmilion - HKS milion
Segment revenue SHBEA
External revenue SIRIA 157 6 4 7 5 - 08
Segment resuls before the folowing tems: MBS LA T 5 1BR1 2 5 %4 61 3 1 1 4 - 108
- Depreciaton - (28) 1) - - - - (29)
~ Fair valug losses of investment -RENE ATEEE
properties D - - - = (69) - (69)
- Impairment losses of inancia assets ~ ~SBEEFESE
(expected credt losses) EHEEER) - = (69) - - - (68)
- Intrest income -HERA 1 - - 4 - - 5
- Finance cos's -BEAA (4 - (1) - (29) - (30)
Seqment results pEIES 30 2 (88) 5 (1) - (1)
Unallocated: R
- Other income LN ) u
- Fairvalue lossesof finencial assets and  — AR TE € A AR {rar \
fnancial bt of FVTPL B /EMEERERAG
ZATERR )
- Other losses -EpER (33)
- Admiristative expenses -IBRxX (63
- Deprecietion il 21)
- Reversal of impairment losses of o
firncia assels expecedcredit— —SREEBERE
loss) (BHERER BO 14
- Share f esults ofassociaes -ABENAXE (325)
- Finance costs -BENK (1)
Loss before taxation REAER (623)
The material accounting policies of the operating segments are RS ERE B e IR B RS
the same as the Group’s material accounting policies described in Tl AN EREES T KREHER
note 3. Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit eared by/loss DEEF (B8 ) 5 % 45 26 BT BEER
from each segment without allocation of central administration Ba KB BRD R RITE
costs, directors’ emoluments, share of results of associates, central KA - EES - FE(HBEE N T %
other income, central other losses, fair loss of financial assets PN === = o 1 NG = = = o =
and financial liabilities of FVTPL and central finance costs. This is EFE AN FEESERBEE (LA
the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource BRZemEENSREBEEER
allocation and performance assessment. PR EKA o It A AERD B &
FEFELENRAETEZERRA
WMEMFTERZE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. IMARZEHES (#8)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment profit or loss (Continued) (b) SEBIRE ()
2025
ok 33
Provision
Provision of of asset
Rental and repair and management,
salesof  maintenance securities
construction and Money  brokerage and
machinery and transportation lending  other financial Property Property
spare parts services Services services leasing  development  Unallocated Total
RitEE
BEARR RUKER EE.B%
RS  REUR ERREfM

HERAE EWEE HERE 0 GRBE  WEEE  WERR b3 &
HKS'million ~ HKS'million ~ HKS'million  HKS'million ~ HKS'million  HKS'million  HK$'million  HKS'million
BREET HRET 2 HRET 2 HEET 2 HEET 2 ERET 2HRET ERET

Amounts ncluded n he SAPBERE2EE:

measure of segment
profitor loss:
Deprecifion il o) 1 - - - - 13 Ik
(Reverseloimpaiment S HEERE (D) /B ®) - 56 - - - 9 1
losses of inancie assfs (BHEERR)
(expected credit loss)
Finances cos's BERT 3 - 1 - 2 - % 125
04
“Z-QE
Provision of asset
Provision of management,
Rental and sales Tepair and securiies
of consruction maintenance and Money  brokerage and
machineryand — transportation lending ~ other financial Property
spare parts Sevices SeIvices sevices  Property leasing — cevelopment  Unallocated Total
BEMAR RELER BE - 5
BRZE  RENUR BUREM

HEREE BERE HERE  2BRE  WEAE  DEER AR @t
HKS million HKS million HKS million HKS million HKS million HKS million HKS million HKS million
BE®T EBBT  AEET  EEAT  BERT  BEAn BEER BEER

Amounts ncluded n he HAPBERTEZEE:

meastre o seqment
proftorloss:
Depreciaion il » 1 - - - - 21 5
(Reversalofimpaiment~~ SREEFE(EE)/EX - - ) - - - (14 74
losses o irencial asses (BHEEFR)
(expected credit loss)
Finances costs RARMK 4 - 1 - % - M 14
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE T -—RAF=—A=+—HBILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARSEBEE (8)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Geographical information (c) WMEZEH
The geographical information about the Group’s revenue from EAASEBINIRPAERA (2
external customers by location of operations and the non-current KEWEE D) ARIERBEE (&
assets other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets in BMTHE) RELERBEERINBE
which the assets are physically located is detailed below: BT 2HEERFMRMAT
Revenue Non-current assets
KA EREEE
For the year ended 31 March As at 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE ®»=B=+—H
2025 2024 2025 2024

ZE-hE —T_NF ZEZRFE —_T_UF
HK$’million HK$'million ~ HK$’million HK$'million
BE#EST BELET BEEBRT BEST

Hong Kong B 145 174 202 418
UK 4 50 54 1,080 1,473
Malaysia Bk - - 346 326
Cambodia RIS - - 700 798
195 228 2,328 3,015
(d) Information about major customers (d RAREEERZEH
During the year, the aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s FANAEBRREFERMAE
five largest customers was approximately 34.6% of the Group’s WA H) BN & BRI A #34.6%(=
total revenue (2024: approximately 37.4%). T ZPOF : 49374%) ©
The external customer which contributed over 10% of the total BHE_Z-_hFR-_T-_NF=H
revenue of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 =+—HLEFE BMMEAEEZ
is as follows: WABBEIO% 2 INBEF T -
2025 2024
k- S - 3 —TmE
HK$’million HK$'million
BEET BEBT
Customer A (note) AR P (FiTsE) 21 28
Note: it represents one of the customers from the segment of rental Mzt EEEERERERTSHEER
and sales of construction machinery and spare parts. HEEBHNEP 2 — o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARSZEBEHHE (1]8)
(CONTINUED)
(e) Revenue summary (e) WABE
Disaggregated revenue hy segments SR EBUA
For the year ended 31 March 2025 B2 FE-_AF=A=+—HIFF
E
Segments
28
Provision
Provision of of asset
Rental and repair and management,
salesof  maintenance securities
construction and Money hrokerage and
machinery and transportation lending other financial Property
spare pars services services services leasing Total
BEBER ROEMERR REEEEE
fiRsH BURERR BHBERR
HERAE % BERE  HEREE nERR #it

HK$'million ~ HKS'million ~ HK$'million ~ HK$'million ~ HK$'million  HKS'million
HEET HEET HEET HEET HEET HEET

Sales of construction machineryand ~ BE#H K

spare parts BRSHHE 2 - - - - 2
Repair and maintenance and BERREUREDR

fransportation service income BRA = b - - - b
Commission income genrated from ~ BEEE » BHLLR

asset management, securites EteRRBEL

brokerage and other financial GEL/ON

Services - - - 1 - 1
Rental of construction machingry BERHAZNA 106 - - - - 106
Leasing of investment properties REAMFRERA - - - - 50 50
Interest income from money lending ~ EFIBMA - - 1 - - 1
Interest income from margin RELHEMSHA

financing = - - 9 - 9

128 b 1 10 50 195

Timing of revenue recognition LON HlEH
At point in time RE-FR% 2 - - 1 - 2
Over time EEE 106 ) 1 9 50 172
Total o 128 ) 1 10 50 195
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE T -—RAF=—A=+—HBILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. IMARZEBEE ()
(CONTINUED)
(e) Revenue summary (Continued) (e) W AHIE(#8)
Disaggregated revenue hy segments (Continued) SR EBUA (H8)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BHEr—F-mFE=FA=+—HIF

132 Aceso Life Science Group Limited

E
Segments
Gk
Provision
0f asset
Provision of management,
Rental and sales repair and securities
of construction ~ maintenance and Money  brokerage and
machineryand transportation lending ~ other financial
spare parts services services services  Property leasing Total
BERNR REZERR RUEEER
BRZH BNRESR ERELRE
HERHEE % HERE  teBRE nERE &t
HK$million HK$ million HK$million HK$'million HK$ million HK$million
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT
Sales of construction machineryand ~ EBEEH K
spare parts BRETHEE Al - - - - A
Repair and maintenance and EERFENRERR
transportation service income BRA = b = = - b
Commission income generated from ~ ZEEE » EHLLR
asset management, securities At eBREEE
brokerage and other financial GETION
Sevices = = = 1 = 1
Rental of construction machingry RERBASUA 136 - - - - 136
Leasing of investment properties RENERERA - = - . 54
Interest income from money lending —— AEF S M = - 4 - -
Interest income from margin RESHEMNSHA
financing = - - b - 6
157 6 4 7 5 28
Timing of revenug recognition LON 55
Ata point in time RE-EEY Al - - 1 - 2
Over time 35 136 b b 5 206
Total & 157 b 4 7 5 28
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(e)

Revenue summary (Continued)
Disaggregated revenue by segments (Continued)

Performance obligations information about the Group’s revenue is
summarised below:

(@) Revenue from contracts with customers

(i) Sales of construction machinery and spare parts

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the products and payment is generally due within
0-30 days from delivery.

(i) Repair and maintenance and transportation services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
from 0-30 days from the date of billing.

(iif) -~ Commission income generated from asset management,
securities brokerage and other financial services

Commission income from asset management and
other financial services are recognised as income in
accordance with the terms of the relevant agreement;
commission income from dealing in securities are
recognised on a trade date basis.

9.

AR5 EBEH ()
(e) WrAME (#)
DF S WA (1)

BEREAEBRANBHOEEZEHR
B n

@) BEPAKUWA
() ERERWLERZTMHE
=

=

BOBEERERRMEH
BT BB — R KA
1&0-30KR A 32

(i) #HERERENLERR
U

BAEEERERBED
b5 fE) HE RS T B 77 I 3K
HR-—BRFAAKREZ
H #0-30K °

(i) BEEER BHFLLR
Hib & B ARG EL 2
WA

BEEEEREMERR
BEL 2MeBWARE
18 B 1p ik R X T AR AR IR
AN EERPEEZR
TWARR B E LR

27
E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 9.

(CONTINUED)
(e) Revenue summary (Continued)
Disaggregated revenue by segments (Continued)
(b)  Revenue from other sources
() Rental of construction machinery
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. The Group leased own machinery
to third parties for a period of one to three months
and payment is generally due from 0-30 days from
the date of billing.

(i)  Leasing of investment properties

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

(i) Interest income from money lending and margin
financing

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRMT
Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE
6. OTHER INCOME 6. HtkA
2025 2024
HK$ million HK$m|II|on
BEET BEET
Interest earned on: AT RBERIZAE
— corporate note receivables “ERG(ER ] 27
— bank deposits —RITEHK 4 8
Rental income from warehouses EEASKA 4 5
Others Hit 10 9
24 49
7. OTHER LOSSES 7. HMEHE
2025 2024
ZE_RE —TomE
HK$’million HK$'million
BEEER BEAT
Foreign exchange losses SME 518 5 6
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HENE BELREEZER
equipment 8 _
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets ERAEEE 2 RERE (ME17@)
(note 17(a)) i 26 -
Provision for liabilities arising from financial NTFEFEAEE ‘;M:Jr)\?ﬁ G
assets at FVTPL (note (a)) ﬁﬂé??imLV%ﬁ
(PR 5% (a)) - 2
39 33
Note: ke
(a)  The provision for liabilities arising from financial assets at FVTPL (a) AFEAEBEEE T ARRZZ®
represented the provision on the legal dispute with the fund manager Hﬁé?? EHEERBREREAEZE -2

who handled the unlisted debt instruments held by the Group during
the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023.

Based on the agreement signed with the fund manager, the Group was
liable to pay a total of HK$27 million to the fund manager as part of
the handling charge of the instruments; such liabilities had previously
been netted off from the carrying amount of the financial assets at
FVTPL as disclosed in note 25 as at 1 April 2023.

CCER-E-_=H=A=+—HIt
FEHMEREAEEMFIELEME
BTANESEREAZHENEZAUD
B -

REBAESEEARITNGZ A&
EEAESE @Aiﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ%%
T ERZETANBOFEE M
MIFE25FT IR EE - RERBEERN T _=
FHOA-—BBURAFEFEBRZE (L
FABmZEREERTET K -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

1.

8.

OTHER LOSSES (CONTINUED) 7. HMEE (48)
Note: (Continued) BEeE - (A&)
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group had a legal dispute RBE-_ZE-_MF=F=+—HBI1LF
with the fund manager, where the fund manager asked for settlement of EHE AEEEESEEARLEE
HK$27 million while the Group counter argued the fund manager had B ESBTBEAZKRGERIEES
been mishandling the unlisted debt instruments, accordingly the Group T MASEEREBEESETEAYIE
was seeking for refund of the original investment cost of HK$7 million ITHEBRIAEETYE At E
and waiver of the handling charge of HK$27 million. In August 2023, EREERBRENRNTBEEETALRR
the Group won the case during the first trial, but the fund manager NEEBTINFEE -ZTE_=FN
appealed to the court which overturned the original verdict in January A RXEEBR—FBFEBF BEER
2024. ARERELR EF - EZER ZZ =N
F—AHBTRH -
Based on the legal advice, the Group would probably lose the case. BRBLEER TEBBAEMGF-E
Given the economic downturn in the PRC debt market, the directors REFBEEBMSLEETITRR  AAH
of the Company considered that the Group is not able to realise the EERRAEEEENAERRRE
unlisted debts instruments in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the WIFLMEF LR - At - AEEEH
Group had written down the fair value of the unlisted debts instruments ZELTTEBIACAFERRL S
as zero and made a provision of HK$27 million in relation to the T URREBEE—ZT-_NF=A=+—
handling charges during the year ended 31 March 2024. HiIEFEHHNFEEREIaSAT
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group has appealed to the HE—_Z-_AF=-A=+—HLFE "
court and the appeal verdict failed. The Group has further appealed AEBEBERARIEL EFF - EFHR
to the court in May 2025 and up to the date of this report, the appeal KR - REEBR-ZZE-ZRAFHEABR
verdict has not been given. Therefore, no change in the provision mAEBL R E5F BEARESBH
amount for the year ended 31 March 2025. HIREMATE - A - HE=2-ZFT—-A
FZAZT+—BLEFENBESEY
FINANCE COSTS 8. BRE
2025 2024
ol Sl - 3 —E-E
HK$’million HK$'million
BRET BEET
Interest expenses arising from: NTEEZMERRE -
— bank and other borrowings —RITRHEMEE 74 89
— corporate note payables —ERTERE 49 53
— Iease liabilities —HEBRE 1 1
Exchange difference on borrowings BEZELZRE 1 )
125 141
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

9. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

This is stated at after charging/(crediting) the following:

9. FRMAIEGIR
B TYAEBGEA) AT & BB -

2025 2024
—E_RF —ETMEF
HK$’million HK$'million
BEEET BEABT
Auditor's remuneration 1% A B 4 2
Cost of inventories sold (included in cost = &EFE &M A (Ff AW ABKA)
of revenue) 16 20
Depreciation e
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BB MR ETE
equipment 30 37
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREEENE 13 13
Total depreciation mEBE 43 50
Less: depreciation of property, plant B WE - BB RREITER
and equipment included in cost AU AR AR
of revenue (28) (29)
15 21
Direct operating expenses from REMEMEEZBERKERY
investment properties 35 39
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME  BELRXEER 2
plant and equipment B 8 -
Staff costs (including director’s ETRA(BRESH:) :
remuneration):
— Salaries, bonuses and allowances — ¥ - TBALRRRL 88 84
— Retirement benefit scheme —RRBAFT B R
contributions 2 2
Total staff cost BB TRKA 90 86
Less: staff cost included in cost of B B TG AWRARK AR
revenue (41) (39)
49 47
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
EMOLUMENTS AND BENEFITS

(a)

138 Aceso Life Science Group Limited

The emoluments of each director are as follows:

10. EERFETHRARBZHER

ia F1

(a) SESEZHMLWMT :

2025
k- Jo 3
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme Share-hased
Fees inkind contributions payments Total
e BE BHET KB iR
e REDEH HEEHR EIAGR st
Notes HK$’'million HK$’million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
/s BHEET EHEET DEET HEET BHEET
Executive directors BITES
Dr. Zhiliang Ou, J.P. BEREL A¥SHT - 1.0 - - 1.0
Fok Chi Tak EhE - 4.8 - - 4.8
- 5.8 - - 5.8
Non-executive director FUTES
Jiang Yang ZH () - 0.3 - - 0.3
Independent non-executive ~ BWIAFHTES
directors
Chan Ming Sun, Jonathan oo 0.3 - - - 0.3
Mak Yiu Tong BB 0.3 - - - 0.3
Lam Kwan Sing MEH 0.2 - - - 0.2
0.8 - - - 0.8
Senior consultant =iRERN
Ms. Li Shao Yu ThFEat (if) - 13.2 - - 13.2
Total #E 0.8 19.3 - - 20.1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 10 EEREFEFTRARBZCHER
EMOLUMENTS AND BENEFITS (CONTINUED) TaFl (48)
(a) The emoluments of each director are as follows: (a) BEEEZME&WMT : (&)

(Continued)

2024
—EomE
Salaries,  Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme  Share-based
Fees inkind  contributions payments Total
He 28 RIKEF PARR (D
e REVEHN HEAHER FAEK @at
Notes ~ HK$million  HK$million  HK$million ~ HK$'million  HK$million
fiix BEET BEET BEST BEAT BEAT
Executive directors BITES
Xu Haiying TR (i) - 05 - - 05
Dr. Zhiliang Ou, J.P. BEREL ATHL - 06 - - 06
Fok Chi Tak ELE - 47 - 03 5
- 58 - 03 6.1
Independent non-executive ~ BWIFRTEE
directors
Chan Ming Sun, Jonathan 3¢ 02 - - - 02
Mak Yiu Tong ERE 02 - - - 02
Lam Kwan Sing MEH 02 - - - 02
06 - - - 06
Senior consultant BRER
Ms. Li Shao Yu FPFLL (i) - 13.2 - - 132
Total Y 0.6 19.0 - 03 199

FRHTEECHMe I ERBEREREAR
ARAEBERRERRE 2ME - i3k
HOTEENHE T ZANEERRARARA
SESEHBHENRS - LABIYIERTES
ZHET2AREREERALAERRKIEHR
R 2B

The executive directors” emoluments shown above were mainly
for their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The non-executive director’s
emoluments shown above were mainly for her services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and
the Group. The independent non-gxecutive directors” emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE T -—RAF=—A=+—HBILFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 10.

EMOLUMENTS AND BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(a) The emoluments of each director are as follows:
(Continued)

Notes:

(i) Ms. Jiang Yang was appointed as non-executive director of the
Company on 3 December 2024.

(i) Ms. Li Shao Yu is a controlling shareholder of the Company.

(i)~ Mr. Xu Haiying resigned as executive director of the Company
on 23 February 2024.

(b) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
one (2024: one) was the director of the Company and one (2024:
one) was the senior consultant of the Company, whose emoluments
are included in the disclosure set out in Note 10(a). The
emoluments of the remainder of the five highest paid individuals
except for the director and senior consultant are as follows:

ESRIETHRARBZHE&R
ia ¥ (48)

(a)

(b)

SEEZHMeMT : ()

B 2

() Z=FwETR-_FT-_NFE+-F=
AEZATARRAIIERNITES -

(i) ZFOLFREBARNAEBAR °

(i) HFEBEXER_ZTE_IF_A
—+ZHBEARARNTES -

AEFHESZENST

EREEFHES AR ENET
B —R(CZEZNF:—R)A
ARBIEF Z—H(CTE-_WF:
— %) RARBSHER EME
B BT 0@ EEF -
BREFELRSHRERN  EHBRRUHF
Mm@ E TMET

2025 2024

—EBE_RFE —E-NE

HK$’million HK$'million

BEET BEBT

Salaries, allowances and benefits inkind ¥4 - 3285 R B @5 7 7
7 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

11.

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 10. i;&igﬁi&kﬁzwﬂﬁ&
EMOLUMENTS AND BENEFITS (CONTINUED) & ¥ (48)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) () EEFHMESZENRI (E)
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e N F Ty ER :
2025 2024
—ZE_RF —ETNEF
HK$1,000,001—HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017% 7t—1,500,0007% 7T 2 2
HK$4,500,001—HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 7T-5,000,0007% T 1 1
3 3
During the year ended 31 March 2025, no emoluments were paid BHE_T-_AF=A=+—HIEHF
by the Group to the directors of the Company or the five highest B AEEYEMAAFESSA
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the HEHENES2E@ARE TS -
Group or as compensation for loss of office (2024: nil). There was YER AR S B 3k A B 2 85X 3k
no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive BEREE (T _NF  E) A=
any emoluments during the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: nil). TE-RF=ZA=t+—HIEFE "
MEEENEIREREZEEAHS
ZEH(ZEZNE - |) o
INCOME TAX CREDIT 11. AR IRES®
2025 2024
ot Sy - 3 —E
HK$’million HK$'million
BEEET BEBTT
Current income tax BVEAFT1S &1
— Current year —RFEE
— Hong Kong —&8 (3) (4)
- UK — B (4) (3)
() )
Deferred tax (note 32) EIEFTSHL (F15E32)
— Current year —RFEE 17 21
10 14
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONTINUED) 1. FAiRES ()

The reconciliation between the income tax credit and the product of loss
before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong profits tax rate is as follows:

TR BERT

AEBERMERABERY R ZHERL
BRIREABRMNEHBRELE ZEW

2025 2024
k- ok - 3 —TomE
HK$’million HK$'million
BEET BEAT
Loss before income tax BRETSHAIER (1,027) (823)
Add: Share of results of associates m: DB ERREE 94 325
(933) (498)
Calculated at a tax rate of 16.5% (2024: E165%HEFE(Z T ZmEF -
16.5%) 16.5%) (154) (82)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries HEthrlZEEHBRARRERR 2
operating in other jurisdictions 4 (7) (4)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes TRHIB A X 52 50
Tax effect of deductible temporary difference  REER AT T E RS (=58
not recognised opizhy 3% 23 12
Income not subject to tax BARBWA (10) (2)
Tax loss for which no deferred income tax AERBELEREN SR HBER
amount was recognised 40 12
Derecognition of tax loss recognised in prior ~ £% | FERBEF EERNRIBEE
years 46 -
Income tax credit TSIk e (10) (14)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%,
and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong Kong
profit tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first
HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the
gstimated assessable profits above HK$2 million.

UK profits tax is calculated at the rate of 19% (2024: 19%) on the estimated

assessable profit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

12. LOSS PER SHARE 12.

Basic and diluted

Basic and diluted loss per share was calculated by dividing the loss for the
year attributable to the owners of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

BEREBR
EXRME
BREARBEEREARAEERE

ARG WJESTEB%LAEWE%M?%@HX
ZINEFBETE

2025 2024
ot ok - 3 —ZT-NF
Loss for the year attributable to the owners of the AN AR EZRIH A AEIFFREIE
Company (HK$'million) (A8%EIT) (895) (462)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in =~ & 317 & A% 2 INHE P15 &
issue (million shares) (B8R 7,197 7,274
Basic and diluted loss per share (HK cents) FRRER R EEEE (BIL) (12.44) (6.35)

The weighted average number of ordinary shares adopted in the
calculation of basic and diluted loss per share for both years have been
arrived at after deducting treasury shares held by the Group.

No adjustment is made in arriving at diluted loss per share for 2025
and 2024 in respect of the outstanding share awards of HTICI as these
potential ordinary shares have anti-dilutive effects on loss per share of the
Group.

TTONFE/_RFFR FHREGHEEEARLAA

Rt EMEFENERERNREEER
PATER P B & 388 P DA <7 259 81 75 1 1 BR AR
SERFENBEFRNESE

HRBENEBREAEESREBEA
ExREEWE AR EE S -_1F
B NFEREEEERAREZX

RERIEE M AR A IR 25 SR T
FHEE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

13. DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2025 (2024: nil).

13. KR

BE-_T_AFE=A=+—HILtEE"
ARAWERNKERTMBZE (ZF

ZOEFm|) o
14a.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14a. % BERE
Furniture,
Leasehold land Leasghold ~fixtures and
and buildings  improvements equipment  Motor vehicles  Machineries Yacht Total
HELHER f&f
B HENREE RERZRG RE 1 id s L)
Hk$million HK$ million HkSmilion~— HKkSmillion —— HKSmiion — HKSmilion — HKSmillion
BEAT BEAT BEEL BEAT BEET  BEAT  BEAR
Note (o)
iz ()
Cost 72
R at 1 April 2023 RZS-=FNA-A 52 16 7 § 409 75 563
Addiions RE = - - 2 u - pAY
Transfr o investment propertes BRERENE ] - - - - - )
Disposal e - - - 2 - - 2
Transterto inventries (note (¢) Y ) - - = = (6 - (6
As at 31 March 2024 and R-Z-ME=RA=1-HER
1 April 2024 RZE-MEMA-H [ 16 1 4 ;0 75 575
Additions AE - - - 2 1 - 9
Disposal e - - - (1) - (79) (76)
Transter to nventories note () A% (M) - - = = (30) - (30)
Rs at 31 March 2025 RZB-RF=A=1-A [ 16 1 5 407 - 478
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

14a.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14a. %% « BB R a0 (#8)

(CONTINUED)
Furniture,
Leasehold and ~ Leasehold fixtures and
and buildings  improvements  equipment Molor vehicles  Machineries Yacht Total
HELHR &
BF HENEEE RERRG RE 1 i #it
HkSmillion HK§ million HiSmilon — HKSmilion — HKSmilion — HKSmilion ~ HKSmillon
BE%RT  BERL  BEAT  BERnT  BEER  REET  BEER
Note (o)
& ()
Accumulated depreciation and RHFEREE
impairment
Asat 1 April 2023 R-E-=£MA-H 2 ! 1 = PAlk 5 328
Chrge for the year ENR 1 1 - 1 3 2 37
Transer o inventories (note (¢) 8RR (Mik0) - - - - (4 - (4
Trensfer o nvestment propertes BoRENZ 1] - - - £ - ()
Disposal hE - - - 1) - - )
As at 31 March 2024 and R-Z-ME=A=1t-HER
1 April 2024 R-Z-MEMA-H Al 15 1 - 260 56 359
Charge forthe year ERik - - - 1 % 1 30
tanster o nventoie (not ) BRER () - = S s (29) - (25)
Disposal e - - - (1) - (57) (59)
As at 31 March 2025 R-Z-RF=A=1-H Al 15 1 - 263 - 306
Cartying amount KEE
As at 31 March 2025 RZE-RF=A=T-H /3 1 - ] 144 - 11
As at 31 March 2024 RZE-WE=A=T-H 2 1 - 4 1 19 216
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

14a.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

146 Aceso

The above items of property, plant and equipment after taking into
account the residual values, are depreciated on a straight-line basis at
the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment
Motor vehicles

Machineries

Yacht

The Group has pledged owned properties and certain machineries with
carrying amounts of HK$21 million and HK$73 million respectively
as at 31 March 2025. (2024: HK$21 million and HK$85 million
respectively) to secure general banking facilities for bank borrowings
granted to the Group (note 28).

Leasehold land and buildings are properties situated in the United
Kingdom for a lease term of 999 years less ten days from and including
1 January 2020.

For both years, the machineries were held by the Group for generating
rental income under operating leases from its rental construction
machinery business.

The Group, in the course of its ordinary activities, routinely sells its
machinery (originally under property, plant and equipment) that it has
held for rental to others. During the year ended 31 March 2025, related
sales of rental machineries that were included in revenue and cost
of sales amounted to HK$9 million (2024: HK$2 million) and HK$5
million (2024: HK$2 million), respectively.

In the opinion of the management, sales of these machineries, which
included under revenue and costs of sales, is part of the ordinary
course of business of the Group.

Life Science Group Limited  Annual Report 2024/25

14a. 913 - R R s ()

X

(a)

iy BMERREBDEEEER
HREER BUTFERUERENR
E:

HELTHHWREF QOver the
lease terms

% E

HEMERE 10% to 20%
BRI~ RERIFRRAME 20% to 25%
/EL$ 10% t0 25%
R 10%
PR 5%

R-CZ-_RF=ZA=+—H X&EH
EEMEREED R R2EE BT R
BEBET(ZCE-_ENF=A=+—8:
DRRABEEETRSAEET) 28
BMERE TR (FRAEEER
RITEE 2 —RRITAE 2R (K
28) °

HETHREFREUREBERAN
WE - HERIVERIOR - B T
ZF-HA—R(BEER) B -

AEBRMEFEHUEEHEESE
HeaWah ABFEEM  AREE
FREEMM TS o

RAEEXBEEY AEEEHLE
FIEFREZHW (RBYE  BFE &R
B TEMAL BE_T_AF=H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEe

B RS AR MR

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

14a.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

During the year, the crawler crane industry was experiencing reduction
in new infrastructure projects initiated in Hong Kong, resulting
in a decline in the forecasted revenue and profit for the business
which is considered as an impairment indicator of the crawler crane
business. For the purposes of impairment testing on the machineries
under property, plant and equipment related to the crawler crane
business, the Group engaged RHL Appraisal Limited, an independent
valuer, to carry out valuation on the machineries. The fair value of
the machineries as at 31 March 2025 was determined based on the
depreciated replacement cost approach and is measured at Level 3 fair
value category. The fair value less cost of the machineries are higher
than the carrying amount and thus no impairment is provided

14b. ARTWORKS

15.

The amounts represents the aggregate cost

of art paintings held by

14a. 93 - BRE R iE ()

GEE

(d)

(#)

FA ARBEAFEZEBMPEE
WA B REKTT R E
BHEBERHRARBR TR - R
REGTAEERTENRERE B
ﬁ@mfﬁi%ﬁ%ﬁ%%% Eid=

BB TR ETRERR &
E@é%ﬁiﬁ@%%ﬂﬁ%@%ﬁ
BERAGBEEWETHE IR
Z_AF=—A=t—HHLQXFEDIR
BFESEEMNAEEE  WIRE =R
N EEREE - B H D FERK
AR REREE - B e ¢ R E B
1 e

14h. 21 &

ZRBNEARERENRENE 2 8K

the Group. These art paintings are not held for trading purposes. No Ko ZEFBMENTFALIFNR S B
impairment loss is recognised as in the opinion of the directors of the HY o A Al EERA BMELEER
Company, the recoverable amounts of the art paintings are at least PEZTEEHTE CEAKREeRELERER
equivalent to their carrying amounts as at the end of the reporting period. HBEMRVREE °
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. FHESEE
2025 2024
—E_RE —E U4
HK$’million HK$'million
BEAET HEET
Right-of-use assets EREEE
— Offices R /N 11 3
— Warehouses —BE 15 15
Less: provision for impairment (note) B R E R (T RE) (26) -~
- 18
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flows, of the Group’s

lease liabilities is as follows:

15. ERERE (§)

BRERBBREBReRELTAEEEER
BZEHERAFMT

2025 2024
—_E_RF —ENF
HK$’million HK$'million
BHEET BEBIT
— Less than 1 year —LRME 13 11

— Between 1 and 2 years —1225 10
— Between 2 and 5 years —2&5%F 6 5
29 21

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets (I EEENITER X

— Offices R YNEN 5 5
— Warehouses BB 8 8
13 13
Lease interests HEFE 1 1
Expenses related to short-term leases HEHEEE@E X 2 3
Total cash outflow for leases MERESREERE 17 18
Additions to right-of-use assets RETHEEE 20 5

The Group leases various offices and warehouses. Lease agreements are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 6 years (2024: 1 to 6 years). Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not contain any
extension options, termination options and variable lease payments. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased assets may

not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Note: During the year, the crawler crane industry was experiencing reduction
in new infrastructure projects initiated in Hong Kong, resulting in a
decline in the forecasted revenue and profit for the business which is
considered as an impairment indicator of the crawler crane business.
Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (including
allocation of corporate assets) that generate cash flows together with
the brand name are also included in the respective cash-generating
unit for the purpose of impairment assessment. For the details of the
impairment assessment, please refer to note 17(a).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. REWM=E
2025 2024
—E_RfF —TNEF
HK$’million HK$'million
BEET BEBBT
At beginning of year F 1) 1,458 1518
Fair value changes N EEE (419) (89)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment &2 3% 5 ¥ % - S & & (M 7Eb)

(note b) _ 8
Exchange differences ME X Z R 26 21
End of the year FR 1,065 1,458
Notes: B E -

(a)  Investment properties were revalued at 31 March 2025 and 2024 by Q) HEVMERZ-ZZT_RAFR-_FT_MF

reference to market evidence of recent sales or leasing transactions
for similar properties by Roma Appraisals Limited for a commercial
property in London and by BonVision International Appraisals
Limited for industrial building units in Hong Kong. Both of them
are independent firms of chartered surveyors who have appropriate
qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of similar
properties in the relevant locations. In estimating the fair value of
the properties, the highest and best use of the properties are their
current use. The fair values of certain investment properties have been
adjusted to exclude prepaid or accrued operating lease income to avoid
double counting.

A=t BEABRA—REBEDIRDY
ENESBERFEARIARE L —
REMIXZEEMNZRBEK G
ERARSEZRUNEZARHEK
HEXSMHEEEEMR MHAIAY
RBUEXNEM EHHEBELEN
BUMENBETEAEBEL RO
&R NEFOEZIAFER D
XEZBReRREREREENAE -
ETREMEZATFESERFE M
PERR TR SERHR S E A - PA#
REERH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEe

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE —

16.

150 Aceso Life Science Group Limited

B RS AR
ToREF=A=t+-ALER

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

Valuation Significant
techniques unobservable inputs
fEEH T EXFURRERANE

16. REWMR (|)

MisE - ()

Relationship of unobservable inputs
to fair value
FUREBARBALNTFEZRE

Commercial property in London,
UK 2025: HK$1,059 million
(2024: HK$1,451 million)

Income Capitalisation
Approach (Key inputs:
average monthly rental
unit rate, term yield,
reversionary yield and
discount rate)

per month)

Average monthly rental unit rate taking into account unit
market rental income of comparable properties, which
ranges from GBP1.0/sq.1t per month
month (2024: GBP1.6/s.{t per month to GBP 5.5/s0.1t

Term yield, taking into account of yield generated by
market average rental from comparable properties and

An increase in the average monthly rental
unit rate used would result in an

to GBP4.4/sq.ft per increase in fair value and vice versa

An increase in the term yield used would
result in a decrease in fair value and vice

adjustment to reflect the lower risk for the term value, VErsa.

which is 5.50% (2024: 5.50%)
Reversionary yield, taking into account of

by market average rental from comparable properties

and adjustment to reflect the conditions of the offices

yield generated A increase in the reversionary yield used
would result in a decrease in fair value

and vice versa.

and car parks, which is 6.00% (2024: 6.00%)

Discount rate, taking into account of the net profit margin
and inflation, which is 4.70% (2024: 3.69%)

RERABANE_F WAERIE (B

B VHRAEE BRAULMEZEUDHHE

An increase in the discount rate used would
result in a decrease in fair value and vice
VErsa.

FriE R B9 A & M M

CHE1EEBRT BAEE BNT  SUANTIEASTHERIIEERI4E BHNTENEN K2 A o
(Z2-mF 1 HIEE HARE  THEK B(CE-NF : BAGTHRRIGEERSS
BT HE REKEE  BE)
REFER)
T Hk F&Tth#@%aﬁmtﬂtﬁﬁﬁ ﬁmmﬁﬁu&f\fsﬁwuﬂ% 4
is@uﬁz CPETHEARREHEEN DNFENED - R2ZMK o
gl Eﬂ550%<_7_@¢ 550%)

ek e i F&Tth%%aﬁmhﬁt@%ﬁ%fz
CWRTARARBBLERE

a6

FAT {52 PR 0 2 60 M 2 2K 9 42 A0 28 B
RDFHERRD  RZIA

i%ﬁﬁ/ﬂ EDG 00%(=F Z Mm% : 6.00%)

BRRE - BRFFEERBERR - B4.70%(=

TMHE - 369%)

Industrial building units in Hong
Kong 2025: HK$6 million

Direct Comparison
Approach (Key input:

Adjusted comparable transaction price, ranged from HK$
2,100 to HK$ 2,400 (2024: HK$ 2,200 to HK$2,900)

e RE AR R e g
ERRD - RZ TR

HAT

An increase in the transaction price used
would result in an increase in fair value,

(2024: HK$7 million) Comparable transaction per square foot taking into account difference in the and vice versa.
price) transaction time, location and site
BERLEREEM_ BERLEE (BRE CHEILXZER NTETHER XHE®RES  RTYEES  RZ

—hE: GEF%%E(_ ABE RS
Z_MF TEEET) ) BIL)
=5l

The fair value measurement is categorised into Level 3 fair value
hierarchy. Except for the transfer of HK$8 million from property, plant
and equipment during the year ended 31 March 2024, there were no
other transfers into or out of Level 3 during the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEe

B RS AR MR

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

16.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

The transfer from property, plant and equipment is made when there
is a change in use of the properties, evidenced by commencement of
lease to third parties.

The Group leased out its investment properties under operating leases.
The lease terms range from 1 to 15 years (2024: 3 to 15 years). All
leases are on a fixed rental basis and do not include variable lease
payments.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of investment properties
of approximately HK$1,065 million (2024: HK$1,458 million) was
pledged to secure borrowings (note 28).

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of the
lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the respective
functional currencies of group entities. The lease contracts do not
contain residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase the
property at the end of lease term.

16. EWE (W)

GEE

(b)

(&)

EMEREBRERL UFARKEA
F=THER TE8LVE BEL
RETEA -

AREFREKLHERBHEREME -
HEFHENTIEE (ZE_WE 3
E15%) c TAMYZETHEHE
TeRFEABRENR -

R-EBE-_RF=A=+—0B FEE
4 E1065E BB T (ZZE - MHF : 1458
BEBIT) 2 EWED K AERE
B (Mf5E28) -

MR BEEEOUEERERZZAD
EEERIE BAKEYRAEER
M ERSNERR HEANL T
ERHREEERREHAEARES
EREBEMER EEE-

The Group’s future undiscounted lease payments under operating () AEEBNKLEHETHARKAIRA
leases are receivable as follows: & FIAER T 5 HA R U ER

2025 2024
—E-RF —EUEF
HK$’million HK$'million
BEET BEABTT
Less than 1 year DIME 62 63
Between 1 and 2 years 1224F 60 60
Between 2 and 3 years 25 3F 21 58
Between 3 and 4 years 3EAF 1 20
Between 4 and 5 years 4Z5F 1 1
Over 5 years B 35 - 1
145 203
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRHE
Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE T -—RAF=—A=+—HBILFE
17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. |BEEE
Securities
brokerage Customer
Goodwill ~ Brand name licenses list Total
B8 GMER BHEEME  EFRE #it
HK$ million HK§ million HK§ million HK§ milion Hk$million
BEET  BEAn  BEEAT  BEET  BEAR
Note ) Note (0] Note )
F3He) HizEb) fizHa)
Cost 72
Asat 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, R-E-=fWA-H-
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 ZE-ME=R=1-H"
“E-MERA-AR
“E-R%=A=1-H 415 167 4 8 504
Accumulated amortisation and impairment FHEAREE
As at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and RZE-=FNA-R —E-M¥=A
1 il 2004 =+-RR-B-MEMA-R It - - 8 I
Impairment loss recogrised in profit orloss REEPRR L AERE - 167 - - 167
As at 31 March 2025 R-Z-a%=fA=1-H 415 167 - 8 590
Carrying amount EEE
As 31 March 2005 RZBZRF=A=1-H - - 4 - 4
Asat 31 March 2024 RZE-mF=A=+-H - 167 4 - 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B RS AR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z= — %

ga—"_A

17.

“HF=ZA=T—RLFE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Note:

(@)

Brand name and customer list

The amount arose on the acquisition of crawler crane business in
HTICI in February 2017.

The Group’s brand name as at 31 March 2025 is assessed as having
indefinite useful life because there is no time limit that the Group can
use the brand name.

For the purposes of impairment testing, brand name has been allocated
to rental and sale of construction machinery and spare parts business
and provision of repair and maintenance and transportation services
business. Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
(including allocation of corporate assets) that generate cash flows
together with the brand name are also included in the respective cash-
generating unit for the purpose of impairment assessment.

The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined based on a
value-in-use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a 5-year
period (2024: 5-year), and pre-tax discount rate of 10% (2024: 12%).
Cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a 2.5%
growth rate (2024: 2.5%). This growth rate is based on the relevant
industry growth forecasts and does not exceed the average long-
term growth rate for the relevant industry. Other key assumptions for
the value-in-use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted sales and gross margin, such
estimation is based on the unit’s past performance and management’s
expectations for the market development including the fluctuation in
the current economic environment.

During the year, the crawler crane industry was experiencing the
reduction in new infrastructure projects initiated in Hong Kong,
resulting in a decline in the forecasted revenue and profit for the
business. Based on the impairment testing, impairment loss on
intangible assets and right-of-use assets of HK$167 million and
HK$26 million, respectively (2024: nil) have been recognised in profit
or loss for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The amount arose on the acquisition of HTIFH in December 2018. The
recoverable amounts of the licenses have been determined to be higher
than their carrying amounts based on fair value less cost of disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. REBATIZES
2025 2024
k- - Sl - ZEZNF
HK$’million HK$'million
BEET BEETT
Unlisted investments: JELEMIRE -
Share of net assets DIEEEFE 720 798
Notes: M
(a)  Associate material to the Group () HASEMSBERZHZ AT
() Set out below is the associate which, in the opinion of the () TXHINEERAER-_ZT_HF

directors, is material to the Group as at 31 March 2025 and
2024. The associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method. The summarised
financial information presented is based on the HKFRS
Accounting Standards financial statements of the associates.

FZZE-_ME=A=+—HHX
EEMEBEAZHBE AR - B
BRRFEAERSEIRGEASTER
KAAR -EPZHBERBE
TABERARER SV RS
HA G ERR M BREM

275 -

Place of
establishment % of
Name of entity and operation ownership interest Principal activity
4. £t BRIIREEE FREREaaEs L TEXH
2025 2024
—EZRE —E-NF
CESIZ Cambodia 22% 22% Property development
CESIZ (Cambodia) Co., Ltd RIEE MEER
(TCESIZ])
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 18. REAEATFIZES (18)
Notes: (Continued) Mizy @ (48)
(a)  Associate material to the Group (Continued) () HAEBmMsEBERZEEAE(E)
(i) Financial information of CESIZ (i) CESIZz Bt & #t
2025 2024
—E_RE — T N4
HK$’million HK$'million
BEEET BEAT
At 31 March: R=ZA=+—8:
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,213 3,654
Current assets mEEE 1 =
Current liabilities VoEB=RE (32) (28)
Net assets BEFE 3,182 3,626
Group's % of ownership interest rEEMEEETE DL 22% 22%
Group’s share of carrying amount of
interests AEE EEREKREE 700 798
Year ended 31 March: HE=ZA=+T—RHLEFE:
Revenue WA - =
Loss for the year FREIE (425) (1,477)
Other comprehensive expenses for the year 45 P9 E b 2 @ i 52 (20) (20)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year 4 A & [ 7 7 48 58 (445) (1,497)

CESIZ is principally engaged in investment in urban complex
development project in Cambodia. Under the sub-decree
122/2019 (the “Sub-decree”) on the establishment of CESIZ
Special Economic Zone granted by the Council of Ministers
of Cambodia to CESIZ, the Council of Ministers of Cambodia
approved GESIZ to establish the Special Economic Zone with
a size of 17,252,519 square meters at Koh Kong Province,
Cambodia. Under the Sub-Decree, CESIZ shall have the sole
and exclusive right to develop the Special Economic Zone
with all the necessary land use rights, including those for
residential, industrial and commercial development purpose.
The principal assets of CESIZ is a land for development.

Due to the significance of the carrying value of the Project
Land and that is located in a developing country which may be
affected by the global economic challenges, the management
of the Group considered there is an impairment indicator of
the Project Land and the Group’s interest in CESIZ and has
accordingly engaged Roma Appraisals Limited, an independent
valuer not related to the Group to determine the fair value
of the Project Land as at 31 March 2025 and 2024, and the
consequently recoverable amount of the Group’s interest in
the associate, on the basis of the source of proceeds from the
ultimate disposal of the investment by the Group.

CESIZEZRRIBEXRERTLEE
FREBEENKRE BEIFIEES
@ $% T CESIZER 37 CESIZAR i 5 [ 19
ZHES1222019 ([ ZASEZS )
RBEIRIE S S ECESIZER
HEEE N R E S A17,252,519
FHKRNEETE - RIE_HK
S CESIZS BERBEREBEER 2
W—RBREN  WHEEHEYG
S FERE (BEEEE T
ENEHERREMBR) ° CESIZM =
DEELAEEBM -

HRBEE T Z2REAEEAN B
VURERPER - AJgEXE 2R
BELBHTE  AEEETEE
A THE i & ANEERCESIZ
MEZGFERETR  AREZR
2 B 7K 62 (B £E R A 98 N fh (B R 78
SR EERAREBEEEE
WR-_E_RAFER T _NFE=
B=+T—HZAFE UEAE
ERZEEAREEMAKES
HMEAEAEAEBRZREEZKR
B ZFSZIERIR) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

156 Aceso Life Science Group Limited

Associate material to the Group (Continued)

(i)

Financial information of CESIZ (Continued)

The fair value of the Project Land was determined using direct
comparison method, based on recent market transaction data of
sales of land with similar nature and conduction and adjusted
for differences in the location of the land. The fair value
measurement is categorised into level 3 fair value hierarchy.

In estimating the fair value of the land, the highest and best use
of the land is its current use.

One of the key unobservable inputs used in valuing the fair
value of the Project Land was the adjusted price per square
meter, which averaged at Cambodian Riel (“KHR") 96,000,
equivalent to HK$187 per square meter (2024: KHR108,000,
equivalent to HK$212). A slight decrease in the adjusted price
per square meter used would result in a significant decrease in
the fair value measurement of the land, and vice versa.

Based on the result of the valuation, the recoverable amount
of the Project Land was KHR1,652,000 million, equivalent to
HK$3,213 million (2024: KHR1,868,000 million, equivalent to
HK$3,654 million), accordingly an impairment loss of HK$425
million (2024: HK$1,477 million) (of which representing the
Group’s share of loss was HK$94 million (2024: HK$325
million)) has been recognised in CESIZ's profit or loss during
the year ended 31 March 2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)  Information of an associate that is not material

On 2 September 2024, the Group entered into an agreement (the
“Agreement”) with independent third parties, to invest in Neway
(Hong Kong) Limited (“Neway”) which will be principally engaged
in providing construction materials and equipment to foundation
companies in Hong Kong and holding three parcels of land in Yuen

Long and Ta Kwu Ling.

18 RERELATZME (W)
M« (48)
(b) SEERHERRZEHR

—E_NMENAZR AEEBEEFY
F=T1rI ik ([ ]) AR (F
B)AERARE ([REE]) EITRE - B
TERERARTBMETERARMAE
EMHRRBUYNTHRITRERHE
=Rt e

Pursuant to the Agreement, the Group injected HK$20.5 million BRIE - A% B [R5 EE 20,500,000

into Neway for 20.5 million of its shares, represents 45.1% of the

shareholding of Neway.

7B TT » WRHE H20,500,000A /% 10 - 5 A #E
E45.1% /%17 °

According to the Agreement, the Group can appoint 1 out of 3 directors BREHRZE AEEUNUNEZEEER =%

of Neway for meetings determining operation decision. In the opinion EEPN—RBHEATEERENS

of the directors of the Company, the Group has significant influence FEoOARREERA AEEHEHR

over Neway and therefore, classified Neway as an associate of the BEBEAZEN AELEERNNAER
Group. SEMEE QT -

Information of immaterial associate FEXBMELTZEH 2025

—E_hREF

HK$’ million

HEET

The Group'’s share of profit (loss) from continuing operations REBEEFELE 25 (FE) -

The Group’s share of other comprehensive income AEBEGEMEEBA -

The Group'’s share of total comprehensive income AEBEGEEBALE —

The carrying amount of the Group’s interests in the associate NEBMPARE N RER 2 FERE 20
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBEHBRRHT
Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE—T-_FRF=A=+—HILFE
19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTOCI 19. l&’AZFEE-I-EE_Eﬁﬂ:Eh\E
thEmiezemEE
2025 2024
—E"hF —T_NF
HK$’million HK$'million
BEET BEET
Unlisted equity securities (note a) FE LT RRANTE 5 (P 7¥a)
Goodwill International Holdings Limited Goodwill International Holdings Limited
(“Goodwill*) ([ Goodwill J) 3 3
Co-lead Holdings Limited (“Co-lead”) Co-lead Holdings Limited ([ Co-lead |) 6 13
Quan Yu Tai Investment Company Limited ~ 2#ZEREGR A7 ([2#ZE])
(“Quan Yu Tai") 60 70
Tonsin Petrochemical Investment Limited RAALEEREBRAR (IR
(“Tonsin”) 1) - 36
RARAKRKBR AR ([R5
China Pearl Global Limited (“China Pearl”) %)) 255 301
Empire Victory Hong Kong Limited (‘Empire  #B&E S AR A7 ([ ])
Victory”) - 9
Imagi Jue Ming Limited (“Imagi Jue Ming”) & & SRABR A ([EFERAL 1 —

Listed equity securities (listed in Hong Kong) J: i Hy\$ 55 (E"iﬁﬁét rh ) (B 7ED)

(note b) 38 15
373 447

Notes: B 5E -

(@)  As at 31 March 2025, the Group has equity interests of 7.54%, (@) R-ZZE-_RF=A=+—8 K£E8
1.04%, 15.00%, 16.67%, 10.00%, 4.11% and 18% (2024: 7.54%, P Goodwill ~ Co-lead ~ ¥ % ~ B 7 »
1.04%, 15.00%, 16.67%, 10.00%, 4.11% and nil) in Goodwill, Co- RAEBAZK HBEEESRESHE
lead, Quan Yu Tai, Tonsin, China Pearl, Empire Victory and Imagi Jue B7.54% - 1.04% - 15.00% ~ 16.67% -
Ming, respectively. The above investments are intended to be held 10.00% ~ 4.11% &% 18% (= F — M 4 :
for medium to long term. Designation of these investments as equity 7.54% ~1.04% ~ 15.00% - 16.67% ~
investments at fair value through other comprehensive income can 10.00% ~ 4.11% 52 ) B 2 o 2N 55 [ 4%
avoid the volatility of the fair value changes of these investments to the RAZEXMAFE LR E - 15 E &
profit or 0ss. ERERBULFEFEAEZLEA

Eﬁﬂiﬁuﬂz S RAREREBRZE
BRERBZNATFELZEHNKEE -
The Group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to recognise R B B R ) 06 B AR IR N ] REE i
the changes in fair values of these equity instruments, which are not BEFRAEMIENERRZEERT
held for trading purpose but are strategic investments, through other B2 AYE BERAIAINIERE
comprehensive income. No dividend income was received during the BEE ME—EHXBKRE FALE
year (2024 nil). WER SIWMA (Z 0 4F - &) -
On disposal of these equity investments, any related balance within the PEZSHE=IZRER  URQFEF=
FVTOCI reserve is reclassified to retained earnings. BHEHSFAEMEZEYE ZHEER
ZEMNHEBEREN DB AREETF -
(b)  The investment represents equity securities of Oshidori International (b) HBREEEBLTAREBEERLE]

158 Aceso Life Science Group Limited

Holdings Ltd, a company listed in Hong Kong. The Group has
irrevocably elected at initial recognition to recognise the fair value
changes of these equity instruments, through other comprehensive
income, because the Group intends to hold these equity instruments
for long-term investment purpose.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

g S E YRR
Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE
20. LOAN RECEIVABLES 20. BIRE =
2025 2024
ol Sl - 3 —EZF
HK$’million HK$'million
BHEET BEABT
Secured fixed-rate loan receivables BEBEEFN R E K 88 88
Unsecured fixed-rate loan receivables AR E E A R EWE K 154 150
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses 3 : T8 HA{= & &5 18 B (201) (191)
41 47
The loan receivables carry effective interest rates of 8% to 16% as at 31 RZZE_RAF=A=+—8 EBRER
March 2025 (2024: 8% to 16%). HEBF R E8%E16%(ZZ —/NF : 8%
Z16%) °
As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group’s loan receivables balance RZE-_RAF=ZA=+—8 ' K&£E8E

are debtors with aggregate carrying amount, net of impairment, of HK$28
million (2024: HK$47 million) which are past due as at the reporting
date, all of which has been past due 90 days or more. The directors of the
Company are in the view that these past due balances are credit-impaired
because the directors consider those debtors’ inability to fully repay the

outstanding amounts.

Included in arriving at the carrying amount of loan receivables as at 31
March 2025 is accumulated impairment losses of HK$201 million (2024:
HK$191 million). Details of impairment assessment are set out in note 36.

WERHBEPBRBERAE (NKRBE)
ABAEEET(ZE_NF /A& ET)
E’JF%AM@E RIS HEIE A
2 IR K Eﬁﬂﬂtﬂ%ﬁ E 9 S iGN
7%% B ZECBaBRREAEER
& EH&E@%%%@%%%%%M@% EW
TBEERAREENE -

RER_T_AF=A=+—HHEK
EXEHESRRAMBREER0BELE
T (ZZEZMF 9B EBT) MET
it wF BB BT RE36
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

21. CORPORATE NOTE RECEIVABLES 21. Bl %R
2025 2024
—E_REF —E-E
HK$’million HK$'million
BEER BEATT
Current assets BN E

Future World (note (a)) AR R (B 5E@Q) 46 47

Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited 15 %8 K S ¥ BB 32 A IR A A

(“Imperial Pacific”) (note (b)) (MMEEERFF D) (MEEE(D) 262 262
Tahoe Group Gbbal (Co.) Limited (“Tahoe”)  FTAREE AR A A

(note (c)) (TR (KMEE(C) 165 167
Nanshan Capital Holding Limited (“Nanshan”) Fa LLI & A48 f% & [R A &)

(note (d)) ([ ) (P 3E(d)) = 361
Empire Victory (note (e)) 1B (M 7EE)) 17 17
Less: Allowance for expected credit B EHEEEERE

losses (447) (353)

43 501
Notes: Mot
(@) On 30 December 2022, the Group purchased notes (the “Future @ MRZEZZF+ZA=+H &%
World Notes”) issued by Future World, with principal amount of BERRKEAZEE ([ARERE
HK$42,000,000, at a consideration of HK$42,000,000. The Future #1) K4 542,000,000 7T 0 R{EH
World Notes is interest bearing at prime rate plus 2.5% per annum, 7£42,000,0007% T o R Rt R E A B
unsecured and due on 4 January 2025, which was extended to 4 July BHEBEFE EF25%  EEFERRZ
2025. Expected credit loss amounted to HK$3 million (2024:HK$2 T_AF—ANBIHPITERE=-ZF
million) was provided as at 31 March 2025. —HEHF+TtANB -RZZE=-HAF=H
=+—H EHEEBERERES
BL(ZE_MF : 2658EBL) °
(b)  InJune 2018, the Group purchased notes issued by Imperial Pacific, b RZE—NEFEARA AKEEEKRE

160 Aceso Life Science Group Limited

with the principal amount of US$30,000,000, at a consideration of
US$27,800,000 from Asia Link Capital Investment Holding Limited
(“Asia Link"), the controlling shareholder of the Company. Such
notes were issued in January 2017 with three years tenure and bears
interests of 8.5% per annum.

In March 2020, the Group entered into the amendment with Asia Link
to modify the terms of such notes. Major amendments are (i) increase
in the principal amount of the Notes to US$32,550,000, by way of
capitalisation of accrued interests of US$2,550,000; (ii) extend the
maturity date of the notes to 25 April 2021; and (iii) increase in the
interest rate of the Notes from 8.5% per annum to 10.5% per annum
with effect from 25 January 2020. Imperial Pacific defaulted on the
notes. Full allowance for expected credit loss was provided as at 31
March 2025 and 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z= — %

“HF=ZA=T—RLFE

21. CORPORATE NOTE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(©

In January 2020, the Group entered into an agreement with CISI
Investment Limited (“CISI") to invest in the corporate note issued by
CISI which was guaranteed by China Industrial Securities International
Financial Group Ltd, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, with the principal amount of US$20,000,000 (the “CISI
Note”) (equivalent to HK$156,760,000).

The CISI Note was matured on 17 December 2020. In January 2021,
the CISI Note was repurchased by CISI and replaced by the transfer
of bonds with the principal amount of US$20,270,000 (equivalent to
HK$167 million) issued by Tahoe Group Global Limited (the “Tahoe
Bonds”) from CISI to the Group. The Company no longer holds any
CISI Notes since then. The CISI Note, which has been cancelled at the
relevant time, was not in default.

The Tahoe Bonds which have been in default with expected credit loss
amounted to HK$165 million (2024: HK$79 million) was provided as
at 31 March 2025.

On 13 June 2023 and 29 June 2023, the Group executed orders for
the purchase of notes with principal amounts of HK$250 million
and HK$101 million (collectively, the “2023 Nanshan Notes”) at
consideration of approximately HK$250 million and HK$101 million,
respectively. The note purchases constituted discloseable transaction
under the Listing Rules. 2023 Nanshan Notes is interest bearing at
7.5% per annum, guaranteed by Nanshan Group Co., Ltd. and due on
14 June 2024. Expected credit loss amounted to HK$2 million was
provided as at 31 March 2024. All the principal and interest from 2023
Nanshan Notes have been settled on due date and no further execution
orders for purchase of notes issued by Nanshan have been placed by
the Group subsequent to the settlement up to the report date.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of corporate note
receivables of approximately HK$361 million was pledged to secure
borrowings (note 28). The pledge was released during the year ended
31 March 2025.

21. BRI (1)

GEE

()

(#)

R-—ZEBE-_TE—H - ZJS;%EECISI
Investment Limited ([ CISI|) &T 37 #5 &%
TxﬁEACISIFﬁ%?ﬁIEE,\mlﬁﬂimﬁ’i
BERAR (—KREEXTER LT
UNGID) ﬁﬁ%1%$$§52%20,000,000§ﬁ (%8
& 7156,760,0007%8 7T ) 2 1 E Z & ([ CISI
EZRg]) o

CSIEBER T _TF+=_A++tH
BBl o A =ZF = —49F — A ' Tahoe Group
Global Limited3& 17 2 7N < %8 /420,270,000
ET(HEMETEBEL) WEFH
([Tahoef&E % 1) FCISIIE B8 I 82 3% T AN 5
CAERCISIZERE - B Ut - A A RR
BRA EMCISIEEE - 748 B 5 51 88
KICISIEE W REL ©

R=B-AE=A=+—0 HEE
12 40 ) Tahoetl %5 18 1 {2 B 5 18165 8
BT (B 9E MBI ©

RZE_=ZFRA+=ZBR=ZZT==
FRNAZ+NB  AEB D RFAITHE
f\l«‘/(ﬁﬁféfzﬁ%ﬁ250§§}%ﬁ&101§%

BLIHNRER (BB T _=FHUE
&) RE%’N%Z5OE%%E&@%1O1
BEEET RELETRA BEZE
BRENERG —T_=FHWULE
}J““Bziﬂ?M%quE HELEEER
RAEER R-T_WMEXA+HO

BRE# - B _MFE=A=+—H "
AREHNEEBREEEL —_F
T=FREUEBNEAERANEERE
HA2AEE HEREREH L
AEBYEZFHBEMLURTREDN
E—FHITHER

R-ZZE-_MWMFE=A=+—8 =2 A
JEU ¥ E=EBEmMELNIE BBk
BERER (HiE28) - ZEHERNEH
E_FT_HAF=ZA=Z+—HLFEE
BRRR ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

21. CORPORATE NOTE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 21.

Notes: (Continued)

(6)  On 20 June 2023, the Group entered into an agreement with Empire
Victory to invest in their corporate note with the principal amount of
HK$21 million (the “EV Note”). The EV Note is interest bearing at 10%
per annum, unsecured and due on 29 July 2023. Empire Victory partly
settled HK$4 million during the year ended 31 March 2024 and is
negotiating for an extension as at year end date. Expected credit loss
amounted to HK$17 million (2024: HK$8 million) was provided as at
31 March 2025.

L ERE (8)
Misk : (&)
) MZE_=ZFRAZ+H A£EHHE

WY REREAESESHEA
NHEEBTHCEZER ([HMBERK]) -
0 R 245 3% B F R10%ET B 0 EIK I
RZE-_=F+tA-+LBEH-M
BREE-_E-_NE=/A=+—H1t
FERETIEEA TN RE I
REEHEHEIEHBEH R_F
“THEZAZT—B T RBEHEE
EEUTEEET(ZE_NF : 8583
JL) °

22. PROPERTIES FOR DEVELOPMENT 22. BERTBPYE
2025 2024
ol Bl - —E O
HK$ million HK$'million
BHEET HEET
Land use rights THbfE A 346 326
Note: M

The properties for development are related to a residential and commercial
mixed property development project located at Port Dickson, Negeri Sembilan,
Malaysia comprising 267,500 square meters (or 2,879,343 square feet). The
properties are held from the government for a lease since 2019 and expiring
on 8 February 2097 for residential and commercial building uses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE-—ZT-_HAF=-A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. EHEKRIA
2025 2024
—E_REF —ZT-NF
HK$’million HK$'million
BEEET BEBT
Trade receivables 2 5 WA
Rental income from construction machinery business 322 SE 44 4% 2E 765 2 FH & Uk A 29 48
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses of W RERERMEBR 2 B
trade receivables from rental income from AR E 5 FE W IE & T8 B
construction machinery business EEEIBRE (4) (12)
25 36
Securities brokerage BHEL 164 150
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses of trade  J& : K B FE F &L M E 5 UK
receivables from securities brokerage EREREEEBEE (48) (1)
116 149

Rental income receivable from leasing of investment £ FH % & ¥ % 2 fE WA © A
properties 20 24
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses of W REHAREYMEZHEK
trade receivables from rental income from AR E 5 FE W IE & T8 B

leasing of investment properties EEBEBERE = (1)
20 23
161 208

R B AR MR E B HE X
MWESEPRETFH-0ENEER - M
EFRHZEEHRERTFPHNEENR

The Group allows an average credit period of 0-30 days to its trade
customers arising from construction machinery and sales of construction
materials business. The credit period provided to customers can be longer

based on a number of factors including the customer’s credit profile and
relationship with the customers. Before accepting any new customer, the
Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit
limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly.
The Group has a policy for allowance for expected credit losses which
is based on the evaluation of the collectability and aging analysis of
accounts on every individual trade debtor basis and on the management’s
judgment including creditworthiness and the past collection history of
gach customer.

Trade receivables from cash and margin clients arising from commodities,
futures and securities brokerage business are repayable on demand
subsequent to settlement date. The margin clients of he securities
brokerage business are required to pledge their investments to the Group
for credit facilities for commodities, futures and securities tradmg.

MEEEFHNBERSZEREZMER -
EEIEMFEER - NEEFTGHE

REEEEZREEFATEEERE-
REEHNRESSTHEN AEER

ﬁ%h%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ CETERYE
HEIESEBAKRE /A E W KR
BAOMEL 2T E RAEREYHES
EENEERBERREHSERZH
BT T A% 3L o

AEm HENESFCELEREERNK
BEReNRESEFPNE ZEKNEL
HERRIZRERKER BHELLEHZ
RECEPANAESEEREE 2KE
LB EEREEER HERESHE

?E;o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 23. HHEWRIE ()

KEZEMMEKZ 2 HSWRANEHE
WER (HEREMEZ B WRARIN)
RIBEZAHZ25 2 Rk D CRINERTA

The aging analysis by invoice date of trade receivables from rental income
from construction machinery business (other than rental income from
leasing of investment properties) before allowance for expected credit

losses is as follows: HEEEEEHE T
2025 2024
—E_R5F —E-E
HK$ million HK$'million
BEET BEETT
0-30 days 0-30H 6 13
31-60 days 31-60H 7 19
61-90 days 61-90H 3 1
91-180 days 91-180H 4 4
181-365 days 181-365H 6 4
Over 365 days HBiB365H 3 7
29 48

The aging analysis by invoice date of trade receivables from securities
brokerage before allowance for expected credit losses is as follows:

KEEFRLNEFRUFTAREER
BRZ25 2 R o it CRIDBRBHEES

BEEWT :
2025 2024
- <l - 3 —EMEF
HK$’million HK$'million
BEET BEATT
0-30 days 0-30H 10 11
31-60 days 31-60H - 39
61-90 days 61-90H 1 30
91-180 days 91-180H 2 2
181-365 days 181-365H 60 23
Over 365 days i 3E365H 91 45
164 150

All trade receivables on rental income from leasing of investment BEREHASOBEH  mEKREMER
properties are aged within 30 days based on the dates of rendering of EHSKRANE S EIRZTIBNERERY
rental. TE30R A o

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set out in note
36.

B 5 YR IR B FT 5 715 R P36 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

24. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS

24. HthFEW R IA R ET &

2025 2024
—E_RfF —EZF
HK$’million HK$'million
BHEET BEABT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Prepayment for acquisition of property, WEEME  MEREZHEZ
plant and equipment BT FRIR 2 9
Rental deposits Hekse 3 -
5 9
Current assets M EE
Amount due from an associate (note (a)) JE Uy — T B N B 5R3E (BT E(a)) 10 -
Other receivables H fib fE UL 5K I8 38 6
Deposits to financial institutions (note (b)) & BRI 1Z 2% (MEEE(b)) - 2
Deposits and prepayments & MIEMFIE 7 11
Less: Allowance for expected credit loss B BEEEEERE (1) (1)
54 18
Total HAET 59 27
Notes: MisEE :

(@)  The amount is unsecured, carried interest at 6.125% per annum and

repayable within one year.

(b)  Deposits to financial institutions represented deposits for securities (b)

investment and trading of futures.

—FAREE -

Hil® e

(a) HESBEER - FFITR6125% - BAE

TREBEEREREFRERMEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE T -—RAF=—A=+—HBILFE

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 25. LA FEsEEHE{LTAIE
BRZEMEE
2025 2024
—_E_RF ZEZNF
HK$’million HK$'million
BEET BEETT
Listed equity securities ETRARE
— listed in Hong Kong -REELE™ 42 79
— listed in the NASDAQ -REBMATER ETH - 4
Unlisted fund investment (note a) JEEMESIRE (M) 33 33
Convertible note receivable (note b) e U AT R A% 45 (BT RED) 5 3
80 119
Notes: Mt -
(@) Amount represented the investments in fund: () ZeFEERESIERE:
2025 2024
“E-RhEF —ECAF
HK$’million HK$'million
HEET BEAET
Finance Lease Investment SP Finance Lease Investment SP 33 33

On 1 February 2023, the Group entered into a subscription agreement
to subscribe 3,953 non-voting redeemable participating shares of an
unlisted fund namely, Open AM Quality Selection Series SPC, for a
consideration of HK$31 million. As at 31 March 2025, the net assets
value attributable to the Group’s shareholding in the fund was US$4.2
million (equivalent to HK$33 million) (2024: US$4.2 million (equivalent
to HK$33 million)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ga—"_A

B RS AR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z= — %

“HF=ZA=T—RLFE

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL (CONTINUED)

*

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

In June 2020, the Group entered into a subscription agreement and
shareholders’ agreement with Co-High Investment Management
Limited (“Co-High”), an independent third party, for the formation of
a joint venture (“JV 1”) to undertake the business of development,
manufacture, sales and distribution of therapeutic and diagnostic assets
in the Greater China and South East Asia. The Group holds 51% in
this joint venture and the financial results will be consolidated into
the financial statements of the Group. In July 2020, JV 1 entered into
a JV Agreement with Promethera Biosciences S.A./N.V. (“Promethera
Biosciences”), an independent third party which was incorporated
under the laws of Belgium, for the formation of a joint venture (“JV
2"), which will have the exclusive right to engage in the development,
commercialisation, sell and distribution of cell-based and biological
therapies for the treatment of liver diseases, autoimmune diseases and
various types of cancer based on the applications and development of
contributed intellectual property of Promethera Biosciences in the Asia.
At the same time, the Group has conditionally agreed to subscribe for
convertible bonds of Promethera Biosciences in the principal amount
of up to Euro 10 million (equivalent to approximately HK$88 million)
in two equal tranches. In July 2020, the Group subscribed the first
tranche of Euro 5 million (equivalent to approximately HK$44 million).
The Group did not subscribe the second tranche of Euro 5 million
convertible bond subscription and the subscription agreement was
lapsed.

As Promethera Biosciences faced with litigations of claims and failed
to obtain sufficient funding to support its research and development
activities, by application lodged in January 2021, it requested
that a judicial reorganisation procedure be changed by collective
agreement of creditors in order to ensure that the continuity of its
business is preserved under the supervision of a delegated judge. The
reorganisation plan was approved by the Third Chamber of the Court
of the Enterprise of the Walloon Brabant in Belgium in March 2021.
Included in the reorganisation plan was the reduction of the rights of
creditors by 80% or provision for a payment of 20% payable in 5 years
(2% per year for the first 4 years and 12% in the fifth year), but with a
better fortune clause of up to 100% of the value as soon as the value
of Promethera Biosciences exceeds Euro 400 million at the time of its
monetisation.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of listed equity securities of
approximately HK$31 million (2024: HK$25 million) was pledged to
secure borrowings (note 28).

for identification purpose only

25. LIAFEEHE
BZOMRE

o

GEE

(b)

HESE AR
(#%)

(%)

RZZEZZTF A AEEHEHBIE
= 77Co-High Investment Management Limited
([Co-Highl) AT R M AR R e -
MR —HeaEtE((EEREIDR
AFERLKREOENEME  RiE- H
ERDHEABERDHEEER - A%
EREZaEDE I %EE EE\M‘R
HEBRAEE 2 HBHREREEA

RZZE_ZEFLA GED %1&1@
f%ﬂ%&@&ﬁ&iZﬁi%_ﬁ
Promethera Biosciences S.A/N.V. ([ Promethera
Biosciences])) &I 3 & & sk + LARK L —
MeEgtE ([AEDLE2])  ZE%E
T EFHERBREF - 4B EPromethera
Biosciencesz B B A AN ERE A 2N 2
FERRMBRERAE L HEX
DIEARAEEER  B5 2% Ik
Wk EZERECHABREMESL R
B AEEEEKGERE MItERER
BALEESAIEERTT HERY
88/ £ % 7T) 2 Promethera Biosciences AJ 3
BESH -R-ZZT_ZTF+AH AEEE
REZE—HEER T HERNMUEE
BIT) c AEEWEREE _HEE S
T2 AR ES - BERERHED KRR -

1 7 Promethera Biosciencesm Ea B & &
W BREEESTRES I EHEPE
EE AN T —F— ﬂ?mﬁﬂﬂ%%'
TRFEEBERAESRGENRNEREE
HIRFF L/\EE{%E?“%)%EZ?”
REEEB 2EEE - LB RER
NMIBCEIRE=ZEN _T - —F
ZAMEZERNE - EATEBE
NS F%}\w%z%?'ﬁﬂ 18 TE 5
N H20% 2 B FIE (BAFBF X
£+2% - %5¢SEH12%) ME fi¥iPromethera
Biosciences,Z & 1B 1A H & % {b B #8 18400
BEMT AFESEERSEI00%
2B -

R-ZEBE-_RAF=A=+—8 BEHF
THRABEREEEANIEEST (=
T_NF :BEBEBT)IEREEZE
1% (ff5E28) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE T -—RAF=—A=+—HBILFE

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED 26.
DEPOSITS

ReRREeFE®EYLURBIEM
=
2025 2024
k- - Sl - ZEZNF
HK$’million HK$'million

BEEET BEETT

Pledged deposits (note a) BT (M aka) 7 15
Trusted and segregated bank accounts (note b) 15 5E & J8 7 R 178 P~ (Bid5Eh) 8 4
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY 132 350
Total BET 147 369
Notes: Mt -

(a)  The Group’s pledged bank deposits represented deposits pledged to () AEBZEEBRITHEREBES WK

banks to secure borrowings as set out in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

(b)  Trusted and segregated bank accounts represented clients’ accounts in
the provision of asset management, securities brokerage, commodities,
futures and other financial service business segment.

(c)  Asat 31 March 2025, the bank and cash balances of the Group
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to HK$10 million (2024:
HK$24 million). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject
to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

27. LEASE LIABILITIES 27. HERR

Present value of lease

Lease payments payments
HEMR HERRZHRE

2025 2024 2025 2024

ZE-hF —T_NF ZEZRFE —_T_UF

HK$’million HK$'million ~ HK$’million HK$'million

BEE#EBT BS&%tT HEB#ET BEAT

Within one year —&F A 12 10 11 10

In the second to fifth years, inclusive S _FEZFRF(ERE

W EBIRTEN) 15 10 15 9

21 20 26 19

Less: Future finance charges W RREE B (1) (1) - -

Present value of lease obligations HEEEZRE 26 19 26 19
Less: Amount due for settlement B P28 B AR EAE
within 12 months (shown 2 & BERE

under current liabilities) BEE TR (11) (10)
Amount due for settlement after 12 712 @ A &2 B BiE 1+ 2

months ] 15 9

RZE-RAF=A=+—H0 ' FHEK
EERAE400%E551%( = Z =04 : 4.00%
£488%) - M EREHNBHEE A&
B A A E A ERNERRE -

At 31 March 2025, the average effective borrowing rate was 4.00% to
5.51% (2024: 4.00% to 4.88%). Interest rates are fixed at the contract
dates and thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE T -—RAF=—A=+—HBILFE

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 28. BITREMBES
2025 2024
“E"hF —E-pUF
HK$ million HK$'million

BEEET BEETT

Bank borrowings RITEE 383 682

Loans from other financial institutions (note g) ~ H fth < B A% 18 ~ & 51 (M 7¥g) 836 978
1,219 1,660

Representing: 5 -

Current & 1,209 1,633

Non-current FERE 10 27
1,219 1,660

The borrowings are repayable as follows: BEEEBRLAT :

On demand or within one year BERKFIN—FRH 1,209 1,633

Between 1 and 2 years 13226 6 19

Between 2 and 5 years 2E5F 4 8
1,219 1,660

Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months J&% = 72 8 A REIHAEN 2 & 58

(shown under current liabilities) (RREBBEREIETIITR) (1,209) (1,633)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months R EAEIEBEN 28 10 27
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 28.

Notes:

(@)

The average interest rates at 31 March were as follows:

B|ITRAMER (3])
fi 3

()

REA=+—RZTHRIEDT -

2025 2024
—E_REFE —ENE
Bank borrowings RITEE 6.19% 6.01%
Loans from other financial institutions EfhemlE BN 3.82% 4.21%
Borrowings arranged at fixed interest rates are as follows: by REEMEFEZEEWT :
2025 2024
—E_RE —EMEF
HK$’million HK$'million
BEEET BEET
Bank borrowings RITIEE 5 10
Loans from other financial institutions HfhemiE BN 836 978
841 988
The Group’s variable rate borrowings carry interest ranged from 4.00% AEBEZZHF EREEZRN F400%2
t0 7.07% (2024: from 4.23% t0 8.93%). 707% (== P04 : 423%%8.93%) 1
FIREE -
The directors estimate the fair values of the Group’s borrowings ) ESH AEEEEZAFEHRG
approximate the carrying values of the borrowings. BEZREMBEMEE -
Bank and other borrowings of HK$1,217 million (2024: HK$1,614 () ROREMEEI27BEET(ZFT
million) are secured. As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts ZHOFAMEEB ) EEB RN
of financial and non-financial assets of the Group which have been ZE_hE=ZA=+—H fERETR
pledged as security for certain bank borrowings and loans from other TEEREMSRIEEZEFIKRZ
financial institutions are as follows: rEEemEkEemEEZREAEBEN
N
2025 2024
- Joly - 2 —EmE
HK$ million HK$'million
BE#ET BEET
Investment properties wEMZE 1,065 1,458
Corporate note receivables FEM 1 TR - 361
Property, plant and equipment M BB REE 94 106
Financial assets at FVTPL WAFEAEBEEZLH AR
wmZ B RMEE 31 25
Pledged bank deposits BRI ER 7 15
Total assets pledged as security EREHR cEREERE 1,197 1,965
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE —

EChFE=A=+—HILFE

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(e)

172 Aceso Life Science Group Limited

Certain other borrowings of the Group amounting to HK$35 million
(2024: HK$117 million) are secured by shares of HTICI held by the
Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group breached certain of
the financial covenant terms of two bank borrowings of a Hong Kong
bank (the “Bank”) with carrying amounts of HK$364 million as at 31
March 2024, which are primarily related to the amount of shareholder’s
equity. On 29 October 2024, the Group has received two waiver letters
from the Bank to waive the breach.

On 3 January 2025, the Group entered into second supplemental
agreements with the Bank to secure the two borrowings by the Charged
Property. Pursuant to the second supplemental agreement, the maturity
date of one of the borrowings with carrying amount of HK$75 million
was extended to 3 April 2025. However, the Group has failed to repay
such borrowing according to its maturity date subsequently and it is
still in default up to the date of this report.

On 17 April 2025, the Group has received a demand letter from the
Bank, claiming that, as at 31 March 2025, the Company was indebted
to the Bank a sum of approximately HK$352 million and the Company
was demanded to settle in full.

Since the relevant bank borrowings contain a repayment on demand
clause, the borrowings have been classified as current liabilities as at
31 March 2025 and 2024.

Up to the date of approval for issuance of the consolidated financial
statements, the negotiations between the Group and the Bank for
extension of two borrowings are still in progress. In any event, should
the Bank call for immediate repayment of the borrowings, the directors
of the Company believe that adequate alternative sources of finance are
available to ensure that there is no threat to the continuing operations
of the Group.

The loans from other financial institutions mainly represented
mortgage loan of properties located in the United Kingdom (note 16).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(9)

(Continued)

On 23 December 2024, the Group received a letter of reservation of
rights from the Agents claiming that the Group has failed to comply
with the loan covenant.

As at 31 March 2025, the aggregate outstanding carrying amount of
these loans was approximately GBP79 million (equivalent to HK$800
million).

The Group subsequently failed to repay the UK Loan in full on the
maturity date of 14 April 2025. On 16 April 2025, the Group received
a letter of reservation of rights and a demand letter from the Agents
regarding the UK Loan.

Up to the date of this report, the Group has obtained draft term sheet
from an international and sizeable financial institution for further
review and negotiation.

28. R1TR Hfnfs & (i&)
GERRC)
@ &

RZE-_WMFF+-_A=+=H &K
ERENREBEAZHOEFRE K &
TEAREE KRBT R -

RZZE-_RAF=A=+—H8 %ZEF
RE R EBAR S A% 4 579,000,000
% (488 $2800,000,0007% 7T ) °

AEBEBRENR-_ZT_RAFHEA
THRIHAAZBEERREEENR -1
“E-AFHEAT AR REEKE
EFRANKREARZTENREEER
BEE I HORE IR B BRI R i R

BHEAREEY AEECE—HE
MERRSREBEL 2 HXAAE
BoNURE-TERRER -

29. CORPORATE NOTE PAYABLES

29. EAERTHE

2025 2024

—ZT_hEF —TF

HK$’million HK$'million

BEE#ET BEAET

Current portion mBNER 505 420
Non-current portion EMEIER 2 - 100
505 520
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE —

E_RAFE=A=+—HBItEE

29. CORPORATE NOTE PAYABLES (Continued) 29. EFTLERE (8)
Notes: (Continued) BT - (B&)
(@) On 17 June 2022, the Group issued a note with principal amount of (a) Eé:%::i/—\ A++tH A&EBREZE
HK$370 million (the “2022 Note”), which is repayable on 16 September Nk 7‘%3705 F%}a THEE(ZE
2023, interest bearing at 8.5% and secured by certain equity interests ::xﬁﬂ) TECCEERAERE
in subsidiaries. ZE=EFNAFSNEEE  1E85%FE
I LABT BB A Rl T AR (B3 o
On 30 December 2024, the 2022 Note was extended to 17 September RZEBE-_WMF+=—A=+HB -#H=F
2025 with annual interest rate of 9.2%. The Group is actively T FEEBERE_ZT_RAFNA
negotiating with the note holder to grant an extension of 18 months for -H: B FF&E2% NEELREME
the outstanding corporate note payables. HEEZFAABE  URHREED
ENTEZES TI8E AT -
Remaining notes with aggregated principal amounts of HK$135 million BT ACRBEAIBEEEL (ZF
(2024: HK$150 million) bear interests ranging from 5% to 7.6% (2024: ZPOF - A50E BB ) R - FRE
4% to 9%) per annum with maturity dates between November 2024 to NF5%ZET. 6%(_$_@¢ 4%%E9%) -
January 2026 (2024: between January 2022 to January 2026). AN F=ZE-_NFE+—AE=Z
“RE—A(ZEZmE  NTFF
T —HF—RAE-T-R&—A8)-
30. TRADE PAYABLES 30. BEOEFARIE
The aging analysis of trade payables, based on the date of receipt of EZRNRERBEKERRZ 2R
goods, is as follows: DT
2025 2024
—E_LF —EF
HK$’million HK$'million
BEET BEAT
Within 30 days 308 A 2 2
31 to 60 days 31260H - 2
61 to 180 days 612180H 1 1
181 t0 360 days 181£360H = =
Over 360 days 8133608 1 1
4 6
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

31. OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND 31. HEFRIE - ST & REST
ACCRUALS B5H
2025 2024
—E"h¥F —E-OF
HK$’million HK$'million
BEET BEAETT

Margin deposits payable to clients arising from  E A BE &R © BE R BH KL
commodities, futures and securities brokerage ~ FEt B F 1R & 4 (Mfsta)

(note a) 10 5
Contract liabilities (note b) & B & (M 5Eb) 1 2
Accruals EEER 16 13
Interests payables FERTF B 75 44
Provision for liabilities arising from financial WA EGFEAEZE AER

assets at FVTPL (note 7) L emEEEEMNGEEREME (M

F57) 27 27
Others (note c) E A (Bt 5%c) 29 38
158 129
Notes: B 5E -
(a)  Margin deposits received from clients for their trading of commodities () HEEAMEABEASHEREFLRE
and futures contracts were payable on demand. SRENRKEIN -
(b) (b)
As at As at As at
31 March 31 March 31 March
2025 2024 2023

RIEZRE RZZT-_NF R-_T-_=F
SHHEESHE = H=---8 =H=+—HE
HK$’million HK$'million HK$'million
HEET HEBT BEATT

Contract liabilities — advances received from A& E-FBUREFZHIE

customers 1 2 4
2025 2024

R-E_R1F RKR-ZZT-NEF

HK$’million HK$'million

BEEET BEETT

Revenue recognised in the year that was included in R EFE#F A A K B E 2 F AFE
contract liabilities at beginning of year RUA 2 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE—-Z

31. OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND

ACCRUALS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

Transaction prices allocated to performance obligations unsatisfied at

end of year and expected to be recognised as revenue in:

“HFZA=T—RLFE

31.

HAtfEM IR - ST & K Eat
B (|

MaE - (88)
(b) (#&)

RERDEEREKEDE EL A
RATERERBBRAZRHE :

2025 2024
—E-RF —ZE-gF
HK$’million HK$'million
BHEAET BEET
2024 T NF = =
2025 —E-HRHF 1 11
1 11

Significant changes in contract liabilities during the year: FRENABZERES :
2025 2024
- - —E A
HK$’million HK$'million
BHEET BEET
Increase due to operations in the year REZ H L& Mg N 7 21
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue BRA EEX N 8 23

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
products to a customer for which the Group has received consideration
(or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

As at 31 March 2025, included in others was an amount due to a
director of subsidiaries of HK$1 million (2024: HK$1 million). It is

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRH T
Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE
32. DEFERRED TAX 32. ;REERIE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised WTARAEEMERCEERLEHRER
by the Group. BREE
Fair valug
adjustments on
property, plant
and equipment,
intangible assets  Fair value change of
Recelerated fax Right-otuse ~ and investment  investment held for
Lease liabliies Tax losses Gepreciation assels properiies trading Total
WE BER
iR BVEE
i iR RREWR  REERRE
BRAR REER RERE BE  (OTERE  CLTEER i
HeS milion HeS milion kS milion HkS milion kS milion HiSmilion HiSmilion
RERT AERT ELE BB BB AEET EL
Asat T hor 2023 W-E-ZEmA-A 4 i ) 1] (M) § [t
(Chrge) e topft o oss fr e~ EAANERS (A1) /3 A
o i - 1 i 0 - H
Eicangeagnmen 3 - - - - () g (I
Isa 3N M4 1 Al 204 R-E-MEZA=1-R
R-F-MERA-A 3 i (%) (3 (61) § (26)
(Chag) e toprft orloss forthe~ EARNERS (4114) /3 A
o ) (46) 3 3 8 ]
Echengedignment B - - - - (1) (1)
fsat 31 Marh 2025 RZF-RE=A=1-A 2 2 ) § (10)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

32. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 32. GEFEIRIA (48)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for MGV BARAERMS - BERIB LR
consolidated statement of financial position purposes: (ESEB) 2T -
2025 2024
ot o - —TF
HK$’million HK$'million
BEET BEBT
Deferred tax assets BERIEE E 7 58
Deferred tax liabilities EXEFIEA & (17) (84)
(10) (26)
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of HK$794 million BMERAFBAREGEMEE ST (=
(2024: HK$274 million) of unutilised tax losses due to the unpredictability T_MF 274 & B L) REIETR A
of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of BE REAKREET AR EFMEA -
HK$40 million (2024: HK$45 million) that will expire in one to five years. RERDEEBEEBRE ﬂ%?ﬁ"é*i%‘:ﬁi Al
Other tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely. A BROEE BT (ZF _M4%F : 45
BT o HAHIER BN ER I -
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of HK$156 million AR AR MR IATRR  ER DR
(2024: 14 million) of deductible temporary difference arising from ECL on BEEMERE %ﬁﬁ? A 21568 88T
financial asset due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. (ZZE—mE 145 87T) I RNER
EHRRELEHIBEE -
33. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FVTPL 3B. ULAFEHEHHEILE AR
RZEeMAR
2025 2024
k- Jo - —TOF
HK$’million HK$'million
BEET BEBTT
Non-current JEMED
Corporate note payable JERNEERE 551 539
In January 2021, the Group completed the acquisition of Alcott Global — T —F— A AEETKBBERHR
Limited (“AGL”) which held 22% interest in CESIZ (note 18), and issued CESIZ (B 5£18) 22% 3 1 Ay Alcott Global Limited
note with principal amount of HK$850 million as part of the consideration. ([AGL)) F2 B 1T A & %8 38508 & /8 1T £
The note has a maturity date of 3 years from the date of issue, subject FRERMOKE - ZFENINMA S
to the extension at the option by the Group at their sole discretion. The ZOBEMEN —F  THASERFER
note bears 5% interests per annum, subject to the satisfaction of (i) BIER - ZRBIWF B5%t 8 - AR
having received audited financial statement of CESIZ prepared under a LA TR - ()2 B RIRE B B 5 3
HKFRS Accounting Standards; and (ii) the return on net assets of CESIZ, 5 28 Bl & 5 2 B 4R S MCESIZAE 28 2 B 715
calculated by dividing net profit after tax over net assets, for the previous gk ¢ Re(ii) - — B BC4F R CESIZHY A B
financial year achieved 20% or more. The repayment of principal and Bl ¥ (322 o B 18 3 R R BR DUF B EFT H)
interest (i any) shall be made (1) only if and when the Group has received EH20%K A E o AP R A2 (1F) FE(T)
cash payment of dividend declared by CESIE; or (2) out of proceeds if {2 70 7K & B W BICESIZS Ik # 3 & AR A
and when the Group has disposed of its shares in AGL or the immediate (2 AN &= [ 1 & H OAGLEAGLE # 12
holding Company of AGL; or (3) out of proceeds if and when AGL has & ) 8 AR 10 B B A P AS 3ROE (3
disposal of its shares in CESIE. The corporate note is a contingent AGL I & EL A CESIZH) 2 173 5 B F FIT 15 3018
consideration payable by the Group which is carried at fair value with BE CEEREAFERN Z2HAN
changes in fair value recognised in consolidated profit or loss. /{% *L. BAVEE 2 FEZFH AL
S8 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. B&E
Number of shares
v 4=
(‘million) HK$'million
(BE&R) ABEAETT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FR00E T LB
Authorised: EBE -
As at 1 April 2023, 31 March RZE-_=FWMA—H —T_UF=
2024 and 31 March 2025 A=+—BR-_BE-_RFE=A=1+—
= 50,000 500
Issued and fully paid: ERTRBRE -
As at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and31 R—_Z-_=FPWA—H - — T -_WNF=
March 2025 A=+—8xk
—E-RAF=ZA=+—H 7,382 73
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the REBEEBEARABEAREARAERE
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise the Eamas e h . WilB BRI ERE R EA
return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity i AREZEESREADR -
balance.
As at 31 March 2025, the number of the Company’s treasury shares held RZE_RAF=A=+—"8 K~&EEHF
by the Group was 226,800,000 shares (2024: 107,550,000 shares). B2 ARNRA B EFRGDEE £226,800,0000%

(ZZ — P04 : 107,550,000%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 & ZE —

EChFE=A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(a)

180 Aceso Life Science Group Limited

Share award

HTICI adopted a share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”)
on 24 April 2020. The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are
(a) to recognise the contributions by selected participants and to
provide them with incentives in order to retain them; and (b) to
attract the right talents for promoting the future development and
expansion of the Group, with a view to achieving the objective of
increasing the value of the Group by motivating the participants
to strive for the continual operation and future development and
expansion of the group and aligning the interests of the participants
and the shareholders of HTICI.

Pursuant to the scheme rules, the board of HTICI may determine
other specific vesting criteria, conditions and the time when the
awards shall vest. The award share (the “Award Shares”) are vested
in three equal tranches of which: (a) 1/3 of the Award Shares under
the award shall be vested in the first calendar year after the offer
date during a period of continuous service with the Group; (b) 1/3
of the Award Shares under the award shall be vested in the second
calendar year of continuous service with the Group after the offer
date; (c) 1/3 of the Award Shares under the award shall be vested
in the third calendar year of continuous service with the Group after
the offer date.

Annual Report 2024/25

35. BIBR iR K 3K

(a)

B {7 B€ W

SREERRREER T _ZTF
0A =+ /A RA R ZE 2
(TR D €yt &1 1) B 1) €=t &I
BRMR@QsERELREERLZE
Bl T RNSREERNBERS
ROWIIEEZAT - AEERE
BARREREBEREL SEEB
BB EERRNEERFELENR
ARERERBEFREGNS NEHR
HASEEENBER TEERS
HERSAERERRERRZF
Fa RS

REEFHEHRE RRERERRE
EXgnETAMTERBRE

it BB R B - B D
1147 J)“_Tttf;%E & H
B (QEREIIR N 23R B A ) B IR
ii‘“’%$’§lﬁ|§i‘%ﬁﬁﬁﬁyé’75ﬁﬂ
BREEEFHS: b)REET 213
HERD FE%Ei’JEIHHé:?iZ““Eﬁ

SERBcFE _FEFRE : (R
EJJIETZ1/3§§EJJH§T§M‘§EE%@ B

{éi%ii“”ﬁ$%‘%ﬁﬁ%2%51§¢
B8 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a)

Share award (Continued)

Movement and details of the award shares during the year are as
follows:

35. LAR {5 fiz X £ 3% (#8)

(a) BeinBEm (i&)

AEERBRAEHNT

Number of award shares
A8 B
24 April 2020 29 June 2020 Total
k- Jamt- - - Jomt- <}
MBA=+MA ~BZt+hA @
million million million
BER BER BER
Ouistanding as at 1April 2023 AT -=FMNA—HEAKE 7 pal 2
Vested during the year AEERE (7) (21) (28)
Outstanding as at 31 March 2024 A-E-NFE=ZA=+—HR
and 31 March 2025 —E-RE=A=t-HHARA - = =
Share price at date of grant (HK$) AR i B 3 2 R B (& 7r) 0.246 0.148
Fair value at date of grant REL RSBz ATE
(HKS millon) (BEBAT) 8 10
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE T -—RAF=—A=+—HBILFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 35. LIBRpc K -k (48)
(b) Emolument shares (b) BAEBR{®
Movement of the emolument shares granted by HTICI during the FA - Z2REBRBEZZER L 2
year are as follows: TRMOEBENT ¢

Emolument

Shares

B & B% {7

6 October

2020

- Jok 3. 3

+A7KAH

Qutstanding as at 1 April 2023 RZEBE-=FHA—HRHKRET 3
Vested during the year rEEHB )
Lapsed/cancelled during the year REE KRB G (1)

QOutstanding as at 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 R-Z-_WMF=ZA=+—H  ZZ=-NFNQ
and 31 March 2025 A—BE-_Z-_RF=A=+—H

R4 -

Share price at date of grant (HK$) ML B2 RE (BT) 0.395
Fair value at date of grant (HK$ million) REFBBHzAFE(BEEST) 3
2025 2024

—E_RE —E-E

HK$’million HK$'million

BEET BEBT

Share-based payment expenses PARUR T AN 3R P 2 - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

35. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 35. LIBgn iz £ 5% (#8)

(b)

Emolument shares (Continued) (b)

Details of the specific categories of emolument shares are as
follows:

B & B% 17 (#8)

HERER e RMHFBET

2025 2024

—E_RF —ETNEF

Number of Number of

emolument emolument

Date of grant Vesting period shares shares

#HEBAM BB BB ®E MESRHEE

6 October 2020 6 October 2020 — 6 October 2023 (note) - -
—EZFTF+HAKAB —EEF+HRBE

—E-=F1+ A8 ()

Note:

These emolument shares were granted to Mr. Xu Lin and Mr. Wei
Bin (resigned on 1 April 2023), as part of their emolument as non-
executive directors of HTICI. If Mr. Xu Lin and Mr. Wei Bin ceases to
be a director of HTICI for any reason before any vesting date, Mr. Xu
Lin and Mr. Wei Bin shall be entitled to receive a pro rata portion of
the emolument shares calculated on the basis of the number of days
worked by Mr. Xu Lin and Mr. Wei Bin.

B 3

MEBRNRERTFERARERITEEH
TEEFMHAEERBEREE (R ZZ
—“ZHEMA—RABET  EAEME—
Do HEFH L £ RBR K EEAM
SEBHNERTAEAMABELSR
FEBRREREES  AHFMELER
BORCAERERIZL AN EE DB
BED - st EEE AL A ML
HE2T{ERE-

ha[ 3 |
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. MR FEAEEER
2025 2024
—_E_RF —ENF
HK$’million HK$'million
BHEET BEBIT
Financial assets SMEE
Financial assets at FVTOCI AT EFEA RS AEM
cEKREZEMEE 373 447
Financial assets at FVTPL NWAFEFEAEEZFABEY
THMEE 80 119
Other financial assets HihemEE 1 1
Financial assets at amortised cost REIEKAYE REE
Loan receivables R E M 47
Finance lease receivables B & H E RN GRIR 3 1
Corporate note receivables R ERE 43 501
Cash and cash equivalents and pledged ~ IR& MIRESEEBWIANK
bank deposits BEHEFIRITER 147 369
Trade receivables B 5 EINFRIE 161 208
Other receivables and deposits HEmpEHIARE] £ 53 17
902 1,710
Financial liabilities e&RAR
Financial liabilities at FVTPL UAFEFEBEEHABREY
TREE 551 539
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REEKAVEZ cRAE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEER 1,219 1,660
Corporate note payables ERNERE 505 520
Trade payables B S EMN IR 4 6
Other payables and accruals HiEMNRIBERETER 157 127
Lease liabilities HEEE 26 19
2,462 2871
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments include market risk
(interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
of the Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to pledged
bank deposits (see note 26), fixed-rate bank and other borrowings (see
note 28 for details of these borrowings) and lease liabilities (see note
27 for details). The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances (see note 28 for details) and
variable-rate bank borrowings (see note 28 for details). The Group cash
flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of interest
rates on bank balances and one month HIBOR arising from the Group’s
Hong Kong dollar denominated borrowings. The Group manages its
interest rate exposures by assessing the potential impact arising from
any interest rate movements based on interest rate level and outlook. The
management will review the proportion of borrowings in fixed and floating
rates and ensure they are within reasonable range.

The sensitivity analysis below demonstrates the effect of the interest
differences by a 1% change on variable rate borrowings and bank and
pledged deposits, assuming all other variables were held constant.

36.

Carrying amount

eRkEFEREEE (])

ERTAFERABMERE 2%F
SR T ABBNRERSRETSRR (X
R EEMERER)  EERRLRE
B R o A NS0 ] R % F AR
MR - AEEEREUZSABRET
BIE OB AR KA RO IR EUE

EiEE o
T 45 i B
2 L BR

AEBAMHEHECEARTERGR
ff5E26) ~ ERRWITREMEE (ZFE
EHBRMESN) UREEAE FERH
H27) 2 A EMERER - NREBETRAR
HEMTERITASR (FRWES) BF
BRITEE (FRWE8) 2REmH =
Bk - AEEZRERANERBREESE
RRIRITAERTN R R AEBEIABTAHE
ZIEEMEENEAEBRITAREKR
ZRE) o A& BRBRENRKF KA
RAGEEMMNEEFEL B
BHEMNERER EEERRSELSEER
MEREELE  BREESESENR -

B 480 AL
TEBR

Ttz GRE DI RRR A &
ERFAE  FREEUALRRITRER
RERESNHMNEEZRTE -

Impact on post-tax loss

RmE{E HRESGRZRE
2025 2024 2025 2024
—ERE —_T_MF ZTEITHFE —_T_MF
HK$’million HK$'million  HK$’million HK$'million
BEE#EBT BS&%tT HEB#ERT BEAT
Floating-rate borrowings FEEE (378) (672) (4) (6)
Bank and pledged deposits RITREEBFR 15 - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BEHmRHE
Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HZE—_ZT_-_HAF=A=+—HIFE
36. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. EMREIXEBER(E)
(CONTINUED)
Other price risk H fih 5 4% & b=
The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in AEE I&ELZEM NFEEGFTEBEHE
equity securities measured at FVTPL and FVTOCI. For equity securities LR ABRERARFEFEBEHEE
measured at FVTPL and FVTOCI which are quoted in the Stock Exchange, AEME2ERBAENRAEBES AR
the management of the Group manages this exposure by maintaining a BRABERER - LB XFTRENIAAD
portfolio of investments with different risks. The Group has appointed a ?TEW‘EH/H\Z‘{EH)\EE&M NFEE
special team to monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the risk .quEELﬁ Bl AEMEEKE 2 RA
exposure should the need arise. Earms ARBEEEERAEFAS
Tﬂﬂ R IERAER I ERR - N
SEEEmER/NAREIEERRAR I
RV ERE R R RR# O
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure ATS#RESNIBBERESHRMES
to listed equity securities price risks at the end of the reporting period. The FTTIRABLHSERRREE HERED
sensitivity analysis included those financial assets at FVTPL and financial MEEAAFETEA LS (LT ABE
assets at FVTOCI. If the prices of the respective equity investment included ZEBMEERARNTFEFEBEE LG
in financial assets at FVTPL and FVTOCI had been 10% higher/lower, AEMEEKEZ SMEE - MAATF
assuming all other variables were held constant, the impact to the Group TE FFERESEFABERARFER
would be as follows: BEBGFAEMZAKS EHE
;'Zﬁfr’? SHEEER ?xéfz{ﬁﬂi*ﬂﬂ//)ﬁk
0% - BEFMBEEMESHITFTIE
HAEBZHENT -
2025 2024
kS - —ENEF
HK$’million HK$'million
BEET BEET
Impact on loss/profit after tax xﬁﬂéﬁiﬂ@/ i | P2 +10% 4 7
Financial assets at FVTPL ATFEGEBEELEA
%a S RREE -10% (4) (7)
Impact on FVTOCI reserve HARNFEFEBHEEE
AEME2EREZ REZF
gég +10% 4 1
Financial assets at FVTOCI NEEFEBEZLETA
E{’QEEH& s CREE -10% (4) )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE-—ZT-_HAF=-A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. SRR EREEER ()
(CONTINUED)
Credit risk and impairment assessment B E RS R EAT
Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default on their EERBEASESFAIRESHE E
contractual obligations resulting in financial losses to the Group. The EXHE @IK SEEX BB RNRR
Group’s credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to trade and other AEBNEERRTIEZEFEARES &ﬁ
receivables and deposits, loan receivables, finance lease receivables, tRERREBERTE BREXR BE
corporate note receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and HERWKRIE BRGERE  BEHF
debt instruments at FVTPL. The Group does not hold any collateral or RITHER - R ﬁ EHEUAFEFER
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its HE it A\ BR BB IR -A&EEY
financial assets except that the credit risks associated with certain loan EREeEMEERKEMmEEER I A
receivables is mitigated because they are secured over properties. NEZENHSREEREANEER
ﬁﬁ%?ﬂ%%ﬁﬁ%%hﬁﬂ@lﬁ
BY LRI B PR -
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the AEBAREERRFRTHEEAT
following categories: 5l

Other financial

Internal credit rating Description Trade receivables assets/other items
Hth SpEE
P BB (5 S AE R L $57) BHEKHEA HttImE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not  Lifetime ECL—not credit-  12m ECL
have any past-due amounts impaired
1K =2 Bz HFEFRARREK BYEEAEERE 2HEHEEES REAEHEE
BE-EEERE &EE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle Lifetime ECL—not credit- 12m ECL
in full impaired
BRuE BEHREALERIBABRER  BRAERE 2HEHEEES REAEHREE
A BE-EEERE BE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since  Lifetime ECL—not credit-  Lifetime ECL—not credit-
initial recognition through information developed impaired impaired
internally or external resources
A &F BIRHERLAR - FZRAMPIIINBERGE 2HEHEEE 2HEREES
B & £ 2% BR{E B = b #E = 45 hN BE-EEERE EB-EBEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired  Lifetime ECL—credit- Lifetime ECL—credit-
impaired impaired
B8 EREBEBRTNEELBEEERE ZHIEEGEEE A2HEREES

B—{EERE B—{EERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe  Amount is written off Amount is written off
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery

T 25 ERBRETEBARERBRENBRE  MA MiHSE WMiHE 5
SR E B U Bl A AT R 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3. EMRBEFEREEE ()

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) SRR ETME ()
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial ~ N RS B AR E B BE TR EEE BT
assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: BZERMEEMERZZEERR :
External Internal 12mor 2025 204
Notes credit rating credit rating Lifetime ECL ~ Grossamount  Gross amount
+-@R% -B-EE  CECmE
Wi MEBGEEER  APERAR 2MRMGEHER 3] L3 ]
Hk$million HK§ million
BEAT BEAT
Financial assets a amortised cost ERARFTIRCEMEE
Trade receivatles BoRNE 3 A Note Littime ECL 8 0
BisE (simplified approach)
MNER 2HRHEEER
(BlnE)
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL 128 =
(crett-impaired)
MNiR BB 2HRHEEEE-
(FERE)
M 2
Loan receivables FWER 2 A Lowrisk 1mEcL 13 -
MNER {ifel t-@A
EE g
N/A Doubtul Lifetime ECL - ]
(not credit-impaired)
Byl TR 2HBHEEEE
(BEERHE)
NA Loss Lifetime ECL pu 168
(credt-impaired)
MR B 2HEHEEER-
(EERE)
U2 238
Corporate noe rceivables EYGERE 2 NA Lowrisk 12mECL - 408
Byl Rk TZERRH
EEBR
N/A Doubtul Lifetime ECL ) 17
(not credit-impaired)
MR TR 2HRBEEER
(BEEHE)
N/A Loss Lifetime ECL i A
(creit-impaired)
MR B 2HESBEEES-
(2R E)
490 854
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial

3. ek RFERER (&)

15 S5 B B B¢ il {E A 1 (#89)
TRAMINBAEEAETRBEEERN

assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: (Continued) B eRMEEMAZZEERR : (8)
External Internal 12m or 2025 204
Notes credit rating credit rating Lifetime ECL ~ Gross amount  Gross amount
+ZER%  -BZif Z3CME
M MBGEEER  ABEEAR 20RMGHER Hel #ee
Hk§millon HK§ millon
BERT BEAT
Other receivables and deposts A RAFERTS o WA Lowrisk 1mECL 5 17
TNER EER R
ROEEFE
Bank balances and pledged bark deposits ——~ RATEBRERBRTE 8 NJA A 1amECL " 369
#
iR NER +-[ER
RREEFR
Others £t
Finance lease receivables HARERYGE i Lowrisk Liftime ECL 3 1
(simplified approach)
MR EER 2HEHEEER
(@A)

Note: The Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance for trade receivables on life time ECL basis.

Trade receivables

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 5.2% (2024: 20.1%) and
39.9% (2024: 59.9%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers respectively
within the rental income from construction machinery segment/securities
brokerage segment. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits and credit approvals.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on trade receivables collectively. Trade receivables are grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to the Group’s internal
credit ratings and aging of outstanding balances. Impairment of HK$3
million (2024 nil) is recognised during the year. Details of the quantitative
disclosures are set out below in this note.

it : AREEEATENBEREERBEI
2B EREMRREEBERE
EFERKE SRR BERE -

BHEKRIE

AR AREES2%(ZF M : 201%) &
39.9%(=F 4 : 59.9%) BV & 5 & Y 3K
HEBSDIRRASERATRL A
REPHRIE  MRFEP BN EERM
DEMESWA BHFLLEDE - BUR
SEERETEERR REERIE
SRk AEEEEEDZIRK—E®EEK
BEEFEERBREESEL

o AEEERABREEHEELY
B RBFIRR —EITRER G - &
RUFBRDZBEAEEERREHES
EAEEARBEEFERRREREHRZ
fRik D18 - FARBERIBEET (=
ToMFE) BEBRBHBHARAM
AR e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BEHmRHE
Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE
36. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. EMREIXEBER(E)
(CONTINUED)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 15 5 B B% Bk (B AT 4 (48)
Trade receivables (Continued) Y HEWHIE ()
The Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers AEERBRERREBEEZHS KA
in relation to rental income from construction machinery business because KABEBARRKRTIGHEEFRERL R
these customers consist of a large number of customers with common risk RZERFREAEEGHARRE
characteristics that are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all BNEF ZEHERAREHEMARE
amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms. The following table EFPIREBERGAINE2E D EAFKIEA )
provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables BN TRIREEME HEBKRIBEAR
which are assessed on a collective basis by using provision matrix within ZIEERBRER  NEAFTEE2HER
lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). EEBE(EEERE) cBEEME —
HEITELAE -
Past due
L]
Curent  1t030days 3110 90days 91to180days  Over181 days Total
ki 1308 31E90A 911808 1B1BLE )
Trade receivables - entel income from construction~  BEEWFUA-BEMBER 2
machingry busingss AERA
As at 31 March 2025 AZZZREZRZ+-H
Weighted average expected loss ate METLEREER 78% 8.0% 148% 180% 28% 15.2%
Receivable amount (HKSmilon) BLEEAET Yoo 6 1 4 5 7 2
Loss alowance (HKSmilion) EiERE(EEET) - - 1 1 2 4
As at 31 March 2024 R-S-ME=R=1-H
Weighted average expected loss ate NETLEHEEER 46% 96% 196% 0% 713% 4%
Reoeivable amount (HKSmilon) hEeE(FEET) 13 18 3 3 11 4
Loss alowance (HKSmilion) Bk (E84T) 1 2 - 1 § 1
Trade receivables - securtes rokerage BARUTE R
As at 31 March 2025 R-BZEE=A=1-H
Weighted average expected loss ate METLEREER 10%  NATER 10% 10% 318% 283%
Receivable amount (HKSmilon) BLEEAET ¥ 1 - 1 2 151 164
Loss alowance (HKSmilion) EiERE(EEET) - - = = ) 4
As at 31 March 2024 R-S-WE=R=1-H
Weighted average expected loss ate METLEHERER 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10%
Receivable amount (HKSmilon) hEsE(FEET) - 11 68 2 (Y 130
Loss allowance (HKmilion) Bk (EEET) - - - - 1 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

36.

eRkEFEREEE (])

B B B3 R R (E AT G (1))

Trade receivables (Continued) B HEWHIE ()
Past due
&N
Curent  1to30days  31to90days 91to180days  Over 181 days Total
ki 1308 HEINAR 91180 1B1BME )
Trade receivables - rental income from EARLRE-DEREELEL
froperty leasing HakA

As at 31 March 2025 R-BZEE=A=+-H
Weighted average expected loss ate METLERERR 33% 33% 33% 3% 33% 33%
Recsivable amount (HKSmilon) EEEEFAGT ) 2 - - - - 2
Loss allowance (HKSmilon) BiERE(EEET) - - - - = =
As at 31 March 2024 R-S-WE=R=1-H
Weighted average expected loss ate METHRREER 1% 31% 31% 31% 3:1% 31%
Reoeivable amount (HKSrilon) hEsE(FE%ED) 4 - - - - 4

Loss allowance (HKSmilion) EiEREEEET)

The credit risks for the trade receivables from securities brokerage are
mitigated by the security over equity securities. Based on the Group’s
policy on the collateral of the receivables, the value of collateral of
receivables should at no time be less than the respective outstanding
amount, otherwise the Group will immediately demand with any margin
call to the debtor for placing additional cash into the account from time to

time.

For the trade receivables from securities brokerage and rental income
from leasing of investment properties, the Group applies internal credit
rating for its customers and used a collective basis within lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired). The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and
are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without

undue cost or effort.

Trade receivables from securities brokerage with gross carrying amounts
of HK$164 million (2024: HK$150 million), of which HK$151 million
(2024: HK$150 million) were secured by the borrowers’ pledged
securities, the market value less the estimated cost to sell amounted
to HK$205 million (2024: HK$326 million), with average loss rate of
28.9% (2024: 1.0%). Trade receivables from rental income from leasing
of investment properties with gross carrying amounts of HK$20 million
(2024: HK$24 million) with average loss rate of 3.3% (2024: 3.1%) were

applied.

AR R RF N EERRE B IAKR
REHEEBMFARE - REBERNEE
Z W AR B BB R - RURSE M
mZ BEMEAKRESTNSEREGRZ
AEBCH  QRAKREKILAERE
AT AKRPEMNRE

MEFRRLZEZRYAR B HEKRE
MEZESWAME  AEEBHEEP
ERNA2MEREEER (BEERE)
ZAEBE AR - A BERDRIEGE
BABRFHANBERRMBENE
et YRBBEMNHBEZRAKE HAD
AESHREEERHELFE -

BHEEL 2 ESENGFIBENERTAESR
14EEB L (ZETE_MF 150885
Jo)  HEFRBIEER T (ZE M 1 150
BEBL) MERABNBE BB HFIEE
R MERMGEFTHEKA R2058 &5 7T
(ZE-MF : 32688 87m) * FHEE
R EBI%(ZZE_NF :10%) - ERT
HEAREWEZHES WA ZE S ERZK
B EREAEARNGEE T (ZE M
F 0588 FHEEEXAEII%(Z
T_PIF 1 31%) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March 2025 #HZE—ZT-—RAF=A=+—HIEFE

36. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. EMREIXEBER(E)
(CONTINUED)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 15 5 B B% Bk (B AT 4 (48)
Trade receivables (Continued) Y HEWHIE ()

TRITRZE LB B 5 FE W R IR
RNEHBREEBRED -

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has been
recognised for trade receivables under the simplified approach.

Rental income

Rental income from construction from property
machinery business Securities brokerage Ieasing
NERERS
RERR ZHE2RA Erg WA
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(simplified Lifetime ECL

(simplified Lifetime ECL (simplified

approach) ~ (credit-impaired) approach)  (credit-impaired) approach) Total
2EBE 2HES 2HEH RS 2HEH
FEEE  GEEE  FHEFR  GEEB GEEER
(Brz) (EERE)  (BEhE) (EERE)  (BkrE) )
HKS million HKS million HKS million HKS million HKS million HK§ million
BEET BEAT BEAT BEET BEAT BEAT
Asat 1 April 2023 RZE-ZFMA-H 1 = 1 - 1 1
Changes due fo trade receivables recognised ot RR-F-=4MA-A%AN
1 April 2023 U eV EE Gl
- mpairment loss reversed -EREREEE () = (1 = (1 (13)
New financil assets oiginated ELNeREE 11 - 1 - 1 13
As at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZB-ME=A=+-H
R-E-mERA-A 2 2 1 - 1 1
Changes due 1o trade receivables recognised at RN -E-MEMA-AERH
1 Apil 2024 ECLLE CEE Gl
~ Impairment loss recognised -BRARERE = 1 - 8 = £
~ Impairment loss reversed -BRERERE (1) - (1) = (1) (1)
New financil assets originated ELNERAE 2 - - - = 2
As at 31 March 2025 RZZ-RF=R=1-A 3 1 - ) - 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Loan receivables

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring
on the financial instrument at the reporting date with the risk perceived
at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the loan
receivables from borrowers are assessed individually by the management
of the Group, based on the financial background, financial condition and
historical settlement records, including past due dates and probability of
default, of each borrower and reasonable and supportable forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort. Each borrower
is assigned a risk grading under internal credit ratings to calculate the
ECL, taking into consideration the estimates of expected cash shortfalls
which are driven by the estimates of probability of default and expected
loss given default, including taking into account the amount and timing
of cash flows that are expected from foreclosure on the collateral (if any)
less the costs of selling the collateral. At every reporting date, the financial
background, financial condition and historical settlement records of each
borrower are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information

are considered.

The Group considers various actions for recovery of the credit-impaired
loans including regular collateral review and communication with the
borrowers in order to keep updated with the latest credit risk profile of
the borrowers. In the event of occurrence of default with loans that have
collateral, the Group would take possession of the assets held as collateral
through court proceedings or accept voluntary delivery of possession of
the assets by the borrower. The credit quality review process enables the
Group to assess the potential loss in view of the credit risk it is exposed to

and to take appropriate corrective actions promptly.

36.

eRkEFEREEE (])

B B B3 R R (E AT G (1))

B
NG ENRERREERREERE

e AEBEHNREBHARESRT
AERAMENRRREYAER R R
R R BT - AT UL AP - R
SEEEENENSERANMBER
BRI B A Rek (B iR A 5
FRHBER) - A RETTH B LKA
BANBATAESHGIERAERMT
R ATIEE B R - S RUE KA
R0 RIETTRI G o IRIEAEE AR
HEERANETRRBD R U ERH
EEEER EPARHROBEREN
BRBRATERNBHR SRR 2 (A5
B RERmBUSEL#E (A) A
EEMRERRELERMMOKALZ
SREEHEH REEREEH 9%
ERANTHE R - MRS BES
NS ETEMNNG  XEEAMELE
e o

AEBEZERNAREEEREERL
ZRTY ERCHEEE MR NERE
RABE UTHRERAZERHEER
RIFN - HWEBERMOERBLEHER
B0 AEE R BB AR FF RIS HHE
EMmzEENMAEEIBERASR
RNEENFAER - EEEREERF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Loan receivables (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group’s loan receivables were
debtors with aggregate gross carrying amount of HK$242 million (2024:
HK$238 million), of which (i) HK$37 million (2024: HK$37 million) were
secured by the borrowers’ pledged properties, the market value of the
properties less the estimated costs to sell amounted to HK$38 million
(2024: HK$47 million). The market value of the pledged properties was
determined by management estimation using direct comparison method
and was categorised into Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the related
cumulative ECL of HK$9 million (2024: HK$6 million) was provided after
considering the adjustment to reflect loss given default based on the
expected realisation value of the collateral; and (i) HK$33 million (2024:
HK$33 million) were secured by a loan assignment in the net carrying
amount of nil (2024: HK$17 million), the related cumulative ECL of
HK$33 million (2024: HK$16 million) was provided after considering the
adjustment to reflect loss given default based on the expected realisation

value of the collateral.

The Group is not permitted to sell or repledge the collateral in the absence

of default by the borrowers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. EMREXEMGEE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) B B BB B R (E ET ( (E)
Loan receivables (Continued) B s (F)
The movement of impairment allowance on loan receivables for the year is REERKERNBERBESHNOT -
as follows:
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit-impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
RUROERER 2URNGEHESR
(REREE) (RREE) C )
HKS million HKS million HKS million
BRET BEET BRET
At April 2023 W-E-=4#WmA-H 112 - 112
Changes dueto loan receivables recognised A =E - =FMA—AEAE
at 1 April 2023: WERFmEES:
—Transferred to credit-impaired -BREEEERNE (168) 168 -
~ Impairment allowance reversed -CEORERR (3) - (3)
~mpairment allowance recognised -BRARERE 8 - 8
Exchange lignment B A% 2) > 2)
At 31 March 2024 R-E-NE
=RA=1-H ] 168 191
Changes dug to loan receivables recognised =T MEMA—HERE
at 1 April 2024: WEFFREED:
~ Transferred {o credit-impaired -EREEENE (23) i) -
~ Impaiment allowance reversed -BREEER - (9) (9)
~mpairment allowance recognised -ERARNERE - 19 19
At 31 March 2025 RZZ-RF=A=1+-H - 201 201
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36.

(CONTINUED)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Corporate note receivables

For corporate note receivables, the management makes periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative information that is

reasonable and supportive forward-looking information.

The movement of impairment allowance on corporate note receivables for
the year is as follows:

eMREAEREEE(|)

15 5% B Bt B il 4 B £ (#R)

Bl fRRE

REKREEXREMNS  BEEEENBHE
BNRE BELCBRURAEBZEER
EHEEMURASHEZAELEERE
H {8 Bl 51 5 B R b X IR A0 AT e Bl 1 -

AEFRREERBREBRERZSNT

Life time ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
2HFH
12ER 2HFANGRER ERER
RHRRER (RiEREE) (REWE) #st
HKS million HKS million HKS million HKS million
BEET BEET BEET BEET
At1 April 2023 RZE-=4NA-A 105 - 262 367
Changes due to corporate nots receivables recognised 70 =2 = =F WA —HER
at 1 April 2023 RUEZRAMHE
~ Impaiment allowance reversed -BEERERE (14) - - (1)
At31 March 2024 RZZ-ME
=R=1-H 9 - 262 353
Changes dus to corporate note receivables recognised 7 =% ~ W& A — BH#R
at1 April 2024 EUCEZRAMTE
~ Impairment allowance reversed -BRERERE 0] - - (4)
~ Impairment allowance recognised -ERTRERE - 1 97 9%
~ Transfer to lfetime ECL -BREELHRDEERE 2) 2 - -
~ Transfer to credit-impaired -EREEERE (85) - 8 -
At 31 March 2025 R-BZLf¥=R=1-H = 3 444 a7
Other receivables and deposits HttEWHRIERT£

For other receivables and deposits, the management makes periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of other receivables and
deposits based on historical settlement records, past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The management believes that there is no
significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition
and the Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4= A

B RS AR MR

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE-—ZT-_HAF=-A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Other receivables and deposits (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group’s other receivables was a

debtor with gross carrying amount of HK$30 million (2024 nil), which
was secured by the unlisted equity shares held by the debtor.

The movement of impairment allowance on other receivables for the year is
as follows:

. EMREFREER (I]8)

B PR R R (E AT G (1))
Hft B BRI B BT & (46)

R-_ZE-_RAFE=A=+—H0 Xx&EEH
tERRIEBEFRBIE—EBHARE H
FHABERNEES T (ZE T :
|) ZREREBAME 2 IE TR E
BRI VERIER ©

REEEAb RSB EREZS M T

HK$'million
BEATT
As at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 and 31 RZEBE_=FITA—AH -
March 2025 —E-_WMF=A=+—8"
“E-_MFEMNA—B R
—_E-_RAF=A=+—H 1

Pledged bank deposits/bank balances

Credit risk on pledged bank deposits/bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned
by international credit agencies. There has been no history of default in
relation to these banks. The Group performs impairment assessment on
the pledged bank deposits/bank balances under 12m ECL model. The
management of the Group considers the risk of default is low based on the
average loss rate by reference to credit ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies. The Group assessed that the ECL for bank balances
were insignificant.

Finance lease receivables

For finance lease receivables, the management makes periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of finance lease receivables based on
historical settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. The management believes that there is no significant increase
in credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m ECL and the ECL was insignificant.

BEMRTER BITRHE

BN 5% F1H 5HBEREEFRKE
AERBEEFRNRT WERAEHE
HRITERROTEHRNEERRES
B o ﬁﬁﬁ@hﬁﬁﬂMLﬁﬁﬁ N
SERBEREARBEEBRELHE
ERIRITERRITARIELIRERTE
REEZBFBREEFLIRBER THNERR
B AEEERBERFHERERA
EARR K - AEBEFERITESRE
BEHEEEBERTEX -

MRERER®REA

R EHEREKENS  BEEEER
BESNTE BELBARSELZE
ENEUHEMURAIRHEZAREE
£ 7€ 518 Bl 5F 4 B & TH & YR IB B AT
e - ERERAR ZELENER
BB HERARY EEZ L7 B
AEBZREARREEBERRE
B MEWEMEERBRYLAEX -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed lines of funding from major lenders to meet its

liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$1,376 million. The Group’s bank balances and cash as at 31 March
2025 amounted to approximately HK$132 million as compared to the
Group’s bank and other borrowings of approximately HK$1,209 million
and corporate notes payables of HK$505 million which are repayable

within the next twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

The directors of the Company are of the view that the Group can manage
the associated liquidity risks taking into account the financial resources
and the Group’s cash flow projections. The Group has developed and
implemented the liquidity plans, as described in note 1(b), to address the

going concern issue.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for
its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates for
other non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment

dates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

36. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent
that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived

from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

36. MR WA EEEE (1))

o B R & W B (4)

TERBENERASRSRE ° HFE
MERFEFE - ARRSBEER R
FHRMEFE -

On demand
and Between Total
less than 1yearto Between Over undiscounted Carrying
1year 2years  2to5years Syears  cash flows amount
£ ')
REXR ReRE
PME  1ERE 2B BilSE 1] FEE
HK$'million ~ HK$'million ~ HK$'million ~ HK$'million  HK$'million  HK§’million
GEET BRET \BEET HEET EEET GEET
As at 31 March 2025 R-EZREF=A=1+-H
Trade payables BARENTE 4 - - - 4 4
Other payables, deposits received and accruals BT FE - EMET & R
excluding contract liabilities EHER TRERNE
f& 157 - - - 157 157
Bank and other borrowings and coresponding  SR1TRE M EE U K
interests TBFER & 1,218 1 4 - 1,229 1,219
Corporate note payables and corresponding BTS2 Z 1 RARER 8
interests 505 - - - 505 505
Lease liabilties HERE 12 9 6 - 2 26
1,896 16 10 - 1,922 1,911
(n demand
and Between Total
less than Tyearto Between Over  undiscounted Carrying
1year 2years 2105 years Syears  cash flows amount
REEHR
REXR Beneg
DPIME AFRE BN BBNE B8 REE
Hkmillon ~~ HKSmilion ~ HKSmillion ~ HK$million ~ HKSmillion ~ HK$million
REAT REAT REAT AEAT BEAT BEARL
As at 31 March 2024 R-E-_ME=A=1+-H
Trade payables BARNTE b - - - 6 6
Other payables, deposits received and accruals BT3B - EMET & R
excluding contract liablities EHER TRERNE
f& 1 - - - 1 1
Bank and other borrowings and corresponding  R17 R E M EE I K
interests TRIER & 1,666 28 10 = 1704 1,660
Corporate note payables and corresponding. ~ TERT X ZE R ARER 8
interests 455 106 - - 561 50
Leass liabilties REERE 11 5 5 - 2 19
2065 1% 15 - 2419 2332
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

36.

37.

200 Aceso Life Science Group Limited

FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. EMREIXEBER(E)
(CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (Continued) BN & R P (1)
Bank and other borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are MR EREERRORITREMEE
included in the “on demand and less than 1 year” time band in the maturity AALRBBEOTAIEERELR
analysis above. As at 31 March 2025, the aggregate carrying amounts of 1FIBBERN RZE-_AF=RA=+—
these bank and other borrowings amounted to HK$1,177 million (2024: B ZESRTEEMEENEERERSE
HK$1,481 million). The details of scheduled repayment are set out in the RINTTEER L (ZEWF 148158
table below: BIT) c STEIENFBHR T X
Maturity analysis — Bank and other borrowings with a repayment on FEES T —BREERGE - WHEEKE
demand clause based on scheduled repayments KEBRERORITREMEE
Between Total
Less than 1yearto Between  undiscounted Carrying
1 year 2years  2tob5years cash flows amount
RELER
BeRE
DE 1FR2FE 2FEFRSF B REE
HK$million ~ HK$'million ~ HK$million  HKEmillion  HK$'million
BEEAT BBAT BEAT BEAT BEAER
31 March 2025 “E"HRF=A=1+—H 1,185 = = 1,185 1,177
31 March 2024 —EZ_mFE=A=+—H 746 175 = 1,521 1,481
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL 37. M T RARAFERE

INSTRUMENTS

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes at the end of each reporting period.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data to the
extent it is available. For instruments with significant unobservable inputs
under Level 3, the Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform
the valuation.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and

financial liabilities at amortised cost recognised in the consolidated
financial statements approximate to their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL 37. EMI AL TFEE (&)
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a) Disclosure of level in fair value hierarchy: (a) DFERBEFHEE -
Description X
Fair value measurements using:
STFEEER:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
As at 31 March 2025 R-E_RAF=A=1+—H B8R 2R SEIR st

HK$’million  HK$'million  HK$'million  HK$’million
BEEET BEEET BHEET BEEET

Assets gE
Recurring fair value gEENTERE
measurements:
Financial assets at FVTPL UATFEFEA RS
SAAEBRZEMEE
— Listed securities — FEHF 42 - - 42
— Unlisted fund investment —FLMESKE - 33 - 33
— Convertible note — WA RRER
receivable - - 5 5
Financial assets at FVTOCI UATFESFEA RS
FFAHMEEKE
— Listed securities — FEHF 38 - - 38
— Private equity —FLERERE
investments - - 335 335

Total recurring fairvalue  EFEHELATFEHHERE

measurements 80 33 340 453
Liahilities =K
Recurring fair value gEENTEGE

measurements:

Financial liabilities at FVTPL AT ETEREEL
FTABBZERAE
— Corporate note payable —ERNTESEE - - 551 551

Total recurring fairvalue  EFHELATFEHMERETE
measurements - - 551 551

e

“TONFE/_RFFR FHREGHEEEAFRLF 201



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE —=

37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL

—EE=RA=1+—RBILEE

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Disclosure of level in fair value hierarchy: (Continued)

Description (Continued)

37. EMI AL FEE ()

LFEFBEREE - (1)

KR (48)

Fair value measurements using:

NEEFEER:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
As at 31 March 2024 BR-E-_mE=A=+—H F1R FoH F3IH BEt
HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million
BEET BEAT BEAT BEBT
Assets BE
Recurring fair value gEENTFERGE
measurements:
Financial assets at FVTPL URAFEFEA RS
FABRZEREE
— Listed securities - mESH 83 - - 83
— Unlisted fund investment —FLMESKE - 33 - 33
— Convertible note — R BREEE
receivable - - 3 3
Financial assets at FVTOCI UATFESFEA RS
FAHRMEEKE
SREE
— Listed securities — FEHF 15 - - 15
— Private equity —FLERERE
investments - - 432 432
Total recurring fairvalue  EFEHELTFEHHEESE
measurements 98 33 435 566
Liabilities =K
Recurring fair value gEEAFERE
measurements:
Financial liabilities at FVTPL AT EFEA RS
FABRZERBE
— Corporate note payable —-ENGERE - - 539 539
Total recurring fairvalue EFEHELTFEHMEHESTE
measurements = = 539 539
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL 37. EMI AL FEEE ()
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based (b) BEREBERATFEIEBZEEH
on level 3: iR :
Financial Financial Financial
assets at assets at liabilities at
FVTOCI FVTPL FVTPL
DAFEHER
HE{ HDATFEHER LDAFEHEAR
AR H@t Het
2EKEZ HARRZ HARSZ
eMEE eHEE eRmAR
HK$’million HK$’million HK$’million
HRET HRET HREET
As at 1 April 2024 R-E_MEMA—H 432 3 (539)
Addition NE 40 - -
Disposal H&E (30) - -
Total gains or losses recognised ERRN G ERESR
—in profit or loss # —-RiBaf - (12)
— in other comprehensive income -REMZEkRE (107) - -
Exchange alignment BE B - - -
As at 31 March 2025 R-E_RE=A=+-—H 335 5 (551)
®  Include gains or losses for assets/ @ BIENREHKREE
liabilities held at end of reporting BE/ABZRE
period - 2 (12)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE T -—RAF=—A=+—HBILFE

37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL 37. EMIALTFEHE ()

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (c) HEXKEMEAZHEEFL
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value ROAFEHEMERZAEERK
measurements: BREA SR -

The following table gives information about how the fair value TRINSEEARAEEREEAR
of the Group’s investments at fair value through profit or loss is FEFTEBHESFABREZEE
determined. NEBEZER
Level 2 fair value measurements E2RM LT ETE
Description Valuation technique Inputs Fair Value
R fRERw WA NEFEE
2025 2024
—Z2AREF —ENF
HK$’million HK$'million
BERET BEET
Financial assets at FVTPL
KA EGFEEHE L
FFABRZeRMEE
— Unlisted fund investment Asset-based approach:  Net assets
determined by the fair
value of underlying
funds 33 33
—FEMESKE BEERE: 28 BEEFE
HEEEHNRFE
BT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL 37. EMIALTFEHE (&)

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (c) HEXKEMEAZHEEFL
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value ROAFEHEMERZAEERK
measurements: (Continued) BREASE - ()

Level 3 fair value measurements EIRATFEHEE
As at 31 March 2025 RZFEZAF=ZHA=4+—H
Unobservahle Sensitivity of fair value
Description Valuation technique inputs Range  Fairvalue tothe input
FUR% NTFEHBABED
i fhER® BARE #E AFE BRE
HK$'million
BR#ET

Financial assets at FVTPL
AAFEHEEEE

SABEEREE
— Gonvertible note receivable  Discounted cash flow: determined by expected cash inflow based  Discount rate The higher the discount
on cashflow projection rate, the lower the fair
value of the convertible
19.56% 5 note receivable
-RRITARTE FRRERE  AERRERBANBERSR HRX BRERR  EhHRE
N3 RELTESE
Financial assets at FVTOCI
WATESEEAR
AR ENEZ
EREE
— Goodwil Asset-based Approach: determined by the fair value of underlying Marketability The higher the marketahility
assets and liabilities adjusted by ECL and their fair values Discount discount rate, the lower the
(as appropriate), based on the latest available financial fair value of the unlisted
statements, with adjustment of minority discount 15.61% 3 equity securities
BEARE : RETEGHRNVBRE K8 RBMAE mEETREEE FL
BEEBRREATEBRBAME)ERLL TRERSLFEME
SURERRRENREEERRENATE
B
Minority Discount The higher the minority

discount rate, the lower the
fair value of the unlisted

21.80% equity securities
DERIENE PBREREEER 5k
ITRFESFLFEBE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE T -—RAF=—A=+—HBILFE

37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements: (Continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025 (Continued)

37. EMI AL FEE ()

(c) BEFREMERZMEERFL
RAFEHHEMBERZGERKE
R@ABE : (8)

SEIMAFEEHE (M)

RoE-—FE=F=4+—H(E)

Unobservable Sensitivity of fair value
Description Valuation technique inputs Range  Fairvalue tothe input
TURE AFEHBARES
i fhER BARE il NFE HRE
HK$ ' million
BRER
- Co-Lead Asset-based Approach: determined by the fair value of underlying - Marketability The higher the marketahility
assets and liabilities adjusted by ECL and their fair values Discount discount rate, the lower the
(as appropriate) based on the latest available financial fair value of the unlisted
statements, with adjustment of minority discount 15.61% 6 equity securities
BEARE  BEVEGNENMKRE L8 REUNE mEtRAERs FL
BEEBBREATEBRERMT)ARLL TRFEHFLFERE
SUREREARNREEERAEN L TE
B
Minority Discount The higher the minority
discount rate, the lower the
fair value of the unlisted
21.80% equity securities
DERIENE DPYRERAEERE 5k
IHRFESFLTFEBE
— Quan YuTai Market-based Approach: determingd by reference toaverage  Price to book The higher the price to book
multiples of companies' value in a similar industry with ratio, the higher the fair
similar operating characteristics value of the unlisted equity
0.76 60 securities
-2#% it 2RAGRNEERENENTERT T THRERR  FLTRF
WTHBEREEE BHLOTEER
Marketability The higher the marketability
Discount discount rate, the lower the
fair value of the unlisted
15.60% equity securities
AL mANTRESE FL
TRFESLFEEE
— China Pearl Asset-based approach: determined by the fair value of underlying - Minority discount The higher the minority
assets and liabilities adjusted by ECL and their fair values discount rate, the lower the
(as appropriate) based on the [atest available financial fair value of the unlisted
statements, with adjustment of minority discount 20.00% 255 equity securities
—RAA% BEEWL  REVEGNSHMERA &8 JERENS PHREAEEER
BEEBBREATEBRERMT)HELE IHRFERFLTFERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL 37. @SR TALATFENE (8)

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (c) HBFEEMERZGEEFL
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value BAFHEHERERACZHAERT
measurements: (Continued) B ABIE : ()

Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued) FEIRNTFEEE (8)
As at 31 March 2025 (Continued) R-E-—FFE=ZA=+—H(#)
Unobservahle Sensitivity of fair value
Description Valuation technique inputs Range  Fairvalue tothe input
FUER LFEHRABEN
iR fhEH BABE #E NFE BRE
HKS'million
BEET
Price to NAV ratio The higher the price to NAV

ratio, the higher the fair
value of the unlisted equity

1.06 securities
REFEL REAEERELEE
B ELTRFBELE
Bl
— Imagi Jue Ming Asset-based approach: determined by the fair value of underlying  N/A N/A 1 NA
assets and liabilities adjusted by ECL and their fair values (as
appropriate) based on the latest available financial statements
EERH BE%: REEGNENIKRE LHAE TEA TER FER
EERREATEBEBRME)EENERE
ERBENATEREE
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
WATEEREAE L
ARG ERARE
— Corporate note payable Discounted cash flow: determined by reference to the Discount rate
consideration as stipulated in the equity transfer agreement, The higher the discount
the projected profit together with expected dividend paid- rate, the lower the fair
0ut by the investee and the probability assigned to different 13.711%- value of the corporate note
Seenarios 13.94% 551 payahle
-EREEER BRGNS 2RRESZHANTHHE . MRX
PARBER A H R 8RB MRS SR A RREEE BHLRR
Rm A ERE BATEGE
Return on net The higher the return on net
assets ratio assets ratio, the higher the
(note) 8.08%- fair value of the corporate
35.56% note payahle
FEEREX BREOGEER B
(k) PRRELFEES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE T -—RAF=—A=+—HBILFE

37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)

208 Aceso Life Science Group Limited

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements: (Continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)

37.

&I RLFEE ()

HEFREFRERAZMHEEERFL
RAFEHHEMBERZGERKE
R@ABE : (8)

(c)

SEIMAFEEHE (M)

As at 31 March 2024 RZFZHFEF=H=4+—H
Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range Fairvalue  Sensitivity of fair value to the input
ABR RYEHBARED
R fhER BANE il NTE §EE
HK$ million
BEAT
Financial assets at FVTPL
WATEHEAEZ
STABREREE
— Gonvertible note receivable  Discounted cash flow: determined by expected  Discount rate 26.00% 3 Thehigher the discount rate, the lower
cash inflow based on cashilow projection the fair valug of the convertible note
receivable
-RRITAREE BRAERE  AERREREN HRX BREHER  ERTAZRED
HESRERARE TEBE
Financial assets at FVTOCI
WATEGEREE L
AR EREZ
EREE
~ Goodwil Asset-based Approach: determined by the fair  Marketability The higher the marketability discount
value of underlying assets and liabilities Discount rate, the lower the fair value of the
adjusted by ECL and their fair values (as unlisted equity securities
appropriate), based on the latest available
financial statements, with adjustment of
minority discount 15.70% 3
BEARE  REVEGNENST RBEUNNE MBLTEXES JELHR
BRk SEHEEERRAR AEFDTEBE
TEREAME)HAELE LK
REfrERENRBEERRE
WATERTE
Minority Discount The higher the minority discount rate,
the lower the fair value of the unlisted
30.00% equity securities
SERIEN R PUREREXES  FLm
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL 37. @RMTELATFEHE (8)

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group (c) HBFEEMERZGEEFL
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value RAFEHEREBERZGEREH
measurements: (Continued) BREASE : (48)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued) FEIBAFEEE ()
As at 31 March 2024 (Continued) RoF—pmeE=H=+—H (&)
Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range Fairvalug  Sensitivity of fair value to the input
FIER RTEHEABEN
W b BRI BARE HE LPTE  HRE
HK$ million
BEAT
- Co-Lead Asset-based Approach: determined by the fair ~ Marketability The higher the marketability discount
value of underlying assets and liabilities Discount rate, the lower the fair value of the
adjusted by ECL and their fair values (as unlisted equity securities

appropriate), based on the latest available
financial statements, with adjustment of

minority discount 15.70% 13
AEERE : RETEGNRNY RBME MBETEXES JELTR
Bk SEHEEERREAR AEFDTEBE

FERRRME)HELEDH
RENRAENEREERAR

HATERTE
Minority Discount The higher the minority discount rate,
the lower the fair value of the unlisted
30.65% equity securities
SERIEN R SURENEZMS kLD
RAZS AT EBE
— Quan YuTai Market-based Approach: determined Price to book The higher the price to book ratio, the
by reference to average multiples of higher the fair value of the unlisted
companies’ value in a similar industry with equity securities
similar operating characteristics 0.81 10
-8R % 2RAGRNEEREN WK MREMS - F LTRAZS
BOTERANTHRERHRE NTEER
E
Marketability The higher the marketability discount
Discount rate, the lower the fair value of the
15.70% unlisted equity securities
R MREMTERES  FLTR

ARFLFEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE T -—RAF=—A=+—HBILFE

37. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group

and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements: (Continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024 (Continued)

37.

&I RLFEE ()

(c)

HEFREFRERAZMHEEERFL

RAFEHHEMBERZGERKE
R@ABE : (8)

SEIMAFEEHE (M)

RoFE-—mE=F=4+—H (&)

Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range Fairvalue  Sensitivity of fair value to the input
TAER R EHBAEN
iR fhER BAHE LifH] NYHE HER
HKSmillion
AEAT
- Tonsin Asset-hased Approach; determined by the fair  Minority discount The higher the minority discount rate,
value of underlying assets and liabilities the lower the fair value of the unlisted
adjusted by ECL and their fair values (as equity securities
appropriate), based on the latest available
financial statements, with adjustment of
minority discount 16.81% 36
b BEEWL  RENERNSNE JERERE SERENERES LD
BR%k SEHAEEEERAA RAZEHF LT EHE
TEBREANE)BELE D
RENERENRBEAERER
WATERTE
— China Pearl Asset-hased Approach; determined by the fair  Minority discount The higher the minority discount rate,
value of underlying assets and liabilities the lower the fair valug of the unlisted
adjusted by ECL and their fair values (as equity securities
appropriate), based on the latest available
financial statements, with adjustment of
minority discount 19.00% 301
-RAB% BEEWL  RENEGNSNY JSURENE SERETEXES LD
Bi% CRBEEFERAA RAZSATEBE
TEBRBAMNE)RELE D
REhERENRBEERAE
WATERTE
Price to NAV ratio The higher the price to NAV ratio, the
higher the fair value of the unlisted
091 equity securities
REFEL BRESEFELXER #
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

37.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements: (Continued)

Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024 (Continued)

37.

(c)

&I RAFEEE ()

HEFREFRERAZMHEEERFL
RAFEHEMBERZGERKE

REBABE - (&)

SEIMAFEEHE (M)

R-IFE-_mE=F=+—H(#)

Description Valuation technique Unobservable inputs Range Fairvalug  Sensitivity of fair value to the input
ABR RTEEBAREN
WA (B R BARR §iE LPTE  HRE
HK$ million
BEAT
— Empire Victory Asset-based Approach: determined by the fair -~ Minority discount The higher the minority discount rate,
value of underlying assets and liabilities the lower the fair value of the unlisted
adjusted by ECL and their fair values (as equity securities
appropriate), based on the latest available
financial statements, with adjustment of
minority discount 17.15% 9
— EEERE  RETEGNRNY JURERE SYURENELMS kLD
Bk SEHEEERREA RAZS AT EBE
FEEERDE)BRLE LK
REfrERENABEERAE
WATERTE
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
WATEGEARS
TARRZERARE
— Gorporate note payable Discounted cash flow determingd by reference  Discount rate The higher the discount rate, the lower
o the consideration as stipulated in the the fair value of the corporate note
equity transfer agreement, the projected nayable
profit together with expected dividend
paid-out by the investee and the probability 14.38% -
assigned to different scenarios 15.06% 539
-EREEER BRGNS 2RRESSHE HRE RS EACEREL
NENHE  BREHREHX TEBE
NOFEMREARTRGRE
BxE
Return on net assets The higher the return on net assets ratio,
ratio (note) 10.09%- the higher the fair value of the corporate
33.96% note payable
REEMRE FEERRRES ENLE
(i) ZEATEER

Note: The return on net assets ratio are affected and determined
by different scenarios in forecast with different probability

assigned.

ik +SF A A O R R R TR R R A
MEERORTE - HRAOBETR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE T -—RAF=—A=+—HBILFE

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. MBKAXH
Key management compensation FTEEEBEARTH
2025 2024
—ZT_hF —TMF
HK$’million HK$'million

BEEET BEET

Short-term employee benefits HHAE B & A 20 19
Share-based payment LARZ A 72 = A 3K = -
20 19
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the BRérE BB EMIB O FTIHREEIN -
Group had no material transactions with related parties during the years HE-_Z_AGEKRZZ-_NMF=A
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 =t+t—HBIEFE AEEWEEKHH
ARG
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 39. FERERERME
CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities MEETDELEARCED
The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities arising from TREINFARXEERETBEEZE
financing activities during the year: EEE) :

Amount due to Financial ~ Total liabilties
adirectorof  Bank and other Corporate Lease Inferest liabiliies ~from financing
subsidiaries ~ borrowings  note payables liabilities payables atFUTPL activities

Eft-4% HATEHE
KELT g1k BRELHA  REEDC

EERN RS BRLXEE HERf Eftfle RRCRMAR  AREE
HkSmillon Hk§milion Hk$million HiS million Hk§milion Hk$milion HiS million
BEETL BEET BEETL BEET BEET BEET BEETL

Asat 1 April 2023 R-E-ZEMA-A = 17483 o il Y 578 2,960
Changes ncash lows Reings 1 (%) () (16) (19) - (39)
Hon-cash changes %Y

~Finanes coss -BERK - - - 1 10 - 1
 Addions and mofficaon ofease -HEREIHE - - - 5 - - 5
- Brenge ifrence -ERES - i - - 2 - 1
Fair value adjustment ATERE - - - - - (3) (3)

As at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-E-ME=RA=t-RE-%

“RERA-A 1 1660 50 19 U 59 2163
Changes in cash lows RenEEY - (457) (19 (1) ®) - (519)
Hon-cash changes ekl
- Finance osts ~BENA - - - 1 1 - 1
- htons of et -HERE - - - 2 - - 20
- Brange ifrence -ERER - 1 - - - - 16
Fair valus adjustment AVERE - - - - - 1 1
Asat 31 Marh 205 N-R-TEZA=1-A w 1219 55 i 6 il i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

40. PARTIAL DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES WITHOUT 40. HERSHB AT MEKRKE
LOSING CONTROL il 12

Hao Tian International Construction Investment Group RXEEESBREEEFTRELAF(R
Limited (“HTICI”) XERERKRSE])
On 27 July 2023, Hao Tian Management (China) Limited, an indirect R-ZE-_=F+A=-++tH AQAFH
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, as the seller, has signed E2ENBRARRREXEE (FE) A
an agreement with Yitai Share (Hongkong) Co., Ltd. (a wholly owned RBAREAEFEFR (BH) TEAR
subsidiary of Inner Mongolia Yitai Coal Co., Ltd.*) as the purchaser BAF (REEFRERKDER QG
to dispose of 1,400,088,000 shares (being 18.37% of the total issued MNEEMBARDIEREREEHE
share capital) of HTICI (an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of M008B THRELHEERBK R
the Company) at the consideration of HK$420 million. The disposal BIE (RARRIzEEIFEZEMB AR
constituted a major transaction under the Listing Rules and was completed 1,400,088,0008% A% 7 (15 2 BT R A &Y
on 17 October 2023. 18.37%) - s HERBE EMBAANEBEXE
AXGYR-_ZE-_=F+HA+tB=K-
After the disposal, the Group’s shareholding in HTICI decreased from REE%  AEBRERBBERIEE
47.4% t0 29.02% equity interest of HTICI. HTICI Group remains B HE 25 FR47.4%8 £29.02% © = RKEIBR 2
subsidiaries of the Group. The effect of change in the ownership interests BREEEBNALREBENWB AR - &
of HTICI on the equity attributable to owners of the Company during the E_E_NF=ZA=+—"HLEFE =2
year ended 31 March 2024 are summarized as follows: AERERREMBERREHH AR
AEBABRLERNTEBENT -
HK$'million
BEBT
Consideration received WERBERE 420
Increase in non-controlling interest FE 1 AR 2 4 A1 (301)
Movement in equity 2 E 119
Other than disclosed above, the Group had not made any material BRAEREBEN RAFEAKELES
acquisition, disposal of subsidiaries and associates during the year. AUhE - HEMBREE QA -

* For identification purposes only Y OEHBEZ A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

g S E YRR
Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE
41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND M. FOTFIMBRAREER 6 iGS
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY )]
(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (@) HELFHRBRAEER
2025 2024
k- - Sl - —EF
HK$’million HK$'million
HEET BBBT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Pledged bank deposit EHEFIRITER 7 15
7 15
Current assets mENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries N = NEIE 3,378 3,515
Financial assets at FVTPL IAAFEEFERBEZ LA
EaemEE 5 5
Corporate note receivable JEM P ERE - 89
3,383 3,609
Total assets HEE®E 3,390 3,624
Current liabilities nEBAaR
Other payables and accruals HENRIBREFER 72 37
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 345 481
Corporate note payables ERTEFEE 505 420
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETBT B A Bk E 1,798 1,731
2,720 2,669
Net current assets mEEERE 663 940
Total assets less current liabilities EE#ERTDAR 670 955

ZECNF/I“RFEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE T -—RAF=—A=+—HBILFE

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND N FAFMEBERAIERR GRS
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) B (#8)
(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (@) FLFMBRAEE(E)

(Continued)

2025 2024
—E_Rf —ENF
HK$’million HK$'million
BEE#ET BEBT
Non-current liabilities ERBAE
Corporate note payables ERTEEE - 100
- 100
NET ASSETS BERE 670 855
Capital and reserves BE R 6 iE
Share capital & s 73 73
Reserves i 597 782
TOTAL EQUITY #HaME 670 855

RABFBRRBERR —F_RF
NAZTEREESFSHE -

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved
by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND M. BEABRMBHIR NIRRT R G isE
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) B (48)
(b) Reserves of the Company (b) 47 GiEEE
Share-hased
Share payment Accumulated
premium reserve Other reserve losses Total
Wi RS
B aR X fe H e L4 ] @5t
HK$'million HK$million HK$million HKS million HK$ million

BEAT BERT BERT BEAT BEAT

fdthpis  RZE-=FRACR oo oo ook 184
Loss and total comprehensive expenses EREIE R 2 H 5 2
ey g R N R Ll R )
Asat 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R=E-ME=R

=+-Bk

“F-NEMA-A 4,811 30 40 (4,108) 162
Loss and total comprehensive expenses FREER 2 EH % 2

forthe year % - - - (185) (189)

As at 31 March 2025 RZE-1F

=A=t1-H 4,811 39 40 (4,293) 597
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

42. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Particulars of the principal subsidiaries

Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 are as

2 REBATRZER
(a) EEMELFFR

RZE-_RAFR-_ZTE_WNFE=HA

follows: =+—BZHBRRFEHET :
Issued and
Place of fully paid
Name of the incorporation/ up share capital/  Equity interest attributable
subsidiary establishment registered capital ownership interest  Principal activity
3040 ERITRARR
ERER R 3L 3t B /BEMEF MAERESEERE IEXH
2025 2024
—ECRE —TopmE
Aceso-Promethera Asia Company Hong Kong HK$1,000 60% 100%  Investment holding
Limited (“Aceso-Promethera’)
0 1,000 7T REERK
Alcott Global Limited (*Alcott’) BVI US$100 24.69% 24.67% Investment holding
EBRAES  W00ET REEK
Beijing Hao Tian Investment Fund PRC US$370,000 24% 100% Investment holding
Management Co., Limited
LIREAFEELEEER FH 370,000% T REEZR
NS
Big Wish Developments Limited (‘Big ~ BVI US$100 29.05% 29.02%  Investment holding
Wish”)
EBRLES  W00ET REERK
Chim Kee Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 21.76% 29.02% Construction machinery rental and trading
and sales of construction materials
business
SR ARAT] 0 1,000,0007% 7T BERMEEREENR
BEMBHERS
Chim Kee Machinery Co., Limited Hong Kong HK$1 21.76% 29.02% Construction machinery rental and trading
and sales of construction materials
business
SR EMAER AR 0 AT BERMEERHEENREE
MHHERL
Dasar Prisma Sdn. Bhd.(“Dasar”’) Malaysia Malaysian Ringgit 2 29.05% 29.02% Property development
SRER 2ERAERLE MEER
Esteem Ocean Limited BVI US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
mAERRAT] EBRAEE 1ET REEK
Fujian Nuogi Co., Ltd PRC RMB122,158,800 59.93% 60% Retailing of men’s and women's apparels
BEHETRNERAA FE AR #122,158,8007T BRRUKTE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

42. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 2. RMBELTIZEE ()
(a) Particulars of the principal subsidiaries (Continued) (a) EEMMBATFHE(E)
Issued and
Place of fully paid
Name of the incorporation/ up share capital/  Equity interest attributable
subsidiary establishment registered capital ownership interest  Principal activity
B ERTRERE
EReR BRI Eh x/gMEs FERESEGRE IEXHB
2025 2024
—ECRE —ToQME
Glory Gentury Limited Hong Kong HK$100 29.05% 29.02%  Investment holding and provision of
group management and administration
Services
EAERATF ER 1007 7T REEBRARRESEERR
TB RS
Hao Tian Finance Company Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1,210,000,000 100% 100% Money lending
ERUBERAT e 1,210,000,0007 7T WE
Hao Tian Hua Tong (Beijing) Co., PRC RMB5,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited
RRERGR)EHERLE FE AR #5,000,0007C REZR
Hao Tian International Hong Kong HK$310,000,000 29.05% 29.02% Securities brokerage business
Securities Limited
EREBESBRAR e 310,000,000/ 7T BHRILES
Hao Tian Management (Hong Kong) ~ Hong Kong HK$10,821 100% 100% Securities investment, investment holding
Limited ("HTM") and provision of management services
ERER(BB)ERAR(TZ &8 10821% T BHERE  REBRREHEER
XER]) %
Hong Kong Energy & Mining Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Trading of futures
Investment Management Limited
ERRRBERREAER e BT HEBE
ARAA
HTICI Cayman Islands HK$75,593,561 29.05% 29.02%  Investment holding
ERERERRE FERS 75,593 56178 7T REER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

42. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

2. FBLTRZER (1)

(a) Particulars of the principal subsidiaries (Continued) (a) EEMMB LTS (E)
Issued and
Place of fully paid

Name of the incorporation/ up share capital/  Equity interest attributable

subsidiary establishment registered capital ownership interest  Principal activity

gL ERTRARK

KR R 3L 3 B */EMEF MERESEERE IERH

2025 2024
“ECRE —TopE
K B Machinery Co. Limited Hong Kong HK$1 29.05% 29.02% Construction machinery rental and trading
and sales of construction materials
business

B EHMAR A 0 DY BRERMAEE RIHE N R

MRHE X
Merrymaking Investment Limited BVI US$10,000 100% 100% Investment holding
EERLES  10000%T REER

Pleasing Results Limited BVI US$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
EBRLES  10000%7T REER

Win Team Investments Limited BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
RBRAES 1ERL REER

55 Mark Lane Sar.l. Luxembourg Euro20,000 100% 100% Rental business
ERE 20,0008 7T MEES

Notes: B EE -

(1) The English names of certain subsidiaries represent the best 1) BERETHBARLEERNKEX
effort by the Group’s management to translate their Chinese 2 WEZEWNBARZE XA
names, as these subsidiaries do not have official English MO AEBETEREIR HEEHEH
names. 32T o

(2)  All the above PRC-incorporated subsidiaries are limited liability () FrA Lt B WA M E A
companies. HEBREMERT -

(3)  The above list contains the particulars of subsidiaries which (3) LERHFINGEAREFEZEL BEN
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. BEBKTEZEMNB AT

1& °

220 Aceso Life Science Group Limited

Annual Report 2024/25



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

42. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Material non-wholly owned subsidiaries (b)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have
non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The
summarised financial information represents amounts before inter-
company eliminations.

(i) Chim Kee Company Limited

2. PHBLTRZER ()

EXF2EMEBLF

TREIAEENBAREEEX
iRt ([PFERER]) WE
£t o B E R E R AR 1E 2 B A
HIHAT 2 258

() SHEARLF

2025 2024
—E_RF —TNEF
HK$’million HK$'million
BHEET BEABT
Assets and liabilities asat 31 March W=A=+—HZEEKEAE&E
Current assets MBEE n 77
Non-current assets EMEBEE 105 125
Current liabilities kA=K (145) (16)
Non-current liabilities EREAE (23) (39)
8 147
Profit or loss for the year ended BHE=ZA=+—HIFEER
31 March
Revenue WA 15 33
Profit and total comprehensive FNRHNREEWR SRR
income for the year 16 1
Profit allocated to DRI R 2w A
non-controlling interests 13 1
Dividend paid to non-controlling ST IR ERD R E
interests - -
Cash flows for the year ended BEZA=+—HIFEZR%
31 March meE
Net cash inflow from operating KEEBESMAFE
activities 4 22
Net cash outflow from investing REESE S MHFE
activities (3) (33)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from BMEEERE (RE)TA
financing activities FEE (15) 16
(14) 5
Accumulated non-controlling interests 2 5t FE 5 A% 4 25 6 104
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRHE
Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE T -—RAF=—A=+—HBILFE
42. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 2. RMBATIZES (1)
(b) Material non-wholly owned subsidiaries (Continued) (b) EXEZEMELT ()
(i)  Glory Century Limited (i) RAFRALF
2025 2024
—_E_RF ZEZNF
HK$’million HK$'million
BHEET BEBIT
Assets and liabilities as at31 March R=A=+—HZEENAE
Current assets MEEE 129 164
Non-current assets EMBEE 61 35
Current liabilities kA=K (261) (275)
Non-current liabilities ERBAR (7) -
(78) (76)
Profit or loss forthe yearended 31 & Z=Z=A=+—HIEFE2Ex
March
Revenue WA - -
Loss for the year FRERE = ©)
Other comprehensive income FREMEERBA (FAX)
(expenses) for the year 4 (7
Total comprehensive income FAZEWBA (X)) L%
(expenses) for the year 4 (16)
Loss allocated to non-controlling DREEFFERERZ
interests 518 = (6)
Dividend paid to non-controlling TR FIEERER ZKRE
interests - -
Cash flows for the year ended BEZA=+—BIFEZR:
31 March mE
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from KEFEHRESRACRE)
operating activities SRR 21 (1)
Net cash outflow from financing BEESR R LFRE
activities (21) =
- (1)
Accumulated non-controlling interests 2 5t FE 252 A% 4% 25 (55) (54)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

42. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 2. PHEBATIZEE (i)
(b) Material non-wholly owned subsidiaries (Continued) (b) EXHZBEMEBLF ()
(iii) HTICI (i) REXBBRBRE
2025 2024
—E"h¥F —E-OF
HK$’million HK$'million
BEEET BEETT
Assets and liabilities asat 31 March M=A=+—HZzEENEE
Current assets mENVEE 860 1573
Non-current assets ERBEE 52 52
Current liabilities REARE (177) (399)
735 1,226

Profit or loss for the year ended BHE=ZA=+—BHIEFEER

31 March
Revenue KA - 7
Loss for the year FANEE (491) (599)
Total comprehensive expenses for  4F A2 T i 2 A2 %8
the year (491) (599)
Loss allocated to non-controlling DEEIEIERELR 2 B8
interests (348) (425)
Dividend paid to non-controlling YA FIEERERD RS
interests - =
Cash flows for the year ended BEZA=+—HIFEZR%
31 March meE
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from KEFEHIMESRACRE)
operating activities FEE 64 (105)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from BEFHRESRACRE)
investing activities SFER 9 (18)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from MEFHES (KL, HA
financing activities peikc] (91) 138
(18) 15
Accumulated non-controlling interests 2 5t FE#5 A% 4 25 521 870
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE T -—RAF=—A=+—HBILFE

42. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Material non-wholly owned subsidiaries (Continued)

(iv) Alcott Global Limited

42.

RBATZES (W)
(b) EXEZHMELT ()

(iv) Alcott Global Limited

2025 2024
—_E_RF —ENF
HK$’million HK$'million
BHEET BEBIT
Assets and liabilities asat 31 March W=A=+—HZEENIEE&E
Non-current assets EMBEE 701 798
Profit or loss for the year ended BHEZA=+—BHILFEZEHE
31 March
Revenue WA = =
Loss for the year FAEIE (93) (329)
Other comprehensive expenses AEZEHEMEEMAS
for the year (4) (4)
Total comprehensive expenses AFEETHERALRE
for the year (97) (329)
Loss allocated to non-controlling DEREFZERER 2 EE
interests (73) (245)
Dividend paid to non-controlling AT I ERERE RS
interests = =
Accumulated non-controlling interests 2 5t JE3% A& kE 25 528 566

No cash inflow and outflow during the years ended 31

March 2025 and 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

42. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 2. RMBATIZES (i)
(b) Material non-wholly owned subsidiaries (Continued) (b) EXHZBEMEBLF ()
(v) Chim Kee Machinery Co. Limited (v HEBEARLTE
2025 2024
—E_RF —ETNEF
HK$’million HK$'million
BHEET BEABT
Assets and liabilities asat 31 March W=A=+—HZEZEIEAE&E
Current assets MBEE 55 49
Non-current assets EMEBEE 9 9
Current liabilities kA=K (48) (22)
Non-current liabilities EREAE (3) (3)
13 33
Profit or loss for the year ended BHE=ZA=+—HIFEER
31 March
Revenue WA 114 141
Profit and total comprehensive FRNRHNREEWR SRR
income for the year 12 9
Profit allocated to DRI E R 2 5w A
non-controlling interests 9 6
Dividend paid to non-controlling TR FIEERER ZKRE
interests - =
Cash flows for the year ended BEZA=+—HIFEZR%
31 March meE
Net cash inflow from operating KEEBESMAFE
activities 34 12
Net cash outflow from investing REESESMHFE
activities - (1)
Net cash outflow from financing BMEFEHR AL
activities SFER (40) (10)
(6) 1
Accumulated non-controlling interests 2 5t FE#5 A% 4 25 10 24
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M RRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HRFE=-A=+—HILFE

43. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

226 Aceso Life Science Group Limited

On 15 April 2025, the Group received a letter of reservation of
rights and a demand letter from the agents of lenders regarding to
the respective outstanding UK loan amounts, which the aggregate
outstanding principal amount was approximately GBP79 million
(equivalent to HK$800 million) as at 31 March 2025. Details of
which set out in the Company’s announcement dated 16 April
2025. Up to the date of this announcement, the amount remains
outstanding.

On 17 April 2025, the Group received a demand letter from the
Bank, claiming that, as at 31 March 2025, the Company was
indebted to the Bank a sum of approximately HK$352 million
and the Company was demanded to pay the indebtedness in full.
Details of which set out in the Company’s announcement dated 27
April 2025 up to the date of this announcement, the amount remain
outstanding.

On 3 October 2024, Hao Tian International Securities Limited,
an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and
HTICI entered into a placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”),
pursuant to which HTICI has conditionally agreed to place an
aggregate of up to 1,524,224,000 placing shares (the “Placing
Shares”) at the placing price of HK$0.4 per Placing Share (the
“Placing Price”) to not less than six placees who and whose
ultimate beneficial owners are third parties independent of HTICI
and its connected persons.

The Placing Agreement was approved by the shareholders of HTICI
during the extraordinary general meeting of HTICI held on 18
March 2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M HRRMEE

Forthe year ended 31 March 2025 HE T -_HAFE=-A=+—HILFE

43. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(Continued)

Completion has taken place on 12 May 2025, and 125,000,000
Placing Shares in aggregate have been allotted and issued by
HTICI to the placees at the Placing Price. The gross proceeds
from the Placing was HK$50 million and the net proceeds from
the Placing (after deduction of other expenses of the Placing) was
approximately HK$49.25 million.

Immediately upon completion, the Group’s shareholding in HTICI
decreased from 29.05% to 28.58%.

Taking into account, inter alia, the Group’s absolute size of
shareholdings in HTICI, the relative size, dispersion and intention
of attending upcoming general meetings of other shareholders
of HTICI, HTICI has ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company.
Accordingly, the results and financial position of HTICI will not
be consolidated in the consolidated financial statements of the
Company, but will be accounted for as a separate ling item as
interest in an associate using the equity method in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

For details of the Placing, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 25 October 2025 and 12 May 2025 and the circular
of the Company dated 25 February 2025.

43. HEMEERE ()

()

(&)

EXRBEFRERREEN-_ZFT_RF
FAT-BEXREESEE Eb R
REBRERRE SRR SE R AR
ABC 8 Ko 317 & #£125,000,0008% e &
B in o BL & FIB P15 5RIE 42 58 /350
BEETL MEEFEMSEHAF
BN EEFHEHEMAS) M
RA92BBEBTT °

ERETKE  AEEREXER
R E 2 F5 AL ] B129.05% & =
28.58%

RERB (AR EE) AKEMFEX
BERERREBRMDOBERE - H
AR R AT R RBRER R E RN
RARET AR IR - 0 BUAR B M B A
BIWERAREER  2RERE
BRIRETBRARANMBEAR -
Wit EREFRRRRENMBEE
i MBI AOR KT B AR A AR
BHMBHRRALE AR EBRER
BHMBHRRRAE B EREEE—
THERREERBINERAR -

ERREREFE  F2HARQF
BfiE T -_AF+A-_+HHEHK
—E_RAFRATZBZAERRK
ARIBA-T_AF=-_A=+H
H 2K o
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MEEE

RESULTS xR
Year ended 31 March
BE-B=+—-HLEE
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
% ZZZZf ZT-=F ZT-mFE ZBZRE
HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$’million
BEBTL BEBTL BEBTT BEAT HREET
Revenue WA 346 315 312 228 195
Profit/(loss) for the year T AL EEFEAR
attributable to: I,/ (&#8) :
— owners of the Company . YNGIE 2PN (376) (370) (264) (462) (895)
— non-controlling interests — RS 28 (226) 56 (347) (122)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF,/(BB) (348) (596) (208) (809) (1,017)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR
As at 31 March
R=B=+-H
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
—E-F —E-F —E-=F —E-NE —E_RE
HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$'million HK$’million
BEATL BEAETL BEAETL BEAETL BEET
Total assets EERE 6,165 6,263 6,301 4786 3,243
Total liabilities aBEER (3,151) (3,436) (3,726) (2.973) (2,499)
3,014 2827 2575 1,813 144
Equity attributable to owners of the 223 &1 5 A FE (B A 25
Company 2,382 2,002 1,549 921 12
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